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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities
Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. Such statements are based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Any
statements contained herein that are not statements of historical facts may be deemed to be forward-looking statements. For example, words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “estimates,” “predicts,”
“potential,” “continue,” “strategy,” “believes,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “expects,” “intends” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. You should not rely on
forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. Our actual results and the timing of certain events may differ significantly from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements.
Factors that might cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed elsewhere in this report, particularly in Part I, Item 1A titled “Risk Factors,” and the risks
discussed in our other Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, filings. We undertake no obligation to update the forward-looking statements after the date of this report, except as required by
law.

PART I

Item 1. Business

General

We are a provider of high-performance, active lidar systems for vehicle autonomy, advanced driver-assistance systems, or ADAS, and robotic vision applications. We have developed an
artificial intelligence technology that enables adaptive “intelligent sensing,” differentiating us in the marketplace from our competition. Our proprietary software-definable 4Sight  Intelligent
Sensing Platform combines solid-state active lidar, an optionally fused low-light HD camera, and integrated deterministic artificial intelligence to capture more intelligent information with less data,
enabling faster, more accurate, and more reliable perception of the surroundings.

We were founded in 2013 by Luis Dussan, a member of our Board of Directors and our first Chief Executive Officer, with the goal of creating a deterministic AI-driven sensing system that
performs better than the human eye and visual cortex. Mr. Dussan's experience developing mission-critical targeting systems for fighter jets and ground troops on behalf of the U.S. military provided
us with the background to develop a differentiated approach to visual sensing. While traditional sensing systems passively collect data, our active 4Sight  Intelligent Sensing Platform leverages
principles from automated targeting systems and biomimicry to scan the environment, while intelligently focusing on what matters in order to enable safer, smarter, and faster decisions in complex
scenarios. From our inception, our culture drew from esteemed scientists and electro-optics engineers from the National Aeronautics and Space Administration, or NASA, Lockheed Martin
Corporation, Northrop Grumman Corporation, the U.S. Air Force, and the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency, or DARPA, to create the highest performing sensing and perception system
for the most challenging situations, ensuring the highest levels of safety for autonomous driving.

As a result, our adaptive lidar is designed to enable higher levels of autonomy and functionality — SAE Levels 2 through 5 — with the goal of optimizing performance, power, and reducing
cost. Our 4Sight Intelligent Sensing Platform is software-definable and network-optimized, and leverages deterministic artificial intelligence at the edge. We have made substantial investments in our
R&D processes and deliver value to our customers through our manufacturing partners. We perform the majority of our R&D activities in our 56,549 square foot corporate headquarters in Dublin,
California. Our modular design facilitates product hardware updates as technologies evolve, and its small size and modest heat dissipation enable very flexible placement options on the interior or
exterior of a vehicle. 4Sight also leverages a common architecture to create application-specific products across different markets.

Our systems-based approach encourages partnerships from the well-established automotive supply chain, including original equipment manufacturers, or OEMs, as well as Tier 1 and Tier 2
OEM suppliers. There is strong alignment between us and our partners given what is required to produce high-performance automotive grade products at scale, including quality, reliability, and
affordability. Our Tier 1 partners will add value with OEM customers through industrialization, manufacturing, integration, sales, marketing, product liability, and warranty. Our Tier 2 partners will
provide automotive-grade sub-components, which are used not only in automotive lidar for ADAS use cases, but could also be used for products we may sell into the Industrial market. We expect the
result

TM
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will be a high-quality, high-performance product at the right price point, which we believe to be a key enabler in accelerating adoption of lidar across various markets in Automotive and beyond.

In pursuing this strategy, we have partnered, and will continue seeking partnerships, with leading Tier 1 automotive suppliers. It is anticipated that our Tier 1 partners will bid for long range
lidar series production awards with OEMs and that these awards will represent a substantial portion of our future revenues, however, there is no guarantee that this Tier 1 partnership strategy will be
successful. For example, in late 2023, Continental informed us that they intended to discontinue our joint lidar development program due to corporatewide restructuring and expense reduction efforts.
If we fail to find a replacement Tier 1 automotive supplier, it will have a material and adverse effect on our business, which is predicated on licensing our lidar designs and other intellectual property
to our Tier 1 partners. The main markets for lidar, primarily Automotive and Industrial, are projected to see significant growth in both the near and long term. We believe this expected growth will
allow us to capture market share as well as pursue specialized opportunities like highway autonomous driving applications that benefit from our products. We expect that lidar will be a required
sensing solution across many end markets, and we intend to be one of the leading solutions provider in these spaces.

As is common in early-stage companies with limited operating histories, we are subject to risks and uncertainties such as our ability to develop and commercialize our products; produce and
deliver lidar and software products meeting acceptable performance metrics; attract new and retain existing customers; develop, obtain, or progress strategic partnerships; secure an automotive OEM
design win; secure additional capital to support the business plan; and other risks and uncertainties such as those described in Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K. Since inception, we have incurred net
losses and negative cash flows from operations and expect to continue incurring losses in the near-term. We plan to improve our liquidity position through securing additional financing and finding a
replacement Tier 1 partner. Should we not be able to achieve these goals, we have a plan to further reduce operating expenses and cash outlays. The Company believes that these plans are probable of
being successfully implemented, which will result in adequate cash flows to support our ongoing operations for at least one year following the date these financial statements are issued.

Reverse Stock Split

On December 27, 2023, we effected a 1-for-30 reverse stock split of its issued and outstanding shares of common stock (the "Reverse Stock Split"). Pursuant to the Reverse Stock Split,
every thirty (30) shares of issued and outstanding shares of common stock were combined into one (1) share of common stock. We did not issue fractional shares in connection with the Reverse Stock
Split. Stockholders who were otherwise entitled to fractional shares of common stock were instead entitled to receive a proportional cash payment. The number of shares of common stock issuable
under our equity incentive plans and exercisable under the outstanding warrants were also proportionately adjusted.

In connection with the Reverse Stock Split, there was no change to the shares authorized or in the par value per share of common stock of $0.0001. Accordingly, unless we indicate
otherwise, all historical per share data, number of shares issued and outstanding, stock awards, and other common stock equivalents for the periods presented in this Annual Report on Form 10-K
have been adjusted retroactively, where applicable, to reflect the Reverse Stock Split.

Market Outlook/Overview

We believe that lidar will be a required sensing solution across many end markets. We broadly define our two key end markets as Automotive and Industrial, although at the current time we
are almost exclusively focused on the Automotive market.

Automotive

According to the World Health Organization, the number of fatalities globally on roadways exceeds one million annually, road traffic injuries are the leading cause of death for children and
young adults aged 5 to 29 years and in the U.S. pedestrian fatalities have increased by over 80% in the last ten years. Road traffic accidents cost most countries 3% of their gross domestic product on
an annual basis. We believe the current technology solutions in the market are insufficient for mitigating this issue and that lidar, incorporated as a component of ADAS and fully autonomous driving
or self-driving systems, could play a critical role in addressing this issue in the future. In 2023, the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, or NHTSA, introduced proposed rulemaking to
mandate that passenger vehicles have automatic emergency braking, or AEB, and pedestrian AEB, and the Federal Motor Carrier
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Safety Administration introduced proposed rulemaking to mandate AEB in heavy trucks. Final rules are expected soon, and these may require additional hardware and software to meet performance
requirements. With that in mind, passenger and commercial vehicle OEMs are expected to introduce lidar sensors to add ADAS features and improve safety for passengers and pedestrians.
Applications for the Automotive end market include lidar sensors and software for passenger and commercial vehicles. For vehicles to achieve greater autonomous functionality and perform those
functions at higher speeds, we believe long-range lidar will be necessary. Our sensors were designed to search, detect, acquire, and track small objects at long distances. In the future, we may also
introduce other mid- and short-range lidar systems based on the same 4Sight Intelligent Sensing Platform. Our system is particularly well-suited to reduce the intensive compute (and associated
power and latency) requirements of autonomous systems because our platform handles critical data processing at the sensor level, thereby allowing the self-driving system to focus limited compute
resources on the vehicle's path planning. We believe that our strategy to partner with Tier 1 automotive suppliers to produce high-quality, long-range lidar at scale will help drive adoption of lidar into
series production across major global OEMs.

• Passenger vehicle ADAS — highway autonomy in passenger vehicles is a highly relevant use case for our technology, as passenger vehicle OEMs are actively in the process of adding new
features that enhance the consumer driving experience. These highway systems rely on consistent detection of dangerous, often small, obstacles at long distances and high speeds, which our
system can optimize for in software.

• Commercial vehicle ADAS — hub-to-hub autonomy in commercial vehicles, such as short- and long-range delivery vehicles, enabled by lidar, promises similar technological utility to that
in passenger vehicles. Importantly, however, the value that a commercial vehicle operator derives from commercial ADAS is driven by increased utility and safety through reduced risk from
driver fatigue. We believe that adoption rates for long-range lidar will be higher in commercial vehicles initially due to the significant share of time that highway driving represents for
commercial customers.

Industrial

In 2023, we decided to wind down our existing industrial product line and will be dialing back support for this end market until we have sufficient scale in the Automotive market, which is
our largest and highest priority market. We still believe there will be a broad range of use cases for lidar in Industrial markets, including but not limited to rail, construction, mining, agriculture,
aerospace, defense, and intelligent transportation systems. Such use cases may include:

• Rail — detecting and acquiring railway debris at long distances to stop the train to prevent derailment; assessing tracks for maintenance needs; and monitoring platform safety.

• Construction, Mining, & Agriculture — detecting and acquiring obstacles, pedestrians, and animals in the path of large, autonomous construction and mining vehicles and agricultural
equipment.

• Aerospace & Defense — detecting wires or other obstacles above ground for helicopters; automating logistics vehicles for the military; enabling mid-air refueling.

• Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) — intersection traffic management, highway monitoring, tolling automation, smart mobility infrastructure, autonomous/smart parking, and work
zone safety.

Commercial

Overview

We employ two different go-to-market models: one model addresses the traditional Automotive end market and the other model addresses the Industrial end market.

We employ a channel model in the traditional Automotive market by working through Tier 1 suppliers that sell products to OEM customers. Those Tier 1 suppliers will industrialize,
manufacture, and sell lidar sensor solution units to OEMs that incorporate our proprietary design and software. We expect that we will receive royalty or other payments from those Tier 1 suppliers
for each unit they sell to their OEM customers. The payments may take the
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form of a fixed amount per unit, a percentage of the average selling price of the sensor, profit-sharing, or some combination of these methods. We are currently engaged in partnership discussions
with other Tier 1 suppliers.

For the Industrial market, we may either sell directly to the customer or employ a licensing model through systems integrators. Contract manufacturers with whom we have agreements
assemble, test, and deliver these products. Systems integrators will build our technology into mass produced systems, such as autonomous mining haulers, locomotives, or intelligent transportation
systems.

Our lidar products employ a single product platform that is based on components sourced from an established Tier 2 automotive supply chain to drive down costs and increase reliability. We
expect to utilize those same components to be used to address the Industrial market, which enables us to leverage our volume in automotive, and drive costs down for the products made by our
contract manufacturing partners.

Technology

We developed the 4Sight Intelligent Sensing Platform, to combine solid-state active lidar, an optionally fused low-light HD camera, and integrated deterministic artificial intelligence to
capture more intelligent information with less data, enabling faster, more accurate, and more reliable perception of the surroundings. The 4Sight Intelligent Sensing Platform enables the integration of
various types of sensor inputs, including camera, lidar, and radar. Our 4Sight products are developed on this framework and incorporate both camera and lidar sensors.

The 4Sight Intelligent Sensing Platform leverages a bistatic architecture, allowing for physically separated transmit and receive paths. This improves range, refresh rate, and resolution over
conventional coaxial architectures employed by our competitors, by allowing the transmitter to direct energy independently of the receiver’s focus. The lidar system employs time-of-flight based
scanning, delivered with extremely low latency.

The laser we utilize is a 1550nm fiber laser. The 1550nm wavelength provides a photon budget far exceeding (>100x) 905nm lasers, and because 1550nm is a retina-safe wavelength, more
energy can be utilized by lidar solutions using 1550nm lasers.

We leverage custom high resonance micro-electro-mechanical systems, or MEMS, for agile scanning over a wide field of view. The MEMS that we use are extremely small when compared
to competing MEMS-based lidar solutions, and when coupled with the extremely high resonant frequency at which they can operate, our MEMS meet and exceed shock and vibration requirements
for both the Automotive and Industrial markets.

All of the data collected is processed directly on the system-on-a-chip, where our algorithms continually evaluate the certainty of object detection in order to direct system energy and focus.

We have made substantial progress in our collaboration efforts withe Nvidia, demonstrating significant advances in the high-speed and long range detection performance of our lidar systems,
which we believe puts us on track for future integration with their Hyperion platform.

4Sight Intelligent Sensing Platform

4Sight is our proprietary intelligent sensing lidar platform. This intelligence is enabled by our patented bistatic architecture, which keeps the transmit and receive channels separate, allowing
4Sight to optimize for both. As each laser pulse is transmitted, the receiver is told where and when to look for its return. Ultimately, this establishes the 4Sight platform as active — allowing it to
focus on what matters most in a vehicle’s surroundings.

The result mimics how the human visual cortex conceptually focuses on and evaluates the environment around the vehicle, driving conditions, and road hazards, enabling smarter, more
accurate decision making — radically improving the probability of detection and the accuracy of classification. The sensor captures more intelligent information with less data, enabling faster, more
accurate and more reliable perception.

We have identified four increasingly complex levels of software which differentiate our system:

1. 4Sight at Design: 4Sight at Design (software configured scan patterns) enables customers to create a single, deterministic scan pattern to deliver optimal information for any specific use
case. This level is particularly beneficial for repetitive motion applications, such as power line or pipeline inspection (which cameras alone cannot achieve), or robots in a closed-loop
environment that is unlikely to experience
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anything unexpected. Through 4Sight at Design, the customers’ unique, deterministic scan pattern will give them precisely the information they need for their repetitive pattern application.

2. Triggered 4Sight: With Triggered 4Sight, customers can create a library of deterministic, software-configurable scan patterns at design time, each one addressing a specific use case. Maps,
IMU, speed, tilt, weather, and direction of the vehicle can all trigger the sensor to switch from one scan pattern to another. For example, a customer can create different scan patterns for
highway, urban, and suburban driving, as well as an “exit ramp” pattern. In addition, the customer can create scan patterns for those same driving environments, but optimized for bad
weather (e.g., “highway rain scan pattern” vs “highway sunlight scan pattern”).

3. Responsive 4Sight: With Responsive 4Sight, scan patterns can be created at design and run time. In this level, the entire platform is completely software-configurable and situationally
aware, adjusting, in real time, how it scans the scene, where to apply density and extra power, and what scan rate to employ. In this level, deterministic feedback loops or other sensors, such
as camera and radar, inform the lidar to interrogate objects discretely or via dense, dynamic regions of interest, or ROIs, at various points throughout the scene. It can also dynamically alter
its scan pattern on the fly. The system is intelligent, with the ability to interrogate the scene, and perpetually optimize its own scan patterns and data collection to focus on the information
that matters most and respond based on firmware feedback.

4. Predictive 4Sight: Predictive 4Sight (motion forecasting) can take what is offered in Responsive 4Sight but look ahead enabling even smarter interrogation. In this level, basic perception
can be distributed to the edge of the sensor network. Predictive 4Sight seeks to understand the motion of everything it sees, thereby enabling the system to deliver more information with less
data by focusing its energy on the most important objects in a scene while paying attention to everything else in its periphery. Predictive 4Sight can “sense” (i.e., predict) where an object will
be at different times in the future, enabling the vehicle to solve challenging edge cases.

4Sight for Automotive

Built on a modular architecture, the 4Sight series is easily customizable to address the specific design requirements for multiple Automotive OEMs. Industrialized, manufactured, tested, and
validated by our Tier 1 partners, the 4Sight series features industry leading, long-range ADAS performance, designed to address the need for high-performance applications. 4Sight is built on our
patented 1550nm, solid-state, active lidar. We expect that the 4Sight solutions for Automotive will generally utilize one of the first three software levels described above: 4Sight at Design, Triggered
4Sight, or Responsive 4Sight.

We believe the unique combination of features of 4Sight include:

• Active lidar enables user’s choice of deterministic scan patterns catered to specific use cases and applications, such as highway autopilot;

• Feature-specific Fixed Regions of Interest (ROIs) designed to detect objects from various locations;

• Lidar perception made available through a software partner;

• Windshield, grill, and other discreet vehicle integration options that are optimized by software configurability;

• Size, Weight, and Power (“SWaP”) optimized; and

• Functional Safety (“FuSa”)/Safety of the Intended Functionality (“SOTIF” or ISO 21448) compliant for signal path — providing necessary determinism for testing and validation.

4Sight for Industrial

Built on our unique 4Sight Intelligent Sensing Platform, 4Sight meets the diverse array of performance and functional requirements for the Industrial market with our industry-leading lidar
performance, integrated intelligence, advanced vision capabilities, and unmatched reliability and safety. Once we achieve economies of scale in the Automotive market, we anticipate that 4Sight will
be a cost-effective, customizable perception solution in
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Industrial markets that may leverage the complete 4Sight software platform and will include a comprehensive software development kit for an extensible roadmap to autonomous functionality. 4Sight
for the Industrial market may utilize any of the four software levels described above: 4Sight at Design, Triggered 4Sight, Responsive 4Sight, or Predictive 4Sight.

Flexible sensor location within the car

Our 4Sight Flex next-generation design allows for unique flexibility with respect to sensor placement. The unit’s power requirements and small form factor makes it easier for OEM
designers to integrate our sensors into a variety of locations in a vehicle, such as behind the windshield, on the roof, or in the grille. Competing solutions, on the other hand, may need to be integrated
into the roof of the car in order to resolve challenges with excess heat or size. As a result, OEMs that install competing products may need to substantially alter the physical appearance of their
vehicles to accommodate those products.

Competition

Lidar-based perception solutions for autonomous applications is an emerging market with a wide variety of possible applications across many different markets. We face competition from
numerous companies worldwide that are developing lidar solutions, and some of these solutions may use a similar wavelength or scanning methodology. For example, we and at least two of our
major competitors use lasers that have a 1550nm wavelength. Other competitors use MEMS-based scanning technologies, but we believe our MEMS solution is uniquely robust due its very small
size and high resonant frequency. In addition to companies focused specifically on developing lidar solutions, we also face competition from current or potential partners and customers that may be
developing lidar solutions internally. We believe that many of the other companies developing lidar solutions are focused on shorter-range sensors that passively collect data, and most of these sensors
utilize 905nm lasers that limit their performance. We believe that we are differentiated from competitors by virtue of our ultra long-range performance, coupled with high resolution and software-
based customization of scanning, and a compact form factor suitable for a variety of integrations. This is possible, in part, because we utilize 1550nm lasers that enable our lidar solutions to achieve a
higher photon budget than many of our competitors that rely upon 905nm lasers. While 1550nm lasers are more costly than 905nm lasers on a per unit basis, 1550nm lasers have much higher
performance and our product only requires one such laser. Some 905nm systems utilize up to 128 lasers and still do not attain the performance results we achieve with a single 1550 nm laser. As a
result, we believe that we are able to compete favorably in the lidar market, particularly in market segments such as passenger vehicle ADAS highway pilot applications that can benefit from our
active, long-range, high-resolution capabilities.

We believe that our modular, patented design, our embedded deterministic artificial intelligence, which is inherently enabled by our unique product, and our strong R&D capabilities will
enable us to remain a technology leader in the lidar market.

Research and Development

We have made substantial investments into our R&D efforts historically, but we expect these investments to be reduced as a result of our revised strategic plan. With a reduced workforce and
consolidated global footprint, we plan to be more focused on investments that support our strategy and product development goals in the near-term. We believe that this is essential to maintain our
position as a provider of one of the most advanced lidar solutions in the market. While our R&D activities occur primarily at our headquarters in Dublin, California, we work with technology
developers on a worldwide basis. Our engineers located in Dublin, California focus on developing sensor hardware, firmware, and software.

Our R&D team is responsible for both developing new technology, as well as enhancing the capabilities and performance of our lidar hardware, firmware, and software. Our R&D team also
has responsibility for identifying, defining, and prototyping advanced components that we may utilize from key suppliers, as well as for our design-for-manufacturability, or DFM, and other critical
capabilities. Additionally, this team works alongside our operations team to assist our Tier 1 and contract manufacturer partners as they develop large-scale manufacturing processes based on our lidar
design.

Intellectual Property

We believe that our competitive advantage and our success depend in part upon our ability to develop and protect both our intellectual property and our technology. We own a portfolio of
intellectual property which includes
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patents (issued and pending), registered trademarks, copyrights, trade secrets, and know-how in the development of our lidar solutions.

We have filed patent and trademark applications in order to further secure these rights and strengthen our ability to defend against third parties who may infringe on our rights. We also rely
on trade secrets, design and manufacturing know-how, continuing technological innovations, and licensing and exclusivity opportunities to maintain and improve our competitive position.
Additionally, we protect our proprietary rights through agreements with our commercial partners, vendors, employees, and consultants, as well as close monitoring of the developments, components,
products, and competitors in the industry.

As of March 1, 2024, we owned 78 U.S. and foreign issued patents and we had 83 pending U.S. and foreign patent applications, with three patent applications in the drafting stage. In
addition, we have two registered and one pending trademark applications. Our patents and patent applications cover a broad range of system level and component level aspects of our key technology
including, among other things, bistatic lidar system architecture, laser, scanner, receiver, and perception technology.

Sales and Marketing

Historically we have utilized a combination of channel (indirect) sales and direct sales methods. In the Automotive market, we work with Tier 1 partners that are suppliers to OEMs and
leverage their sales channels which allows us to substantially reduce our investment in sales and marketing. We intend to license our lidar designs and other intellectual property to our Tier 1 partners,
who will then industrialize and sell our technology to their OEM customers. Working with Tier 1 partners allows us to use this existing automotive value chain and provides us with an opportunity to
increase our penetration of the Automotive market more rapidly than would otherwise be possible. This, in turn, will substantially reduce our investment in sales and marketing, and it will also
substantially reduce the associated costs for manufacturing, working capital, validation, and testing, as well as the overhead of product liability and warranty over the life of the multiyear series
production programs with OEMs. In the past, we also maintained direct sales channels but expect sales and marketing costs associated with this to be reduced as a result of our revised strategic plan
which significantly reduced our workforce and consolidated our global footprint to leverage our Tier 1 partners sales channels. Our team still continues to maintain direct contact with the OEMs,
which better enables us to understand their specific product requirements and facilitate the implementation of our product design into their vehicles.

In the Industrial market, we anticipate using the same supply chain to manufacture through global contract manufacturers, and we will sell our products primarily through system integrator
channel partners that may integrate our lidar sensor and software as part of a larger solution for an end customer. We expect sales and marketing costs related to the Industrial market to decline in the
near term as we made the decision in 2023 to wind down our existing Industrial product line. We will be reducing support for the Industrial market until we have sufficient scale in the Automotive
market, which is our largest and highest priority market.

We solicit feedback directly from partners and customers in order to identify opportunities to improve our product design. We work with industry analysts, universities, and independent labs
to conduct studies and performance tests, which provides third-party validation of our solutions to current and potential customers and partners. We also drive our brand management and increase our
public visibility through news releases, advertising campaigns, events, industry panels, and other public relations programs.

Government Regulation

We believe that the U.S. has provided a constructive legal environment to enable the testing and development of autonomous capabilities. We do not expect any federal rules or regulations in
the near future that would impact the use or demand for our lidar technology. Some states, such as California and New York, do enforce operational or registration requirements for some autonomous
functions. U.S. federal regulations generally allow higher levels of safe and responsible autonomous functionality to be deployed. The European Union, China, and other foreign markets are also
developing standards to define the requirements for deploying higher levels of autonomy.

The National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, or NHTSA, is the principal legal and regulatory authority that has oversight of vehicles equipped with our sensors as they are deployed
on public roadways. The obligations of motor vehicle equipment manufacturers include regular reporting under the Transportation Recall Enhancement, Accountability and Documentation Act, or
TREAD, as well as strict recall and reporting requirements
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for any defects related to highway safety or any non-compliance with the Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards. Similar such reporting and recall requirements exist in foreign markets. As the
development of federal, state, and foreign legal frameworks around autonomous vehicles continue to evolve, we may be subject to additional regulatory schemes.

Lidar technology, such as ours, is subject to the Electronic Product Radiation Control Provisions of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act. These requirements are enforced by the U.S.
Food and Drug Administration, or FDA. Electronic product radiation includes laser technology. Regulations governing these products are intended to protect the public from hazardous or unnecessary
exposure. Manufacturers are required to certify in product labeling and reports to the FDA that their products comply with applicable performance standards as well as maintain manufacturing,
testing, and distribution records for their products.

We are also subject to import and export regulations of the U.S. and certain foreign jurisdictions. In addition, our operations are subject to various federal, state, and local laws and
regulations governing the occupational health and safety of our employees and wage regulations. We are subject to the requirements of the federal Occupational Safety and Health Act, or OSHA, as
amended, and comparable state laws that protect and regulate employee health and safety.

Like all companies operating in similar industries, we are subject to environmental regulation, including water use; air emissions; use of recycled materials; energy sources; the storage,
handling, treatment, transportation, and disposal of hazardous materials; and the remediation of environmental contamination. Compliance with these rules may include permits, licenses, and
inspections of our facilities and products.

Human Capital Resources

We believe that our culture is one of our competitive advantages. We have emphasized a collaborative, team-oriented, performance-based culture with a strong focus on both the development
of differentiated technology and the success of our customers. Our leadership team comes from sectors including automotive, aerospace and defense, semiconductors, software, and computer
hardware. As of December 31, 2023, we had over 60 employees worldwide. The majority of our employees are in the R&D function. We also engage consultants and contractors to supplement our
regular full-time workforce. None of our employees are represented by a labor union, and we consider our employee relations to be good. To date, we have not experienced any work stoppages.

Facilities

Our corporate headquarters is located in Dublin, California, where we lease 56,549 square feet pursuant to a lease that initially expires on December 1, 2026 unless we choose to exercise a
five year renewal option. The Dublin facility contains engineering, R&D, operations, customer support, marketing, and administrative functions. We believe our existing facility is in good condition
and suitable for the conduct of our business.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may become involved in actions, claims, suits, and other legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business, including assertions by third parties relating
to intellectual property infringement, breaches of contract or warranties, or employment-related matters. We are not currently a party to any actions, claims, suits, or other legal proceedings the
outcome of which, if determined adversely to us, would individually or in the aggregate have a material effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations.

Available Information

Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, along with all other reports and amendments thereto filed with or furnished to the SEC, are publicly available free of charge on the Investor Relations
section of our website at www.aeye.ai or at www.sec.gov as soon as reasonably practicable after these materials are filed with or furnished to the SEC. We also use our website as a tool to disclose
important information about the company and comply with our disclosure obligations under Regulation Fair Disclosure. Our Corporate Governance Guidelines, Code of Business Conduct and Ethics,
and the committee charters for our Board of Directors are also posted on the Investor Relations section of our website. The information on our website (or any webpages referenced in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K) is not part of this or any other report we file with, or furnish to, the SEC.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

In conducting our business, we may face risks and uncertainties that may interfere with our business objectives. You should carefully consider the following risk factors, as well as all of the
other information contained in this Annual Report, including “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements
and related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report. The risks and uncertainties below are not the only ones that we face. Additional risks and uncertainties that we are unaware of, or
that we currently believe are not material, may also become important factors that adversely affect our business. The occurrence of any of the following risks, or others specified below, could
materially and adversely affect our business, strategies, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. In such case, the market price of our common stock could decline, and you
could lose all or part of your investment.

Summary of Risk Factors
 

As noted above, our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including those highlighted in this “Risk Factors” section that represent challenges that we face in connection
with the successful implementation of our strategy and growth of our business. The occurrence of one or more of the events or circumstances described in the section titled “Risk Factors,” alone or in
combination with other events or circumstances may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects. Such risks include, but are not limited to:

• We are an early stage company with a history of losses and we expect to incur significant expenses and continuing losses for at least the next several years.

• We substantially rely on relationships with Tier 1 automotive suppliers and our business could be materially and adversely affected if we cannot establish or maintain relationships with one
or more Tier 1 partners, or if we, through our relationship with various Tier 1 partners, are unable to obtain a sufficient number of design wins and successfully enter into definitive
agreements or other commercial arrangements with automotive OEMs with respect to such design wins.

• We intend to raise additional capital in order to execute our business plan and to respond to changing market conditions, which additional capital may not be available on terms acceptable to
us, or at all.

• Any restructuring actions and cost reduction initiatives that we undertake may not deliver the results we expect, and these actions may adversely affect our business.

• Our financial results could vary significantly from quarter to quarter and are difficult to predict, particularly in light of the current economic environment, which in turn could cause volatility
in our stock price.

• Our limited operating history makes it difficult to evaluate our future prospects and the risks and challenges we may encounter.

• We continue to implement strategic initiatives designed to grow our business. These initiatives may prove more costly than we currently anticipate and we may not succeed in increasing our
revenue in an amount sufficient to offset the costs of these initiatives and to achieve and maintain profitability.

• If our deterministic artificial intelligence-driven sensing system is not selected for inclusion in advanced driver-assistance systems, or ADAS, by any automotive OEMs or their suppliers, our
business will be materially and adversely affected.

• Our business could be materially and adversely affected by the lingering and continuing impacts of the global COVID-19 pandemic, other epidemics or outbreaks, as well as other global
events and macroeconomic factors, such as the wars in Ukraine and the Middle East.

• We heavily rely on third-party suppliers and because some of the raw materials and key components in our products come from limited or single source suppliers, our ability to control the
costs of such components and raw materials is uncertain; moreover, regardless of cost, we are susceptible to supply shortages, longer than anticipated lead times for components, and supply
changes, any of which could disrupt our supply chain, could delay deliveries of our products to customers, and could negatively impact the adoption of our products and accordingly, our
financial condition and operating results.

• We expect to continue investing in R&D, albeit at a reduced amount compared to prior years and commercializing new products, which could significantly reduce our profitability and may
never result in revenue to us.
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• Although we believe that lidar is an essential technology for autonomous vehicles and other emerging applications, market adoption of lidar is uncertain. If market adoption of lidar does not
continue to develop, or adoption is deferred, or otherwise develops more slowly than we expect, our business will be adversely affected.

• The complexity of our products could result in unforeseen delays or expenses from undetected defects, errors, or reliability issues in our hardware or software which could reduce the market
adoption of our products, damage our reputation with current or prospective customers, and expose us to product liability and other claims, thereby adversely affecting our operating costs.

• The average selling prices of our products or our fees or royalties from technology licenses could decrease rapidly over the life of the product or license term, which may negatively affect
our revenue and gross margin.

• Shareholder activism could cause us to incur significant expense, disrupt our business, result in a proxy contest or litigation, and impact our stock price.

Risk Factors Relating to Our Business and Industry

We are an early stage company with a history of losses and we expect to incur significant expenses and continuing losses for at least the next few years.

We have incurred net losses in each year since our inception. In the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we incurred net losses of approximately $87.1 million and
$98.7 million, respectively. We expect that we will continue to incur significant losses through at least the next few years as we:

• continue to utilize our third-party partners for design, testing and commercialization;

• expand our operations and supply chain capabilities to produce our lidar components and systems, including costs associated with outsourcing the production which, in some instances,
requires significant upfront payments by us;

• expand our design, development and commercialization;

• build up inventories of parts and components for our lidar solutions; and

• maintain a level of general and administrative spending to meet the requirements of operating as a public company.

As of December 31, 2023, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $337.6 million. Even if we are able to increase sales or licensing of our products, there can be no assurance that
we will be commercially successful. Since we will incur the costs and expenses from these efforts prior to receiving incremental revenues with respect thereto, our losses in future periods will be
significant. In the past, design wins, the first step towards commercialization with a particular OEM, have taken longer than originally expected. Such delays, including delays that may occur in the
future, will impact the timing of our revenue. If our products do not achieve sufficient market acceptance, we will not become profitable. If we fail to become profitable, or if we are unable to fund
our continuing losses, we may be unable to continue our business operations. There can be no assurance that we will ever achieve or sustain profitability.

Our business model for the Automotive market substantially relies on us maintaining a relationship with one or more Tier 1 automotive suppliers; our business could be materially and adversely
affected if we are unable to establish or maintain a relationship with one or more Tier 1 automotive suppliers, or even if we establish and maintain a relationship with one or more Tier 1
automotive supplies, if such Tier 1 automotive suppliers are unable to obtain a sufficient number of design wins and enter into definitive agreements or other commercial arrangements with
automotive OEMs with respect to such design wins.

Our business prospects in the Automotive market are substantially based on us establishing and maintaining a relationship with one or more Tier 1 automotive suppliers. In 2021, we entered
into an agreement with a subsidiary of Continental AG, a well-established Tier 1 automotive supplier, pursuant to which Continental licensed from us the rights to manufacture and integrate our lidar
solution into automotive OEM model lines through long-term series production contracts with automotive OEMs. In late 2023, Continental informed us that they intended to discontinue our joint
lidar development program due to internal restructuring of their business model. In response to
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this, we are seeking out new relationships with one or more new Tier 1 automotive suppliers. If we fail to establish a relationship with a Tier 1 automotive supplier, it will have a material and adverse
effect on our business. There can be no assurance that we will be able to establish or maintain a relationship with any Tier 1 automotive supplier, or, even if we are successful in doing so, that the Tier
1 automotive suppliers will be in a position to secure orders for our product designs and software. If we are unable to maintain or progress our relationship with a Tier 1 automotive supplier, or if any
Tier 1 automotive supplier is unable to secure a sufficient number of design wins and enter into definitive agreements or other commercial arrangements with automotive OEMs, then our business
could be materially and adversely affected.

We intend to raise additional capital in order to execute our business plan and to respond to changing market conditions, which additional capital may not be available on terms acceptable to us,
or at all.

We intend to raise additional capital either by issuing equity, debt, or a combination of the two, in order to respond to market timing delays, technological advancements, competition,
competitive technologies, customer demands, business opportunities, other challenges, potential acquisitions, unforeseen circumstances, or other reasons. In order to further business relationships
with current or potential customers or partners, we may issue equity or equity-linked securities to such customers or partners. Despite the need for additional capital, we may not be able to timely
secure additional debt or equity financing on favorable terms, or at all, especially given current market conditions where raising additional capital has proven particularly challenging. If we raise
additional capital through the issuance of equity or convertible debt or other equity-linked securities or if we issue equity or equity-linked securities to current or potential customers to further our
business relationships, our existing stockholders would likely experience dilution, which may be significant. Any debt financing obtained by us in the future could involve restrictive covenants
relating to our capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital or to pursue business opportunities, including
potential acquisitions. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us, when we require it, our ability to continue to support our business and to respond to
business challenges could be significantly limited.

Additionally, under current SEC regulations, if at the time we file this Annual Report on Form 10-K our public float is less than $75 million, and for so long as our public float remains less
than $75 million, the amount we can raise through primary public offerings of securities in any twelve-month period using shelf registration statements is limited to an aggregate of one-third of our
public float, which is referred to as the “baby shelf” rules.

We expect our public float to be below $75 million at the time we file our Annual Report on Form 10-K. As such, we will be limited by the baby shelf rules until such time as our public float
exceeds $75 million, which means we only have the capacity to sell shares up to one-third of our public float under shelf registration statements in any twelve-month period. If our public float
decreases, the amount of securities we may sell under our Form S-3 shelf registration statement will also decrease. We will remain constrained by the baby shelf rules under our Form S-3 shelf
registration statement until such time as our public float exceeds $75 million, at which time, the number of securities we may sell under a Form S-3 registration statement will no longer be limited by
the baby shelf rules.

Any restructuring actions and cost reduction initiatives that we undertook, or may undertake in the future, may not deliver the results we expect, and these actions may adversely affect our
business.

In 2023, we have implemented multiple restructuring actions aimed at focusing the organization on the commercialization of our automotive products, while reducing fixed operating costs,
including the elimination of our internal sales and marketing teams. Our capital light business model requires us to leverage one or more Tier 1 partners and their manufacturing capabilities, supply
chains, OEM relationships, and sales teams to bring our products to market. With the loss of the Continental relationship in late 2023, we no longer have a Tier 1 partner. Moreover, our recent
restructurings could result in disruptions to our operations and adversely affect our business and our ability to obtain another Tier 1 partner. For example, we are actively working with potential new
Tier 1 partners to pursue multiple RFQ opportunities and if our restructuring actions impede our ability to win these awards, this could materially impact our business. In addition, we cannot be sure
that the cost reduction initiatives will be successful in reducing our overall expenses to the extent anticipated, or that unexpected costs will not offset any such reductions or related initiatives. If our
operating costs are higher than we expect, or if we do not maintain adequate control of our costs and expenses, our operating results could be materially and adversely affected.

Our financial results could vary significantly from quarter to quarter and are difficult to predict, particularly in light of the current economic environment, which in turn could cause volatility in
our stock price.

Our quarterly results of operations have fluctuated in the past and may vary significantly in the future. As such, historical comparisons of our operating results may not be meaningful. In
particular, because our sales to date have primarily been to customers making purchases for their own R&D, sales in any given quarter can fluctuate
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based on the timing and success of our customers’ development projects. Accordingly, the results of any one quarter should not be relied upon as an indication of future performance. We base our
current and future expense levels on our internal operating plans and sales forecasts, and our operating costs are to a large extent fixed. As a result, we may not be able to reduce our costs sufficiently
to compensate for an unexpected shortfall in revenues, and even a small shortfall in revenues could disproportionately and adversely affect financial results for that quarter. This was particularly true
for 2023, as we implemented significant cost-reduction measures making it more difficult for us to further reduce our operating expenses without a material adverse impact on our prospects in future
periods. We have and may continue to incur significant or unanticipated expenses related to long-lived asset impairments, inventory write-downs, and one-time termination benefits to restructure our
business. For example, in 2023, we impaired $9.9 million of long-lived assets, wrote down $8.6 million of inventory and other current assets, and incurred $3.3 million of one-time termination benefit
costs, primarily relating to our decision to wind down our existing Industrial product line and reduce support for this end market until we have sufficient scale in the Automotive market, which is our
largest and highest priority market.

Our quarterly financial results may fluctuate as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control and may not fully reflect the underlying performance of our business.
These fluctuations could adversely affect our ability to meet our expectations or those of securities analysts, ratings agencies, or investors. If we do not meet these expectations for any period, the
value of our business and our securities, could decline significantly. Factors that may cause these quarterly fluctuations include, without limitation, those listed below:

• the timing and magnitude of orders and shipments of our products in any quarter;

• decreases in pricing we may adopt to drive market adoption or in response to competitive pressure;

• our ability to retain our existing customers and strategic partners and attract new customers and strategic partners;

• our ability to develop, introduce, manufacture, and ship, in a timely manner, products that meet customer requirements;

• disruptions in our sales channels or termination of our relationships with important channel partners;

• delays in customers’ purchasing cycles or deferments of customers’ purchases in anticipation of new products or updates from us or our competitors;

• the timing of charges related to impairments of long-lived assets;

• non-routine write-downs of inventory;

• one time termination benefits and other restructuring costs;

• fluctuations in demand for our products;

• the mix of products sold or licensed by us in any given quarter;

• the duration of the lingering effects of the global COVID-19 pandemic and the time it takes for economic recovery;

• the duration or worsening of the military conflicts in Ukraine and the Middle East, and the time it will take for the economic recovery for such impact to occur;

• the timing and rate of broader market adoption of ADAS or autonomous systems utilizing our solutions across the automotive and other market sectors;

• the timing and scale of the market acceptance of lidar generally;

• further technological advancements by our competitors and other market participants;

• the ability of our customers and strategic partners to commercialize systems that incorporate our products;

• any change in the competitive dynamics of our markets, including consolidation of competitors, regulatory developments, and new market entrants;

• our ability to effectively manage or outsource management of our inventory;
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• changes in the source, cost, availability of, and regulations pertaining to components and materials we use in our products;

• impact of foreign currency fluctuations;

• adverse litigation, judgments, settlements, or other litigation-related costs, or claims that may give rise to such costs; and

• general economic, industry, and market conditions, including trade disputes.

Our limited operating history makes it difficult to evaluate our future prospects and the risks and challenges we may encounter.

We have been focused on developing our deterministic artificial intelligence-driven sensing system for vehicle autonomy, ADAS, and industrial applications since 2013. This relatively
limited operating history makes it difficult to evaluate our future prospects and the risks and challenges we may encounter, which include our ability to:

• develop and commercialize our products;

• produce and deliver lidar and software products meeting acceptable performance metrics;

• forecast our revenue and budget for and manage our expenses;

• attract new customers and retain existing customers;

• develop, obtain, or progress strategic partnerships;

• comply with existing and new or modified laws and regulations applicable to our business;

• plan for and manage capital expenditures for our current and future products, and manage our supply chain and supplier relationships related to our current and future products;

• anticipate and respond to macroeconomic changes as well as changes in the markets in which we operate;

• maintain and enhance the value of our reputation and brand;

• effectively manage our growth and business operations, including the lingering impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business as well as other macroeconomic factors, such as the wars
in Ukraine and in the Middle East;

• develop and protect our intellectual property;

• hire, integrate, and retain talented people at all levels of our organization; and

• successfully develop new solutions to enhance the experience of customers.

If we fail to address the risks and difficulties that we face, including those associated with the challenges listed above as well as those described elsewhere in this “Risk Factors” section, our
business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected. Further, because we have limited historical financial data and operate in a rapidly evolving market, any predictions
about our future revenue and expenses may not be as accurate as those predictions would be if we had a longer operating history or operated in a more predictable market. We have encountered in the
past, and will continue to encounter in the future, risks and uncertainties frequently experienced by growing companies with limited operating histories in rapidly changing industries. If our
assumptions regarding these risks and uncertainties, which we use to plan and operate our business, are incorrect or change, or if we do not address these risks successfully, our results of operations
could differ materially from our expectations and our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.
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We continue to implement strategic initiatives designed to grow our business. These initiatives may prove more costly than we currently anticipate and we may not succeed in increasing our
revenue in an amount sufficient to offset the costs of these initiatives or to achieve and maintain profitability.

We continue to make investments and implement initiatives designed to grow our business, including:

• investing in R&D and commercialization;

• further enhancing our manufacturing processes and partnerships;

• protecting our intellectual property; and

• investing in legal, accounting, and other administrative functions necessary to support our operations as a public company.

These initiatives may prove more expensive than we currently anticipate, and we may not succeed in increasing our revenue, if at all, in an amount sufficient to offset these higher expenses
or to achieve and maintain profitability. The market opportunities we are pursuing are at an early stage of development, and it may be many years before the end markets we expect to serve generate
demand for our products at scale, if at all. Our revenue may be adversely affected for a number of reasons, including the development and/or market acceptance of new technology that competes with
our products, if automotive original equipment manufacturers, or automotive OEMs, Tier 1 automotive suppliers, or other market participants change their view towards autonomous vehicles or
ADAS technologies or strategies (as Continental did at the end of 2023), the failure of our customers to commercialize autonomous systems that include our solutions, our inability to effectively
manage or outsource the management of our inventory, manufacturing, or contract manufacturing of products at scale, our inability to enter new markets or to help our customers adapt our products
for new applications, or our failure to attract new customers or secure production orders from existing customers currently analyzing our solutions, or increasing competition. Furthermore, it is
difficult to predict the size and growth rate of our target markets, customer demand for our products, commercialization timelines, developments in autonomous sensing, developments in ADAS and
related technologies, the entry of competitive products, or the success of existing competitive products and services. For these reasons, we do not expect to achieve profitability over the near term. If
our revenue does not grow over the long term, our ability to achieve and maintain profitability may be adversely affected, and the value of our business may significantly decrease.

The market price and trading volume of our common stock may be volatile and could decline significantly.

The stock markets, including Nasdaq on which we list our shares of common stock, have from time to time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations. Even if an active, liquid,
and orderly trading market develops and is sustained for our common stock, the market price of our common stock may continue to be volatile and could decline significantly. Since December 6,
2022, our stock had closed below $1.00 per share. As previously disclosed, on January 20, 2023, we received notice from Nasdaq that we were no longer in compliance with the $1.00 per share
minimum bid price requirement for continued listing on Nasdaq. Although the notification did not have an immediate impact on our Nasdaq listing, we were given a period of 180 calendar days, or
until July 19, 2023, to regain compliance with the requirement. At our request, on July 20, 2023, Nasdaq granted to us a second and final 180 calendar day period to regain compliance, or until
January 16, 2024. To ensure compliance with the minimum bid price requirement by January 16, 2024, we held a special meeting of stockholders on December 12, 2023, to consider and authorize our
Board of Directors to effect a reverse stock split. At the special meeting, the Company’s stockholders authorized the Board to effect a reverse stock split, in the Board's discretion, within one year
from the date of the special meeting, at one of ten ratios in multiples of five between and including one-for-five to one-for-fifty. Thereafter, the Board resolved to effect a reverse stock split of our
issued common stock at a ratio of one-for-thirty (the "Reverse Stock Split"), and pursuant to that resolution, on December 26, 2023, we caused a Certificate of Amendment to our Second Amended
and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, to be filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware. The Reverse Stock Split became effective upon the filing of the Certificate and
our common stock began trading on a split-adjusted basis on The Nasdaq Capital Market at the opening of trading on December 27, 2023. Companies that implement a reverse stock split often see a
materially negative impact on their stock price. In addition, since the Reverse Stock Split, and the resulting lower number of shares in our float, we have generally seen lower trading volumes in our
stock. The trading volume of our common stock may fluctuate significantly for this or other reasons, which can have a significant impact on the price of our common stock. If the market price of our
common stock declines significantly, you may be unable to resell your shares at an attractive price, or at all. We cannot assure you that the market price of our common stock will not fluctuate widely
or decline significantly in the future.
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Our business could be materially and adversely affected by the lingering impacts of the global COVID-19 pandemic or other epidemics and outbreaks.

The COVID-19 pandemic had disrupted and affected our business operations, which has led to business and supply chain disruptions. The lingering effects of the pandemic are likely to
continue to disrupt our business and supply chain in the future. Given the unpredictable nature of COVID-19 and its variants, it is difficult, if not impossible, to predict, whether any government-
imposed restrictions will be reimposed at previous levels or enhanced in one or more ways impacting our business operations or those of third parties upon which we rely. The lingering effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic, including associated business interruptions and recovery, as well as other possible epidemics or outbreaks of other contagions could result in a material adverse impact on our or
our business operations, or the business operations of our current or anticipated customers and suppliers, including the potential reduction or suspension of operations in the U.S. or other parts of the
world. Our design and engineering operations, among others, cannot all be conducted remotely and often require on-site access to materials and equipment. We have customers, suppliers, and partners
with international operations, and our customers, suppliers, and partners also depend on suppliers and manufacturers worldwide, which means that our business and prospects could be affected by the
lingering effects of the COVID-19 pandemic anywhere in the world. Depending upon the duration of the lingering effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and the associated business interruptions, our
customers, suppliers, manufacturers, and partners may suspend or delay their engagements with us. We and our customers’ and suppliers’ response to the lingering effects of the COVID-19 pandemic
may prove to be inadequate and they may be unable to continue their respective operations in the manner they had prior to the outbreak or the worsening of the outbreak, and we may consequently
endure interruptions, reputational harm, delays in our product development, and shipments, all of which could have an adverse effect on our business, operating results, and financial condition. In
addition, we cannot assure you as to the timing of the economic recovery given the lingering effects of the pandemic, which could have a material adverse effect on our target markets and our
business.

If our deterministic artificial intelligence-driven sensing system is not selected for inclusion in ADAS technology by automotive OEMs or their suppliers, our business will be materially and
adversely affected.

Automotive OEMs and their suppliers design and develop ADAS technology over several years. These automotive OEMs and suppliers undertake extensive testing or qualification processes
prior to placing orders for large quantities of products, such as our lidar products, because such products will function as part of a larger system or platform and must meet specifications that we do
not control or dictate. We have spent, and will continue to spend, significant time and resources to have our products selected by automotive OEMs and their suppliers, which we refer to as a “design
win.” In the case of autonomous driving and ADAS technology, a design win means our lidar product has been selected for use in a particular vehicle model or models. If we do not achieve a design
win with respect to a particular vehicle model, we may not have an opportunity to supply our products to the automotive OEM or its supplier for that vehicle model for a period of many years. In
many cases, this period can be as long as five to seven years (or more). If our products are not selected by an automotive OEM or our suppliers for one vehicle model or if our products are not
successful in that vehicle model, it is less likely that our product will be deployed in other vehicle models of that automotive OEM. If we fail to obtain design wins for a significant number of vehicle
models from one or more automotive OEMs or their suppliers, our business, results of operations, and financial condition will be materially and adversely affected. Our business model for the
Automotive market is based on our relationships with Tier 1 suppliers. If these relationships do not materialize, automotive OEMs may be less inclined to select our products for use in their vehicle
models. The period of time from a design win to implementation is long and we are subject to the risks of cancellation or postponement of the contract or unsuccessful implementation.

Our forward-looking estimates of certain financial metrics may prove inaccurate.

We use various estimates in formulating our business plans. We base our estimates upon a number of assumptions that are inherently subject to significant business and economic
uncertainties and contingencies, many of which are beyond our control. Our estimates therefore may prove inaccurate, causing the actual amount to differ from our estimates. These factors include,
without limitation:

• the extent to which we meet contractual terms and conditions;

• the extent to which our technology is successfully integrated into our customers’ vehicles;

• the timing of when our customers adopt our technology into their vehicles on a commercial basis which could be delayed for regulatory, safety, or reliability issues unrelated to our
technology;

• undetected or unknown errors, defects, or reliability issues in our hardware or software which could reduce the market adoption of our existing or new products;
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• loss of business with respect to, the failure or lack of commercial success of a vehicle model for which we are a significant supplier for reasons unrelated to our technology;

• a decline, for any reason, in the production levels of our customers, particularly with respect to models which incorporate our technology;

• customer cancellations of their contracts;

• if our products are included as part of a vehicle option package, the extent to which end customers select it; and

• other risk factors set forth in this Annual Report.

The period of time from a design win to implementation is long and we are subject to the risks of cancellation or postponement of the contract or unsuccessful implementation.

Prospective customers, including those in the automotive industry, generally must make significant commitments of resources to test and validate products like ours and confirm that they can
integrate these products with other technologies before including them in any particular system, product, or model. The development cycles for our products with new customers varies widely
depending on the application, market, customer, and the complexity of the product. In the Automotive market, for example, this development cycle can be five to seven years (or more). The
development cycle in certain other markets can be months to one or two years (or more). These development cycles result in us investing our resources prior to realizing any revenue from
commercialization. Further, we are subject to the risk that customers cancel or postpone implementation of our technology or our customers are unable to integrate our technology successfully into a
larger system. If our customers face financial difficulties, they may also cancel current or future product programs that could materially and adversely impact our financial results. Further, our revenue
could be less than forecasted if the system, product, or vehicle model that includes our lidar products is unsuccessful, including for reasons unrelated to our technology. Long development cycles and
product cancellations or postponements may adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Our products require key components and critical raw materials and our inability to reduce and control the cost of such components and raw materials could negatively impact the adoption of
our products and accordingly, our financial condition and operating results.

The production of our components is dependent on sourcing certain key components and raw materials at acceptable price levels. We have experienced, and may continue to experience,
supply chain-induced shortages of key components, leading to a scarcity of such components, a limited availability of such components at greatly inflated prices, or both. If we or our licensees or
contract manufacturers are unable to adequately reduce and control the costs of such key components, we or they will be unable to realize manufacturing costs targets, which could reduce the market
adoption of our products, damage our reputation with current or prospective customers, and have an adverse effect on our brand, business, prospects, financial condition, and operating results.

Continued pricing pressures, automotive OEM and Tier 1 supplier cost reduction initiatives, and the ability of automotive OEMs and Tier 1 suppliers to source alternatives or cancel vehicle or
technology programs may result in lower than anticipated revenues, or cause substantial losses, which may adversely affect our business.

Cost-cutting initiatives adopted by our customers may result in continued downward pressure on pricing. Our agreements and partnerships with automotive OEMs and Tier 1 suppliers may
require step-downs in pricing over the term of the agreement or partnership, or if commercialized, over the period of production. In addition, our automotive OEM and Tier 1 suppliers often reserve
the right to terminate their supply contracts for convenience, which enhances their ability to obtain price concessions. Automotive OEMs and Tier 1 suppliers also possess significant leverage over
their suppliers, including us, because the automotive component supply industry is highly competitive, serves a limited number of customers, and has a high fixed cost base. See also the risk factor
entitled, “We operate in a highly competitive market involving emerging technology. We compete against a number of competitors, some of whom have substantially greater resources than us,”
below.

Automotive OEMs, like many manufacturers, are price sensitive to components used in their end products. We and our Tier 1 suppliers are sensitive to the cost we quote to such automotive
OEMs to mitigate the risk of being eliminated from contention based solely on price. Despite our efforts, and the efforts of our Tier 1 suppliers, to reduce the overall cost of our products, we are not
always able to achieve the cost targets we are seeking. The inability to reach our cost targets could have a material adverse impact on our ability to gain market acceptance for our products, regardless
of the ability of our products to achieve the automotive OEMs' specifications.
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Accordingly, we expect to be subject to substantial and continuing pricing pressure from automotive OEMs, Tier 1 suppliers, and lidar competitors, which may impact the revenue we receive
from licensing our product designs or selling our products. It is possible that pricing pressures beyond our expectations could intensify as automotive OEMs, Tier 1 suppliers, and lidar competitors
pursue restructuring, consolidation, and cost-cutting initiatives. If we are unable to identify sufficient design cost savings to meet the expectations of automotive OEMs and Tier 1 suppliers, our
revenue and profitability would be adversely affected.

We expect to continue investing in R&D albeit at a reduced amount compared to prior years and commercializing new products, which could significantly reduce our profitability and may never
result in revenue to us.

Our future growth depends on penetrating new markets, adapting existing products to new applications and customer requirements, achieving volume-based component price reductions, and
introducing new products that achieve market acceptance. We expect to continue to incur R&D costs as part of our efforts to design, develop, manufacture, and commercialize new products and
enhance existing products. Our R&D expenses were approximately $26.2 million and $37.6 million during the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and may increase in
the future. Because we account for R&D as an operating expense, these expenditures will adversely affect our results of operations in the future. Further, our R&D program may not produce
successful results, and our new products may not achieve market acceptance, create additional revenue, or become profitable.

Although we believe that lidar is an essential technology for autonomous vehicles and other emerging applications, market adoption of lidar is uncertain. If market adoption of lidar does not
continue to develop, or adoption is deferred, or otherwise develops more slowly than we expect, our business will be adversely affected.

While our artificial intelligence-driven lidar-based sensing system can be applied to different use cases across end markets, approximately 70% and 52% of our revenue during the twelve
months ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, was generated from automotive applications with few customers in the aerospace, delivery, shuttle, railway, mining, and aviation sectors.
Despite the fact that the automotive industry has expended considerable effort to research and test lidar products for ADAS and autonomous driving applications, the automotive industry may not
introduce lidar products in commercially available vehicles on a time frame that matches our expectations, or at all. We have experienced a number of instances where potential automotive OEMs
have delayed their programs for the inclusion of lidar in their end products. We continually study emerging and competing sensing technologies and methodologies and we may incorporate new
sensing technologies to our product portfolio over time. However, lidar products remain relatively new and it is possible that other sensing modalities, or a new disruptive modality based on new or
existing technologies, including a combination of technologies, will achieve acceptance or leadership in the ADAS and autonomous driving space. Even if lidar products are used in initial generations
of autonomous driving technology and ADAS products, we cannot guarantee that lidar products will be designed into or included in subsequent generations of such commercialized technology. The
speed of market adoption and growth for ADAS or autonomous vehicles is difficult, if not impossible, to predict, and it is more difficult to predict this market’s future growth in light of the economic
consequences of the lingering effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and other macroeconomic factors. Although we currently believe we have a differentiated market leading technology for the
autonomous vehicle market, by the time mass market adoption of autonomous vehicle technology is achieved, we expect competition among providers of sensing technology based on lidar and other
modalities to increase substantially. If, by the time autonomous vehicle technology achieves mass market adoption, commercialization of lidar products is not successful, or not as successful as we or
the market expects, or if other sensing modalities gain acceptance by developers of ADAS products, automotive OEMs, regulators, safety organizations, or other market participants, our business,
results of operations, and financial condition will be materially and adversely affected.

Over the longer term, we believe that our overall revenue growth, if any, will depend in part on our ability to expand within new markets such as aerospace and defense, shuttle, delivery
vehicle, drone, railway, intelligent transport, mining and other markets as they emerge. Each of these markets presents distinct risks and, in many cases, requires that we expend resources to address
the particular requirements of that market. Addressing these requirements can be time-consuming and costly. The market for lidar technology is relatively new, rapidly developing, and unproven in
many markets or industries. Many of our prospective customers are still in the testing and development phases and we cannot be certain that they will commercialize products or systems with our
lidar products, or at all. We cannot be certain that lidar will be sold into these markets, or that lidar will be sold into any markets at scale. Adoption of lidar products, including our products, will
depend on numerous factors, including whether the technological capabilities of lidar and lidar-based products meet users’ current or anticipated needs, whether the benefits associated with designing
lidar into larger sensing systems outweighs the costs, complexity, and time needed to deploy such technology or replace or modify existing systems that may have used other modalities, such as
cameras and radar, whether users in other applications can move beyond the testing and development phases and proceed to commercializing systems supported by lidar technology and whether lidar
developers such as us can keep pace with the expected rapid technological change in certain developing markets, and the global response to the
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lingering effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, and other macroeconomic factors, and the length of any associated economic recovery. If lidar technology does not achieve commercial success, or if
adoption of lidar is deferred or the market otherwise develops at a pace slower than we expect, our business, results of operations, and financial condition will be materially and adversely affected.

We may experience difficulties in managing our growth and expanding our operations.

Over the long term, we expect to experience significant growth in the scope and nature of our operations. Our ability to manage our operations and future growth will require us to continue
to improve our operational, financial, and management controls, legal and compliance programs, and reporting systems. We may not be able to implement improvements in an efficient or timely
manner and may discover deficiencies in existing controls, programs, systems, and procedures, which could have an adverse effect on our business, reputation, and financial results.

We rely on third-party suppliers and because some of the raw materials and key components in our products come from limited or single source suppliers, we are susceptible to supply shortages,
longer than anticipated lead times for components, and supply changes, any of which could disrupt our supply chain and could delay deliveries of our products to customers.

Most of the components that go into the manufacturing of our solutions are sourced from third-party suppliers. To date, we have produced our products in relatively limited quantities for use
in R&D programs. Although we do not have any experience in managing our supply chain to manufacture and deliver our products at scale, our future success will depend on our ability to do so.
Some of the key components used to manufacture our products come from limited or single source suppliers. We are therefore subject to the risk of shortages and long lead times in the supply of
these components and the risk that our suppliers discontinue or modify components used in our products.

As we rely on a global supply chain, the lingering effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, other epidemics and outbreaks, should they materialize, and other macroeconomic factors may
adversely affect our ability to source components in a timely or cost-effective manner from our third-party suppliers due to, among other things, work stoppages or interruptions. For example, our
products depend on lasers. Any shortage in the availability of these lasers could materially and adversely affect our ability to manufacture our solutions. In addition, the lead times associated with
certain components are lengthy and preclude rapid changes in quantities and delivery schedules. While we have entered into agreements with some suppliers for the supply of certain components at
set prices, such quantities are limited given we are not yet producing at scale. Therefore, we have in the past experienced, and may in the future experience, component shortages and significant price
fluctuations of key components and materials, and the predictability of the availability and pricing of these components may be limited. Component shortages or pricing fluctuations could be material
in the future, which could be exacerbated by employee retention issues at any of our suppliers. In the event of a component shortage, supply interruption, or a material pricing change from suppliers
of these components, we may not be able to develop alternate sources in a timely manner, or at all, especially in the case of sole or limited source items. Developing alternate sources of supply for
these components may be time-consuming, difficult, and costly and we may not be able to source these components on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all, which may undermine our ability to
meet our requirements or to fill customer orders in a timely manner. Any interruption or delay in the supply of any of these parts or components, or the inability to obtain these parts or components
from alternate sources at acceptable prices and within a reasonable amount of time, would adversely affect our ability to meet our scheduled product deliveries to our customers. This could adversely
affect our relationships with our customers and partners and could cause delays in shipment of our products and adversely affect our operating results. In addition, increased component costs could
result in lower gross margins. Even where we are able to pass increased component costs along to our customers, there may be a lapse of time before we are able to do so such that we will be required
to absorb some or all of the increased cost. If we are unable to buy these components in quantities sufficient to meet our requirements on a timely basis, we will not be able to deliver products to our
customers, which may result in such customers using competitive products instead of our products.

We may face risks associated with our reliance on certain artificial intelligence and machine learning models.

We rely on deterministic artificial intelligence and machine learning models in the development of our solutions for vehicle autonomy, ADAS, and industrial applications. The models that
we use are developed or trained using various data sets. If the models are incorrectly designed, the data we use to train them is incomplete, inadequate, or biased in some way, or if we do not have
sufficient rights to use the data on which our models rely, the performance of our products, services, and business, as well as our reputation, could suffer or we could incur liability through the
violation of laws, third-party privacy or other rights, or contracts to which we are a party.
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Our outsourced manufacturing business model for the industrial market may not be successful, which could harm our ability to deliver products and recognize revenue in the industrial market.

In the fourth quarter of 2023, we made the decision to wind down our existing industrial product and we will curtail support for this end market until we have achieved sufficient scale in our
automotive products, which we believe represents our largest market opportunity. If we fail to achieve sufficient scale in our automotive products, we may not be in a position to reenter the Industrial
market in the time frame we expect, or at all. Our manufacturing strategy for the industrial market had been focused on outsourcing volume manufacturing to contract manufacturers while
maintaining the design, engineering, prototyping, testing, and pilot manufacturing in-house at our facility in Dublin, California.

Reliance on third-party manufacturers reduces our control over the manufacturing process, including reduced control over quality, product costs, and product supply and timing. We may
experience delays in shipments or issues concerning product quality from our third-party manufacturers. If any of our third-party manufacturers experience interruptions, delays, or disruptions in
supplying our products, including by natural disasters, the lingering effects of the global COVID-19 pandemic, or if other epidemics or outbreaks of other contagions materialize, increased military
conflict, especially in Ukraine and the Middle East, or work stoppages or capacity constraints, our ability to ship products would be delayed. In addition, unfavorable economic conditions could result
in financial distress among third-party manufacturers upon which we rely, thereby increasing the risk of disruption of supplies necessary to fulfill our production requirements and meet customer
demands. Additionally, if any of our third-party manufacturers experience quality control problems in their manufacturing operations and our products do not meet customer or regulatory
requirements, we could be required to cover the cost of repair or replacement of any defective products. These delays or product quality issues could have an immediate and material adverse effect on
our ability to fulfill orders and could have a negative effect on our operating results. In addition, such delays or issues with product quality could adversely affect our reputation and our relationship
with our channel partners. If our third-party manufacturers experience financial, operational, manufacturing capacity, or other difficulties, or experience shortages in required components, or if they
are otherwise unable or unwilling to continue to manufacture our products in required volumes or at all, our supply may be disrupted, we may be required to seek alternate manufacturers, and we may
be required to redesign our products. It would be time-consuming, and could be costly and impracticable, to begin to use new manufacturers or designs, and such changes could cause significant
interruptions in supply and could have an adverse effect on our ability to meet our scheduled product deliveries, and may subsequently lead to the loss of sales. While we take measures to protect our
trade secrets, the use of third-party manufacturers may also risk disclosure of our innovative and proprietary manufacturing methodologies, which could adversely affect our business.

We, our outsourcing partners, and our suppliers rely on complex machinery for production of our lidar solutions, which involves a significant degree of risk and uncertainty in terms of
operational performance and costs.

We, our outsourcing partners, and our suppliers rely on complex machinery for the production, assembly, and installation of our lidar solutions, which involve a significant degree of
uncertainty and risk in terms of operational performance and maintenance costs. In addition, the cost to procure such machinery can be significant and, in many instances, such costs will be paid by
us. Our limited in-house production facility, and the facilities of our outsourcing partners and suppliers, consist of large-scale machinery combining many components. These components may suffer
unexpected malfunctions from time to time and will require repairs and spare parts to resume operations, which may not be available when needed. Unexpected malfunctions of these components
may significantly affect intended operational efficiency. Operational performance and costs can be difficult to predict and are often influenced by factors outside of our control, such as, but not limited
to, scarcity of natural resources, environmental hazards and remediation, costs associated with decommissioning of machines, labor disputes and strikes, difficulty or delays in obtaining governmental
permits, damages or defects in electronic systems, industrial accidents, fires, seismic activity, and other natural and manufactured disasters. Should such operational risks materialize, it may result in
personal injury to or death of workers, loss of production equipment, damage to production facilities, monetary losses, delays, and unanticipated fluctuations in production, environmental damage,
administrative fines, increased insurance costs and potential legal liabilities, some of which may be the responsibility of our outsourcing partners and suppliers, but could have a material adverse
effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, or operating results.
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Our sales and operations in international markets expose us to associated operational, financial, and regulatory risks.

Sales to international customers accounted for 16% and 32% of our revenue during the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. International operations are subject
to a number of other risks, including:

• exchange rate fluctuations;

• political and economic instability, international terrorism, and anti-American sentiment, particularly in emerging markets;

• global or regional health crises, such as the lingering effects of the COVID-19 pandemic or other epidemics or outbreaks of other contagions;

• increasing military conflicts in Ukraine and the Middle East;

• potential for violations of anti-corruption laws and regulations, such as those related to bribery and fraud;

• preference for locally branded products, and laws and business practices favoring local competition;

• potential consequences of, and uncertainty related to, the “Brexit” process in the United Kingdom, which could lead to additional expense and complexity in doing business there;

• increased difficulty in managing inventory;

• delayed revenue recognition;

• the potential for less effective protection of intellectual property;

• stringent regulation of autonomous driving or other systems or products using our products and stringent consumer protection and product compliance regulations, including, but not limited,
to the General Data Protection Regulation, or GDPR, in the European Union, European competition law, the Restriction of Hazardous Substances Directive, or RoHS, the Waste Electrical
and Electronic Equipment Directive, or WEEE, and the European Ecodesign Directive, all of which are costly to comply with and may vary from country to country;

• difficulties and costs of staffing and managing foreign operations;

• import and export laws and the impact of tariffs;

• changes in local tax and customs duty laws or changes in the enforcement, application, or interpretation of such laws; and

• the U.S. government’s restrictions on technology transfers to certain countries.

The occurrence of any of these risks could negatively affect our international business and consequently our business, operating results, and financial condition.

The complexity of our products could result in unforeseen delays or expenses from undetected defects, errors, or reliability issues in our hardware or software which could reduce the market
adoption of our products, damage our reputation with current or prospective customers, expose us to product liability and other claims, and thereby adversely affect our operating costs.

Our products are highly technical, very complex, and require high standards to manufacture. Our products have in the past experienced, and will likely in the future experience, defects,
errors, or reliability issues at various stages of development, production, and use. We may be unable to timely release new products, manufacture existing products, correct problems that have arisen,
or correct such problems to our customers’ satisfaction. Additionally, undetected errors, defects, or security vulnerabilities, especially as new products are introduced or as new versions are released,
could result in serious injury to the end users of the technology incorporating our products, or those in the surrounding area, our customers never being able to commercialize technology
incorporating our products, litigation against us, negative publicity, and other consequences. These risks are
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particularly prevalent in the highly competitive autonomous driving and ADAS markets. Some errors or defects in our products may only be discovered after they have been tested, commercialized,
and deployed by customers. If that is the case, we may incur significant additional development costs and product recall, repair, or replacement costs. These problems may also result in claims,
including class actions, against us. Our reputation or brand may be damaged as a result of these problems and customers may be reluctant to buy our products thereafter, which could adversely affect
our ability to retain existing customers and attract new customers, and could adversely affect our financial results.

Our products are intended to be combined with third-party hardware and software as part of a larger system. These larger systems are also highly technical, complex, and require high
standards to manufacture. The third-party components incorporated into these larger systems, have been and will be subject to defects, errors, and reliability issues during development, production,
and use. Should these third-party components, which our products are intended to be combined with, fail or require action to correct defects or errors, it would likely delay the sale of the larger
system in which our products are to be incorporated, thereby adversely affecting our financial results. As the production of third-party components are largely outside of our control, we are subject to
such third parties investing sufficient time and resources to manufacture their products without minimal defects. For example, if a third-party reseller intended to overlay perception software on our
product prior to resale, but such perception software contained defects or errors such that it could not be introduced into the market, the sales of our products would be delayed or cancelled, thereby
adversely affecting our financial results.

In addition, we could face material legal claims for breach of contract, product liability, fraud, tort, or breach of warranty as a result. Defending a lawsuit, regardless of its merit, could be
costly and may divert management’s attention and adversely affect the market’s perception of us and our products. In addition, any insurance coverage we may have could prove inadequate with
respect to a claim and future coverage may be unavailable on acceptable terms, or at all. These product-related issues could result in claims against us and our business could be adversely affected.

We may be subject to product liability or warranty claims that could result in significant direct or indirect costs, which could adversely affect our business and operating results.

Our customers intend to use our solutions in autonomous driving and ADAS applications; the operation of motor vehicles, even with our solutions embedded, presents the risk of significant
injury, including fatalities. We may be subject to claims if a product using our lidar technology is involved in an accident and persons are injured or purport to be injured. Any insurance that we carry
may not be sufficient or it may not apply to all situations. Similarly, our customers could be subjected to claims as a result of such accidents and bring legal claims against us to attempt to hold us
liable. In addition, if lawmakers or governmental agencies were to determine that the use of our products, autonomous driving, or certain other ADAS applications, increased the risk of injury to all or
a subset of our customers, they may pass laws or adopt regulations that limit the use of our products, increase the liability associated with the use of our products, or regulate the use of or delay the
deployment of autonomous driving and ADAS technology. Any of these events could adversely affect our brand, relationships with customers, operating results, or financial condition.

Suppliers to automotive OEMs may require that we provide a warranty, either directly or indirectly, on our products, including our embedded software. The occurrence of any material
defects in our products during the warranty period could make us liable for damages and warranty claims. In addition, we could incur significant costs to correct any defects, warranty claims, or other
problems, including costs related to product recalls. Any negative publicity related to the perceived quality of our products could affect our brand image, partner and customer demand, and adversely
affect our operating results and financial condition. Also, warranty, recall and product liability claims may result in litigation, including class actions, the occurrence of which could be costly, lengthy,
and distracting, and adversely affect our business and operating results.

If we do not maintain sufficient inventory or if we do not adequately manage our inventory, we could lose sales or incur higher inventory-related expenses, including write-downs related to
obsolete or excess items, which could negatively affect our operating results.

To ensure adequate inventory, we must forecast inventory needs and expenses, place orders sufficiently in advance with our suppliers and manufacturing partners, and manufacture products
based on our estimates of future demand for particular products. Fluctuations in the adoption of lidar products may affect our ability to forecast our future operating results, including revenue, gross
margins, cash flows, and profitability. Our ability to accurately forecast demand for our products could be affected by many factors, including the accuracy of the forecasts that we receive from our
customers, the rapidly changing nature of the autonomous driving and ADAS markets in which we operate, the uncertainty surrounding the market acceptance and commercialization of lidar
technology, the emergence of new markets, an increase or decrease in customer demand for our products or for products and services of our competitors, product introductions by competitors, the
lingering effects of the COVID-19 pandemic,
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other epidemics or outbreaks of other contagions should they materialize, any work stoppages or interruptions, unanticipated changes in general market conditions, and the general weakening of
economic conditions or consumer confidence, which may be exacerbated by the on-going military actions in Ukraine and the Middle East. If our lidar products are commercialized in autonomous
driving and ADAS applications, both of which are experiencing rapid growth in demand, we may face challenges acquiring adequate supplies to manufacture our products and/or we and our
manufacturing partners may not be able to manufacture our products at a rate necessary to satisfy the levels of demand, which would negatively affect our revenue. This risk may be enhanced by the
fact that we may not carry or be able to obtain for our manufacturing partners a significant level of inventory to satisfy short-term increases in demand. If we fail to accurately forecast customer
demand, we may experience excess inventory levels or a shortage of products available-for-sale.

Inventory levels in excess of customer demand may result in inventory write-downs or write-offs and the sale of excess inventory at discounted prices, which would adversely affect our
financial results, including our gross margin, and have a negative effect on our brand. In the past, including in the fourth quarter of 2023, we took inventory write-downs for obsolete and excess
components associated with our decision to wind-down our industrial product line. Conversely, if we underestimate customer demand for our products, we, or our manufacturing partners, may not be
able to deliver products to meet our requirements, and this could result in damage to our brand and customer relationships, and adversely affect our revenue and operating results.

The average selling prices of our products or our fees or royalties from technology licenses could decrease rapidly over the life of the product or license term, which may negatively affect our
revenue and gross margin.

We may experience declines in the average selling prices of our products generally as our customers seek to commercialize autonomous systems at prices low enough to achieve market
acceptance or due to competitive pressures. In order to sell products that have a falling average unit selling price and maintain margins at the same time, we will need to continually reduce product
and manufacturing costs. To manage manufacturing costs, we and our Tier 1 partners must continually engineer the most cost-effective design for our products. In addition, we continuously drive
initiatives to reduce assembly cost, improve efficiency, reduce the cost of materials, use fewer materials, and further lower overall product costs by carefully managing component prices, inventory,
and shipping costs. We also need to continually introduce new and competitive products in order to maintain our overall gross margin. We may also experience declines in fees or royalties from
licensing our technology as customers reduce the prices of products incorporating our licensed technology in order to achieve market acceptance or due to competitive pressures. If we are unable to
manage the cost structure of our products, successfully introduce new products with higher gross margins, and develop new technology that we can license at attractive royalty rates, our revenue and
overall gross margin would likely decline.

Adverse conditions in the automotive industry or downturns in domestic or global economic conditions, or other macroeconomic factors more generally, could have adverse effects on our results
of operations.

While we make our strategic planning decisions based on the assumption that the markets we are targeting will grow, our business is dependent, in large part on, and directly affected by,
business cycles and other factors affecting the global automotive industry and the global economy generally. Automotive production and sales are highly cyclical and depend on general economic
conditions and other factors, including consumer spending and preferences, changes in interest rates (which have recently seen significant increases) and credit availability, changes in inflation rates
(which the U.S. has recently experienced), consumer confidence, fuel costs, fuel availability, environmental impact, governmental incentives and regulatory requirements, and political volatility,
especially in energy-producing countries and growth markets. Increases in interest rates, especially if coupled with reduced government spending and volatility in financial markets, may have the
effect of further increasing economic uncertainty and heightening these risks, which may impact our ability to raise additional capital in the future. The March 2023 failure of Silicon Valley Bank and
its potential near- and long-term effects on the technology industry and its participants such as our vendors, suppliers, and investors, may also adversely affect our operations and stock price. In
addition, the recent outbreak of hostilities between Russia and Ukraine, the war in the Middle East, and global reactions thereto have increased U.S. domestic and global energy prices. Oil supply
disruptions related to the Russia-Ukraine conflict, and sanctions and other measures taken by the U.S. and its allies, could lead to higher costs for gas, food, and goods in the U.S. and exacerbate the
inflationary pressures on the economy, with potentially adverse impacts on our customers and on our business, results of operations, and financial condition. Moreover, certain raw materials needed to
produce components that are incorporated into our products, and the products of our customers, are primarily derived in the region in which the Russia-Ukraine conflict is occurring. The longer the
Russia-Ukraine conflict continues and the more damage to Ukrainian infrastructure that occurs, the greater the impact could be on the supply of such raw materials, and the failure to have access to
such raw materials could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations. In addition, the Cybersecurity and Infrastructure Security Agency, or CISA, has warned all organizations in
the U.S. to be on guard against possible cyber attacks coming from Russia which has the potential to disrupt business operations, limit access to essential services, and threaten public safety.
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Automotive production and sales can also be affected by our automotive OEM and Tier 1 supplier customers’ ability to continue operating in response to challenging economic conditions
and in response to labor relations issues, regulatory requirements, trade agreements, and other factors, such as the unavailability of unrelated components in the assembly of automobiles, an example
of which is the shortage of semiconductors necessary for automobile production. The volume of automotive production in North America, Europe, and the rest of the world has fluctuated, sometimes
significantly, from year to year, and we expect such fluctuations to give rise to fluctuations in the demand for our products and licenses of our technology. Any significant adverse change in any of
these factors may result in a reduction in automotive sales and production by our automotive OEM and Tier 1 supplier customers and could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, and financial condition.

Customers with which we enter into supply agreements may require changes to our products or may be subject to renegotiation or termination in a short time period, which would materially and
adversely affect our business.

If we and our partners are able to secure design wins so that our solutions are included in autonomous driving and ADAS products, we expect that we, or our Tier 1 partners will enter into
supply agreements with that customer. Market practice dictates that these supply agreements typically require us to supply a customer’s requirements for a particular vehicle model or autonomous
driving or ADAS product, rather than supply a set number of products. These arrangements can have short terms, be subject to renegotiation, or may be reduced or otherwise terminated, the
occurrence of any of which may affect product pricing and future profitability. Therefore, even if we are successful in obtaining design wins, and we or our Tier 1 partners are able to enter into
definitive agreements with OEMs, and the systems into which our products are built are commercialized, the discontinuation of, the loss of business with respect to, or a lack of commercial success of
a particular vehicle model or technology package for which we are a significant supplier could mean that the expected sales of our products will not materialize, materially and adversely affecting our
business.

Since many of the markets in which we compete are new and rapidly evolving, it is difficult to forecast long-term end-customer adoption rates and demand for our products.

We are pursuing opportunities in markets that are undergoing rapid changes, including technological and regulatory changes, and it is difficult to predict the timing and size of the
opportunities. For example, autonomous driving and lidar-based ADAS applications require the utilization of complex technology. Because these systems depend on technology from many
companies, commercialization of autonomous driving or ADAS products could be delayed or impaired on account of certain technological components not being ready to be deployed in automobiles.
We are in the process of developing necessary relationships with commercial partners which may not result in the commercialization of our technology immediately, or at all. Regulatory, safety, or
reliability developments, many of which are outside of our control, could also cause delays or otherwise impair commercial adoption of these new technologies, which will adversely affect our
growth. Our future financial performance will depend on our ability to make timely investments in emerging market opportunities. If one or more of these markets experience a shift in customer or
prospective customer demand, our products may not compete as effectively, if at all, and they may not be designed into commercialized products. Given the evolving nature of the markets in which
we operate, it is difficult to predict customer demand or adoption rates for our products or the future growth of these markets. If demand does not develop or if we cannot accurately forecast customer
demand, the size or timing of our markets, inventory requirements, or our future financial results, our business, results of operations, and financial condition will be adversely affected.

We currently have and target many customers that are large corporations with substantial negotiating power, exacting product standards, and potentially competitive internal solutions. If we are
unable to sell our products to these customers, our prospects and results of operations will be adversely affected.

Many of our current and potential customers are large, multinational corporations with substantial negotiating power relative to us and, in some instances, may have internal solutions that are
competitive to our products. These large, multinational corporations also have significant development resources, which may allow them to acquire or develop independently, or in partnership with
others, competitive technologies. Meeting the technical requirements and securing design wins with any of these companies will require a substantial investment of our time and resources. We cannot
assure you that our products will secure design wins from these or other companies or that we will generate meaningful revenue from the sales of our products to these key potential customers. If our
products are not selected by these potential customers or if these potential customers develop or acquire competitive technology, it will have an adverse effect on our business.
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Our business could be materially and adversely affected if we lost any of our large customers or strategic partners, if their demand for our products declined due to factors outside of our control,
including component shortages (whether related to our products or otherwise) that impact our customers’ overall production plans or product development plans, or if our customers were
unable to pay their invoices.

Although we have and continue to pursue a broad customer base, we are dependent on a collection of customer relationships which are currently in development with strong purchasing
power. Continental AG accounted for approximately 70% and 51% of our annual revenue in the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. At the end of 2023, Continental informed us
of its decision to end our existing arrangement as our Tier 1 supplier. The loss of business from any of our major customers (whether by lower overall demand for our products, component shortages
that impact our customers’ production plans or product development plans, cancellation of existing contracts or product orders, or the failure to design in our products, or an award of initial or new
business) could have a material adverse effect on our business.

To the extent autonomous vehicle and ADAS become accepted by major automotive OEMs, we expect that we will rely increasingly for our revenue on Tier 1 suppliers through which
automotive OEMs procure components. We expect that these Tier 1 suppliers will be responsible for certain hardware and software configuration activities specific to each automotive OEM, and they
may not exclusively carry our solutions.

There is also a risk that one or more of our major customers could be unable to pay our invoices as they become due or that a customer will simply refuse to make such payments if it
experiences financial difficulties. If our customers face financial difficulties, they may also cancel current or future product programs that could materially and adversely impact our financial results.
If a major customer were to enter into bankruptcy proceedings or similar proceedings whereby contractual commitments are subject to a stay and the possibility of modifications, we could be forced
to record a substantial loss.

If we are unable to establish and maintain confidence in our long-term business prospects among customers and analysts within our industry or we are subject to negative publicity, then our
financial condition, operating results, business prospects, and access to capital may suffer materially.

Customers may be less likely to purchase our lidar solutions if they are not convinced that our business will succeed or that our service and support and other operations will continue in the
long term.

Similarly, suppliers and other third parties will be less likely to invest time and resources in developing business relationships with us if they are not convinced that our business will succeed.
Accordingly, in order to build and maintain our business, we must maintain confidence among customers, suppliers, analysts, ratings agencies, and others in our products, long-term financial viability,
and business prospects. Maintaining such confidence may be particularly complicated by certain factors including those that are largely outside of our control, such as our limited operating history,
our ability to continue funding the business through to profitability, customer familiarity with our lidar solutions, any delays in scaling production, delivery, and service operations to meet demand,
competition, uncertainty regarding the future of autonomous vehicles, and our production and sales performance compared with market expectations.

Our investments in educating our customers and potential customers about the advantages of lidar and our applications may not result in sales of our products.

Educating our prospective customers, and to a lesser extent, our existing customers, about lidar, our advantages over other sensing technologies, and lidar’s ability to convey value in
different industries and deployments is an integral part of developing new business and the lidar market generally. If prospective customers have a negative perception of, or experience with, lidar, or
a competitor’s lidar products, they may be reluctant to adopt lidar in general or specifically our products. Adverse statements about lidar by influential market participants may also deter adoption.
Some of our competitors have significant financial or marketing resources that may allow them to engage in public marketing campaigns about their alternative technology, lidar generally, or our
solutions specifically. Our efforts to educate potential customers and the market generally, and to counter any adverse statements made by competitors or other market participants, will require
significant financial and personnel resources. These educational efforts may not be successful, and we may not be in a position to offset the costs of such efforts with revenue from new customers. If
we are unable to acquire new customers to offset these expenses or if the market accepts such adverse statements, our financial condition will be adversely affected.

We operate in a highly competitive market involving emerging technology. We compete against a number of competitors, some of whom have substantially greater resources than us.

The markets for sensing technology applicable to autonomous solutions across numerous industries are highly competitive. Our future success will depend on our ability to achieve a
leadership position in our targeted
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markets by continuing to develop, and protect from infringement, advanced lidar technology in a timely manner and to stay ahead of existing and new competitors. Our competitors compete with us
directly by offering lidar products and indirectly by attempting to solve some of the same challenges with different technologies. Our current and future competitors may enjoy competitive
advantages, such as greater name recognition, established relationships, or existing contracts with Tier 1 suppliers and/or OEMs, and substantially greater financial, technical, and other resources. We
face competition from a number of sources including camera and radar companies, other developers of lidar products, Tier 1 suppliers, and other technology and automotive supply companies. In the
Automotive market, our competitors have commercialized both lidar and non-lidar-based ADAS technology that has achieved market adoption, strong brand recognition, and is expected to improve
over time. Other competitors are working towards commercializing autonomous driving technology and either by themselves, or with a publicly announced partner, and have substantial financial,
marketing, R&D, and other resources. Some of our customers in the autonomous vehicle and ADAS markets have announced development efforts or made acquisitions directed at creating their own
lidar-based or other sensing technologies, which would compete with our solutions. We do not know how close these competitors are to commercializing autonomous driving systems or novel ADAS
applications. In markets outside of the automotive industry, our competitors seek to develop new sensing applications across industries. Even in these emerging markets, we face substantial
competition from numerous competitors seeking to prove the value of their technology.

Additionally, competition may result in pricing pressure and reduced margins, and may impede our ability to secure design wins, successfully enter into definitive agreements or other
commercial arrangements, or successfully commercialize our products at scale, which may prevent us from achieving our projected market share. In particular, our competitors have in the past
offered, and may in the future offer, their products and services on terms that we and/or our Tier 1 partners are unwilling to match, or our competitors could introduce new products with competitive
price and performance characteristics, which may adversely affect our market share.

The markets in which we compete are characterized by rapid technological change, which requires us to continue to develop new products and product innovations, and could adversely affect
market adoption of our products.

While we intend to invest substantial resources to remain on the forefront of technological development, continuing technological changes in sensing technology and lidar, and the markets
for these products, including the ADAS and autonomous driving space, could adversely affect adoption of lidar and/or our products, either generally or for particular applications. Our future success
will depend upon our ability to develop and introduce a variety of new capabilities and innovations to our existing product offerings, as well as introduce a variety of new product offerings, to address
the changing needs of the markets in which we offer our products. We cannot guarantee that such new products will be released in a timely manner, or at all, or achieve market acceptance. Delays in
delivering new products that meet customer requirements could damage our relationships with customers and lead them to seek alternative sources of supply. In addition, to date, we have focused on
the delivery of our solutions to R&D programs in which developers are investing substantial capital to develop new systems that incorporate our solutions. Our future success relies heavily on the
outcome of the R&D efforts by these customers. As autonomous technology reaches the stage of large-scale commercialization, we will be required to develop and deliver solutions at price points
that enable wider and ultimately mass-market adoption. Delays in introducing products and innovations, the failure to choose correctly among technical alternatives, or the failure to offer innovative
products or configurations at competitive prices may cause existing and potential customers to purchase our competitors’ products or turn to alternative sensing technologies.

If we are unable to devote adequate resources to develop products or cannot otherwise successfully develop products or system configurations that meet customer requirements on a timely
basis or that remain competitive with alternatives, our products will lose market share, our revenue will decline, we will experience operating losses, and our business and prospects will be adversely
affected.

Developments in alternative technologies may adversely affect the demand for our technology.

Significant developments in alternative technologies, such as cameras and radar, may materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition, and operating results in
ways we do not currently anticipate. Existing and future camera and radar technologies may emerge as customers’ preferred alternative to our solutions. Any failure by us to develop new or enhanced
technologies or processes, or to react to changes in existing technologies, could materially delay our development and introduction of new and enhanced products in the autonomous vehicle industry,
which could result in the loss of competitiveness of our lidar solutions, decreased revenue, and a loss of market share to competitors (or a failure to increase revenue and/or market share). Our R&D
efforts may not be sufficient to adapt to changes in technology. As technologies change, we plan to upgrade or adapt our lidar solutions with the latest technology. However, our solutions may not
compete effectively with alternative systems if we are not able to source and integrate the latest technology into our existing lidar solutions.
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The Common Stock Purchase Agreement, or CSPA, we entered into with Tumim Stone Capital LLC, or Tumim Stone, in December 2021 contains contractual limitations that may not allow us
to draw all of the $125 million committed under the CSPA and to the extent we do draw under the CSPA, existing stockholders will be diluted.

In December 2021, we entered into the CSPA with Tumim Stone pursuant to which Tumim Stone committed to purchase, subject to certain limitations, up to $125 million of our common
stock should we elect to sell our common stock to them. On May 6, 2022, we filed a Registration Statement on Form S-1, which originally related to the offer and resale of up to 30,865,419 shares of
our common stock, or 1,028,847 shares of our common stock following the Reverse Stock Split, to be purchased by Tumim Stone, pursuant to the CSPA. Should we decide to sell our common stock
to Tumim Stone, stockholders will experience dilution of their interest in us, which dilution will be heightened if the price at which we sell common stock is low, as there is no minimum price at
which we can sell our common stock under the CSPA. Moreover, under the CSPA, with some exceptions, we can only sell to Tumim Stone the lesser of: (i) a total of 1,028,847 post-split shares of our
common stock or (ii) a number of shares where Tumim Stone would own no more than 9.99% of our outstanding shares, which at March 20, 2024 we had 6,502,979 total shares outstanding. At
values below $121.50 per share post-split, we would likely not be in a position to realize the full commitment of $125 million under the CSPA and existing stockholders would experience significant
dilution. As of December 31, 2023, the Company has issued 67,754 post-split shares of its common stock under the CSPA for proceeds of $3.0 million. Therefore, the actual number of shares we will
be able to sell to Tumim Stone, the amount of dilution our stockholders will experience upon the sale of our common stock under the CSPA, and the total proceeds that we will derive from such sales,
cannot be determined at this time.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, our ability to produce timely and accurate financial statements or comply with applicable regulations could be adversely affected.

We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and the rules and regulations of Nasdaq. We expect that the
requirements of these rules and regulations will continue to increase our legal, accounting, and financial compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time-consuming, and costly, and place
significant strain on our personnel, systems, and resources.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting. We are continuing to
develop and refine our disclosure controls, internal control over financial reporting, and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that
we will file with the SEC are recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the rules of and on the forms required by the SEC, and that information required to be
disclosed in reports under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our principal executive and financial officers.

Our current controls, and any new controls that we develop, may be inadequate because of changes in conditions in our business. Further, weaknesses in our internal controls may be
discovered in the future. Any failure to develop or maintain effective controls, or any difficulties encountered in their implementation or improvement, could adversely affect our operating results or
cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations, and may result in a restatement of our financial statements for prior periods. Any failure to implement and maintain effective internal controls also
could adversely affect the results of periodic management evaluations and annual independent registered public accounting firm attestation reports regarding the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting that we are required to include in the periodic reports we will file with the SEC under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Ineffective disclosure controls and procedures
and a lack of internal control over financial reporting could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial and other information.

In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and our internal control over financial reporting, we have expended, and anticipate that we will
continue to expend, significant resources, including accounting-related costs, and provide significant management oversight. Any failure to maintain the adequacy of our internal controls, or
consequent inability to produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis, could increase our operating costs and could materially and adversely affect our ability to operate our business. If our
internal controls are perceived as inadequate or that we are unable to produce timely or accurate financial statements, investors may lose confidence in our operating results and the price of our
common stock could decline.

Our independent registered public accounting firm is not required to formally attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting until after we are no longer an
emerging growth company. At such time, our independent registered public accounting firm may issue a report that is adverse in the event it is not satisfied with the level at which our controls are
documented, designed, or operating. Any failure to maintain effective disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting could have a material and adverse effect on our business and
operating results.
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A significant portion of the components used in our products are manufactured abroad, which subjects us to various international risks and costs, including foreign trade issues, currency
exchange rate fluctuations, shipment delays, supply chain disruptions, and political instability, any of which could adversely affect our business and financial condition.

Most of our products, and the components thereof, are manufactured abroad. Relying on foreign-produced products subjects us to risks relating to changes in import duties, quotas, the
potential for introduction of U.S. taxes on imported goods, the potential loss of “most favored nation” status with the U.S., and freight cost increases, as well as economic and political uncertainties.
We may also experience shipment delays caused by shipping port constraints, labor strikes, work stoppages, acts of war, including the current conflicts in Ukraine and in the Middle East, and
terrorism, or other supply chain disruptions, including those caused by extreme weather, natural disasters, and pandemics or other public health concerns. Specifically, the lingering effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic has caused delays in the manufacturing and shipping of our products and the associated raw materials. To the extent the lingering effects of the COVID-19 pandemic results in
continuation or worsening of manufacturing and shipping delays and constraints, our suppliers will continue to have challenges obtaining the materials necessary for the production of our products.

If any of these or other factors, including trade tensions between the U.S. and other nations, including China and Russia, as a result of the war in Ukraine or otherwise, were to cause a
disruption of trade from other countries, and in particular, Taiwan, our ability to source products, components, or raw materials could be adversely affected. We may need to seek alternative suppliers
or vendors, which may not be available, or make changes to our operations, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, or financial condition. Also, the
prices charged by foreign manufacturers for production or the acquisition of raw materials or components, may be affected by the fluctuation of their local currency against the U.S. dollar, which
could cause the cost of our products to increase and negatively impact our business. In addition, if the supply of components for our products becomes more limited than we anticipated, competition
to acquire the limited supply of components will drive prices higher than planned, negatively impacting our cash flows and gross margins.

Changes in tax laws or exposure to additional income tax liabilities could affect our future profitability.

Factors that could materially affect our future effective tax rates include, but are not limited, to:

• changes in tax laws (including tax rates) or the regulatory environment;

• changes in accounting and tax standards or practices;

• changes in the composition of operating income by tax jurisdiction; and

• our operating results before taxes.

Because we do not have a long history of operating at our present scale and we have significant expansion plans, our effective tax rate may fluctuate in the future. Future effective tax rates
could be affected by operating losses in jurisdictions where no tax benefit can be recorded under GAAP, changes in the composition of earnings in countries with differing tax rates, changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities, or changes in tax laws.

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, or the Tax Act, was signed into law making significant changes to the U.S. Tax Code. In particular, sweeping changes were made
to the U.S. taxation of foreign operations. Changes include, but are not limited to, a permanent reduction to the corporate income tax rate, limiting interest deductions, adopting elements of a
territorial tax system, assessing a repatriation tax or “toll-charge” on undistributed earnings and profits of U.S.-owned foreign corporations, and introducing certain anti-base erosion provisions,
including a new minimum tax on global intangible low-taxed income, or GILTI, and base erosion and anti-abuse tax, or BEAT. The new legislation had no effect on our 2023 or 2022 provision for
income taxes because we generated net tax losses and offset our deferred tax assets on the consolidated balance sheets with a full valuation allowance due to our current loss position and forecasted
losses for the near future. The overall impact of this tax reform is uncertain, and our business and financial condition, including with respect to our non-U.S. operations, could be adversely affected.

In addition to the impact of the Tax Act on our federal taxes, the Tax Act may impact our taxation in other jurisdictions, including with respect to state income taxes. State legislatures have
generally not responded to the Tax Act. Accordingly, there is uncertainty as to how the laws will apply in the various state jurisdictions. Additionally, other foreign governing bodies may enact
changes to their tax laws in reaction to the Tax Act that could result in changes to our global tax position and materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial
condition. Additionally, the Internal Revenue Service, or IRS, and several foreign tax authorities have increasingly focused attention on intercompany transfer pricing with respect to sales of products
and services and the
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use of intangibles. Tax authorities could disagree with our future intercompany charges, cross-jurisdictional transfer pricing, or other matters and assess additional taxes. If we do not prevail in any
such disagreements, our profitability may be affected.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.

As of December 31, 2023, we had approximately $248 million of U.S. federal, and approximately $203 million of state net operating loss carryforwards available to reduce future taxable
income. Of the approximately $248 million in U.S. federal operating loss carryforwards, approximately $236 million will be carried forward indefinitely for U.S. federal tax purposes and
approximately $12 million will begin to expire in 2033. All of our U.S. state net operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2029. It is possible that we will not generate taxable income in
time to use these net operating loss carryforwards before their expiration, or at all. Under legislative changes made in December 2017, U.S. federal net operating losses incurred in 2018 and in future
years may be carried forward indefinitely, but the deductibility of such net operating losses is limited. It is uncertain if and to what extent various states will conform to the newly enacted federal tax
law. In addition, the federal and state net operating loss carryforwards and certain tax credits may be subject to significant limitations under Section 382 and Section 383 of the U.S. Tax Code,
respectively, and similar provisions of state law. Under those sections of the U.S. Tax Code, if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change,” the corporation’s ability to use our pre-change net
operating loss carryforwards and other pre-change attributes, such as research tax credits, to offset our post-change income or tax may be limited. In general, an “ownership change” will occur if there
is a cumulative change in our ownership by “5-percent shareholders” that exceeds 50 percentage points over a rolling three-year period. Similar rules may apply under state tax laws.

We are highly dependent on the services of our executive officers.

We are highly dependent on our executive officers, in particular, Matthew Fisch, our Chief Executive Officer, Andrew S. Hughes, our General Counsel, and Conor Tierney, our Chief
Financial Officer. The loss of any of our executive officers or other senior executives could adversely affect our business because the loss could make it more difficult to, among other things, compete
with other market participants, continue to develop innovative product designs, and retain existing customers or cultivate new ones. Negative public perception of, or negative news related to any of
our executive officers or senior executives may adversely affect our brand, relationship with customers, or standing in the industry. In the past, we have lost the services of some of our executive
officers for various reasons, including the departure of Luis C. Dussan as of November 15, 2023, who, until that time, was our Chief Technology Officer and Chief Product Strategist, but continues as
a member of our Board of Directors, and T.R. Ramachandran, who resigned, effective April 5, 2024, as our Chief Operating Officer.

Our business depends substantially on the efforts of our executive officers and highly skilled personnel, and our operations may be severely disrupted if we lost their services.

Competition for highly skilled personnel is often intense, especially in the San Francisco Bay Area, where we are headquartered, and we may incur significant costs to attract the highly
skilled personnel we require. We may not be successful in attracting, integrating, or retaining qualified personnel to fulfill our current or future needs. We have, from time to time, experienced, and we
expect to continue to experience, difficulty in hiring and retaining highly skilled employees with appropriate qualifications, especially those with engineering skills. Our ability to attract and retain the
highly skilled personnel we require has been further hampered by the overall reductions in personnel we have implemented, which places more responsibility on fewer individuals, our focus on cash
conservation, which has limited our ability to provide increases in compensation, and the decline in our stock price, which has decreased the retention value of the stock awards we have made to our
employees. Moreover, with the personnel reductions we have implemented, it may create, in some instances, single points of failure, such that if certain individuals voluntarily resign from the
Company, it may adversely impact, or significantly delay, our ability to bring our products to market, which would severely impact our operations and have an adverse impact on our business
prospects.

In addition, job candidates and existing employees often consider the value of the equity awards they receive in connection with their employment. If the perceived value of our equity or our
equity awards decline, which has occurred in the past and may continue into the future, it may adversely affect our ability to retain highly skilled employees. If we fail to attract new personnel or we
fail to retain and motivate our current personnel, our business and future growth prospects could be adversely affected.

Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakes, fires, floods, and other natural catastrophic events, pandemics, and interruptions by manufactured events, such as terrorism. Material
disruptions of our business or information systems resulting from these events could adversely affect our operating results.

A significant natural disaster, such as an earthquake, fire, flood, hurricane, or significant power outage or
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other similar events, such as infectious disease outbreaks or pandemic events, including the lingering effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, could have an adverse effect on our business and operating
results. The lingering effects of the COVID-19 pandemic may have the effect of heightening many of the other risks described in this “Risk Factors” section, such as the demand for our products, our
ability to achieve or maintain profitability, and our ability to raise additional capital in the future. Our corporate headquarters and major operations are located in the San Francisco Bay Area of
California, which experienced, and could experience again, a high number of COVID-19 pandemic cases and is also a region known for significant seismic activity. In addition, natural disasters, acts
of terrorism, or war could cause disruptions in our operations, our or our customers’ or channel partners’ businesses, our suppliers’ businesses, or the economy as a whole. We also rely on information
technology systems to communicate among our workforce and with third parties. Any disruption to our communications, whether caused by a natural disaster or by manufactured events, such as
power disruptions, could adversely affect our business. We do not have a formal disaster recovery plan or policy in place and do not currently require that our suppliers have such plans or policies in
place. To the extent that any such disruptions result in delays or cancellations of orders or impede our suppliers’ ability to timely deliver components, or the deployment of our products, our business,
operating results, and financial condition would be adversely affected.

Interruption or failure of our information technology and communications systems could impact our ability to effectively provide services we may implement in the future.

We may, in the future, include in-vehicle services and functionality that utilize data connectivity to monitor performance and timely capture opportunities to enhance performance and
functionality. The availability and effectiveness of our services depend on the continued operation of information technology and communications systems. Our systems will be vulnerable to damage
or interruption from, among others, physical theft, fire, terrorist attacks, natural disasters, power loss, war, telecommunication failures, viruses, denial or degradation of service attacks, ransomware,
social engineering schemes, insider theft or misuse, or other attempts to harm our systems. We primarily utilize reputable third-party service providers and vendors for our data, including among other
things, financial data, human resources data, manufacturing and production data, sales data, and electronic mail, other than for our source code and related materials that are managed internally. These
third-party providers could also be vulnerable to issues similar to those that could damage our systems, including sabotage and intentional acts of vandalism causing potential disruptions. Some of our
systems will not be fully redundant, and our disaster recovery planning cannot account for all eventualities. Any problems with our third-party cloud hosting providers could result in lengthy
interruptions in our business. In addition, our future in-vehicle services and functionality, if developed and deployed, are expected to be highly technical and complex technology which may contain
errors or vulnerabilities that could result in interruptions in our business or the failure of our systems.

We, as well as our suppliers and partners, are subject to cybersecurity risks to operational systems, security systems, infrastructure, integrated software in our lidar solutions, and the data
processed by those solutions, and any material failure, weakness, interruption, cyber event, incident, or breach of security could adversely affect our business by causing a disruption of our
operations, a compromise or corruption of our confidential or other business-critical information, and/or damage our business relationships, all of which could negatively impact our business
financial condition, and operating results.

We are at risk for interruptions, outages, and breaches of our operational systems, including our business, financial, accounting, product development, and production processes, owned by us,
our suppliers. or our partners; our facility security systems, owned by us, our suppliers, or our partners; our in-product technology owned by us, our suppliers, or our partners; the integrated software
in our lidar solutions; or the data that we process or our suppliers process on our behalf. In mid-2022, our previous partner, Continental, experienced a cyberattack in which data was improperly taken
from their servers. To date, Continental has not notified us that any data belonging to us was compromised. A cyber incident is considered to be any adverse event that threatens the confidentiality,
integrity, or availability of our information resources. These incidents may be an intentional attack or an unintentional event and could involve gaining unauthorized access to our information systems
or those of our third-party vendors for purposes of misappropriating assets, stealing confidential information, corrupting data, or causing operational disruption. Such cyber incidents could materially
disrupt operational systems; result in loss of intellectual property, trade secrets or other proprietary or competitively sensitive information; compromise certain information of employees, suppliers, or
others; jeopardize the security of our facilities; or affect the performance of in-product technology and the integrated software in our lidar solutions. A cyber incident could be caused by disasters,
insiders (through inadvertence or with malicious intent), or malicious third parties (including nation-states or nation-state supported actors) using sophisticated, targeted methods to circumvent
firewalls, encryption, and other security defenses, including hacking, fraud, trickery, phishing, or other forms of deception. The risks of a cybersecurity breach against companies based in the U.S.,
like us, may be enhanced as a byproduct of the on-going war in Ukraine, or by state-sponsored actors, primarily located in, or sponsored by, China, Russia, or North Korea. Despite careful security
and controls design, our information technology systems and the systems used by our third-party vendors, may be subject to security breaches and cyberattacks the result of which could include
disrupted operations, misstated or unreliable financial data, liability for stolen assets or information, increased cybersecurity
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protection and insurance costs, litigation, and damage to business relationships.

The techniques used by cyber attackers change frequently and may be difficult to detect for long periods of time. Continental, for example, failed to provide notice of the mid-2022 breach to
us for about one month. Although we maintain information technology measures designed to protect us against intellectual property theft, data breaches, and other cyber incidents, such measures will
require continual updates and improvements, and we cannot guarantee that such measures will be adequate to detect, prevent, or mitigate cyber incidents. The implementation, maintenance,
segregation, and improvement of these systems requires significant management time, support, and cost. Moreover, there are inherent risks associated with developing, improving, expanding, and
updating current systems, including the disruption of our data management, procurement, production execution, finance, supply chain, and sales and service processes. These risks may affect our
ability to manage our data and inventory; procure parts or supplies; produce, sell, deliver, or service our solutions; adequately protect our intellectual property; or achieve and maintain compliance
with, or realize available benefits under, applicable laws, regulations, and contracts. We cannot be sure that the systems upon which we rely, including those of our third-party vendors or suppliers,
will be effectively implemented, maintained, or expanded as planned. If we do not successfully implement, maintain, or expand these systems as planned, our operations may be disrupted, our ability
to accurately and timely report our financial results could be impaired, and deficiencies may arise in our internal control over financial reporting, which may impact our ability to certify our financial
results. Moreover, our proprietary information or intellectual property could be compromised or misappropriated, and our reputation may be adversely affected. If these systems do not operate as we
expect them to, we may be required to expend significant resources to make corrections or find alternative sources for performing these functions. We have implemented processes, procedures, and
internal controls to help mitigate cybersecurity risks and cyber intrusions, but these measures, as well as our increased awareness of the nature and extent of a risk of a cyber-incident, do not guarantee
that a cyber-incident will not occur and/or that our financial results, operations, or confidential information will not be negatively impacted by such an incident. Further, the remote working conditions
resulting from the cultural shifts during and after the COVID-19 pandemic have heightened our vulnerability to a cybersecurity risk or incident.

A significant cyber incident could impact production capability, harm our reputation, cause us to breach our contracts with other parties, or subject us to regulatory actions and litigation, any
of which could materially affect our business, prospects, financial condition, and operating results. In addition, our insurance coverage for cyber-attacks may not be sufficient to cover all the losses we
may experience as a result of a cyber incident.

Our cash and cash equivalents could be adversely affected if the financial institutions in which we hold our cash and cash equivalents fail.

We regularly maintain cash balances at third-party financial institutions, including Silicon Valley Bank, or SVB, in excess of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insurance limit.
When SVB was seized by regulators in March of 2023, we maintained our operating account at SVB, Shortly after the seizure by regulators, all of our funds were returned to us. Had the funds not
been returned to us, it would have had a significant impact on our liquidity. We continue to maintain an operating account at SVB, but have established operating accounts at other financial
institutions as well to mitigate the risk of any one bank failure. However, the failure of any depository institution to return any of our deposits, or if a depository institution is subject to other adverse
conditions in the financial or credit markets, could impact access to our cash or cash equivalents and could adversely impact our operating liquidity and financial performance.

As part of growing our business, we may make acquisitions. If we fail to successfully select, execute, or integrate our acquisitions, then our business, results of operations, and financial
condition could be materially and adversely affected, and our stock price could decline.

From time to time, we may undertake acquisitions to add new products and technologies, acquire talent, gain new sales channels, or enter into new markets or sales territories. In addition to
possible stockholder approval, we may need approvals and licenses from relevant governmental authorities for the acquisitions and to comply with any applicable laws and regulations, which could
result in increased delays and costs, and may disrupt our business strategy if we fail to obtain such required approvals. Furthermore, acquisitions and the subsequent integration of new assets,
businesses, key personnel, customers, vendors, and suppliers will require significant attention from our management and could result in a diversion of resources from our existing business, which in
turn could have an adverse effect on our operations. Acquired assets or businesses may not generate the financial results we expect. Acquisitions could result in the use of substantial amounts of cash,
potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities, the occurrence of significant goodwill impairment charges, amortization expenses for other intangible assets, and exposure to potential unknown
liabilities of the acquired business. Moreover, the costs of identifying and closing acquisitions may be significant.

To date, we have very limited experience with acquisitions and the integration of acquired technology and
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personnel. Failure to successfully identify, complete, manage, and integrate acquisitions could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations and could
cause our stock price to decline.

Legal and Regulatory Risks Related to Our Business

We are subject to governmental import and export control laws and regulations. Our failure to comply with these laws and regulations could have an adverse effect on our business, prospects,
financial condition, and results of operations.

Our products and solutions are subject to import and export laws and regulations, including the U.S. Export Administration Regulations, other regulations issued by U.S. Customs and Border
Protection, and various economic and trade sanctions administered by the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control. U.S. export control laws and regulations and economic
sanctions prohibit the shipment of certain products and services to U.S. embargoed or sanctioned countries, and specified persons and entities. In addition, complying with export control and
sanctions regulations for a particular sale may be time-consuming and result in the delay or loss of sales opportunities. Exports of our products and technology must be made in compliance with these
laws and regulations. If we fail to comply with these laws and regulations, we and certain of our employees could be subject to substantial civil or criminal penalties, including the possible loss of
export or import privileges, and fines, which may be imposed on us and the employees or officers responsible to prohibit such shipments and, in extreme cases, the incarceration of the employees or
officers responsible.

Changes to trade policy, tariffs, and import/export regulations may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Changes in global political, regulatory, and economic conditions or in laws and policies governing foreign trade, manufacturing, development, and investment in the territories or countries
where we currently purchase our components, sell our products, and conduct our business, could adversely affect our business. The U.S. has recently instituted or proposed changes in trade policies
that include the negotiation or termination of trade agreements, the imposition of higher tariffs on imports into the U.S., economic sanctions on individuals, corporations, and countries, and other
government regulations affecting trade between the U.S. and other countries where we conduct our business. A number of other nations have proposed or instituted similar measures directed at trade
with the U.S. in response. As a result of these developments, there may be greater restrictions and economic disincentives on international trade that could adversely affect our business. For example,
such changes could adversely affect the Automotive market, our ability to access key components or raw materials needed to manufacture our products (including rare-earth metals), our ability to sell
our products or license our product designs and software to customers outside of the U.S., and the overall demand for our products. It may be time-consuming and expensive for us to alter our
business operations to adapt to or comply with any such changes, and any failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We have and may become involved in legal and regulatory proceedings and commercial or contractual disputes, which could have an adverse effect on our profitability and consolidated
financial position.

We have been and may be, from time to time, involved in litigation, regulatory proceedings, and commercial or contractual disputes that may be significant. These matters may include
disputes with our suppliers and customers, intellectual property claims, stockholder litigation, government investigations, class action lawsuits, personal injury claims, environmental issues, customs
and value-added tax disputes, and employment and tax issues. In early 2023, we discovered that there may have been some uncertainty with respect to the validity of our Second Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation, which was approved by our stockholders at the special meeting of stockholders held on August 12, 2021. While this matter has been fully resolved, we cannot
provide assurances that other matters similar in nature may not arise in the future.

We could face in the future, a variety of labor and employment claims against us, which could include, but is not limited to, general discrimination, wage and hour, privacy, ERISA, or
disability claims. In such matters, government agencies or private parties may seek to recover from us very large, indeterminate amounts in penalties or monetary damages (including, in some cases,
treble or punitive damages), or seek to limit our operations in some way.

Any of these types of lawsuits, whether initiated by us or a third party, could require significant management time and attention or could involve substantial legal liability, adverse regulatory
outcomes, and/or substantial expenses to defend. Often these cases raise complex factual and legal issues and create risks and uncertainties. No assurances can be given that any proceedings or claims
will not have a material adverse impact on our operating results and consolidated financial position or that our established reserves or our available insurance will mitigate this impact.
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Unforeseen issues could result in damage to certain property which could result in adverse effects on our business and reputation.

Our lidar utilizes lasers for performing 3D sensing. While we have developed system components designed to prevent our lidar lasers from causing property damage (including to cameras),
in the event an unforeseen issue arises that results in property damage, our reputation or brand may be damaged and we could face material legal claims for breach of contract, product liability, tort, or
breach of warranty as a result. Defending a lawsuit, regardless of our merit, could be costly and may divert management’s attention and adversely affect the market’s perception of us and our
products. In addition, our business liability insurance coverage could prove inadequate with respect to any claim and future coverage may be unavailable on acceptable terms, or at all.

We are subject to, and must remain in compliance with, numerous laws and governmental regulations concerning the manufacturing, use, distribution, and sale of our products. Some of our
customers also require that we comply with the customers’ own unique requirements relating to these matters.

We manufacture and sell products that contain electronic components, and such components may contain materials that are subject to government regulation in both the locations where we
manufacture and assemble our products, as well as the locations where we sell our products. For example, certain regulations limit the use of lead in electronic components. Since we operate on a
global basis, ensuring simultaneous compliance in multiple jurisdictions is a complex process which requires continual monitoring of regulations and an ongoing compliance process to ensure we and
our suppliers are in compliance with existing regulations in each market where we operate. If new, unanticipated regulations significantly impact our use and sourcing of various components or
require more expensive components, those regulations could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Our products are used for autonomous driving and ADAS applications, which are subject to complicated regulatory schemes that vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. These are rapidly
evolving areas where new regulations could impose limitations on the use of lidar generally or our products specifically. If we fail to adhere to these new regulations or fail to continually monitor the
updates, we may be subject to litigation, loss of customers, or negative publicity and our business, results of operations, and financial condition will be adversely affected.

We are subject to various environmental laws and regulations that could impose substantial costs upon us and cause delays in building our production facilities.

Concerns over environmental pollution and climate change have produced significant legislative and regulatory efforts on a global basis, and we believe this will continue both in scope and
in the number of countries participating. In addition, as climate change issues become more prevalent, foreign, federal, state, and local governments and our customers have been responding to these
issues. The increased focus on environmental sustainability may result in new regulations and customer requirements, or changes in current regulations and customer requirements, which could
materially and adversely impact our business, results of operations, and financial condition. If we are unable to effectively manage real or perceived issues, including concerns about environmental
impacts or similar matters, sentiments toward us or our products could be negatively impacted, and our business, results of operations, and financial condition could suffer.

Our operations are and will be subject to international, federal, state, and local environmental laws and regulations, and such laws and regulations could directly increase the cost of energy,
which may have an effect on the way we manufacture products or utilize energy to produce our products. In addition, any new environmental regulations or laws might increase the cost of raw
materials or key components we use in our products. Environmental regulations require us to reduce product energy usage, monitor and exclude an expanding list of restricted substances, and
participate in required recovery and recycling of our products. Environmental and health and safety laws and regulations can be complex, and we have limited experience complying with such laws
and regulations. Capital and operating expenses needed to comply with environmental laws and regulations can be significant, and violations may result in substantial fines and penalties, damages,
suspension of production, or a cessation of our operations.

Contamination at properties we currently operate at, where we formerly operated, or to which hazardous substances were sent by us, may subject us to liability pursuant to environmental
laws and regulations, including, but not limited to, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, which can impose liability for the full amount of remediation-
related costs without regard to fault, for the investigation and cleanup of contaminated soil and ground water, for remediating contamination and impacts to human health, and for damages to natural
resources. The costs of complying with environmental laws and regulations and any claims concerning noncompliance, or liability with respect to contamination in the future, could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition or operating results. We may face unexpected delays in obtaining the requisite permit and
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approvals in connection with our planned production facilities that could require significant time and financial resources and delay our ability to operate these facilities, which would adversely impact
our business, prospects, financial condition, and operating results.

We are subject to U.S. and foreign anti-corruption and anti-money laundering laws and regulations. We can face criminal liability and other serious consequences for violations, which can
harm our business.

We are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, the U.S. domestic bribery statute contained in 18 U.S.C. § 201, the U.S. Travel Act, the USA PATRIOT Act,
and other anti-bribery and anti-money laundering laws in countries in which we conduct activities. Anti-corruption laws are interpreted broadly and prohibit companies and their employees, agents,
contractors, and other collaborators from authorizing, promising, offering, or providing, directly or indirectly, improper payments or anything else of value to recipients in the public or private sector.
We can be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of our employees, agents, contractors, and other collaborators, even if we do not explicitly authorize or have actual knowledge of such
activities. Any violations of the laws and regulations described above may result in substantial civil and criminal fines and penalties, imprisonment, the loss of export or import privileges, debarment,
tax reassessments, breach of contract and fraud litigation, reputational harm, and other consequences.

Our business may be adversely affected by changes in regulations of automobiles and lasers or concerns that drive further regulation of the automotive and laser markets.

Government product safety regulations are an important factor for our business. Historically, these regulations imposed ever-more stringent safety regulations for automobiles and laser
products. These safety regulations often require, or customers demand, automobiles have more safety features per vehicle and incorporate more advanced safety products.

While we believe increasing automotive and laser safety standards will present a market opportunity for our products, governmental safety regulations are subject to change based on a
number of factors that are not within our control, including new scientific or technological data, adverse publicity regarding industry recalls and safety risks of autonomous driving and ADAS
products, accidents involving our products, domestic and foreign political developments or considerations, and litigation relating to our products and our competitors’ products. Changes in
government regulations, especially in the autonomous driving and ADAS industries could adversely affect our business. If government priorities shift and we are unable to adapt to changing
regulations, our business may be materially and adversely affected.

Federal, state, and local regulators impose more stringent compliance and reporting requirements in response to product recalls and safety issues in the automotive industry. As the cars that
utilize our sensors go into production, we will be subject to the existing stringent requirements of the National Traffic and Motor Vehicle Safety Act of 1966, or the Vehicle Safety Act, including a
duty to report, subject to strict timing requirements, safety defects with our products. The Vehicle Safety Act imposes potentially significant civil penalties for violations, including the failure to
comply with such reporting actions. We are also subject to the existing U.S. Transportation Recall Enhancement, Accountability and Documentation Act, or TREAD, which requires equipment
manufacturers, such as us, to comply with “early warning” requirements by reporting certain information to the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, or NHTSA, such as information
related to defects or reports of injury related to our products. TREAD imposes criminal liability for violating such requirements if a defect subsequently causes death or bodily injury. In addition, the
Vehicle Safety Act authorizes NHTSA to require a manufacturer to recall and repair vehicles that contain safety defects or fail to comply with U.S. federal motor vehicle safety standards. Sales into
foreign countries may be subject to similar regulations. If we cannot rapidly address any safety concerns or defects with our products, our business, results of operations, and financial condition may
be adversely affected.

The adoption of autonomous and ADAS features by automotive OEMs may be delayed and our business impacted, as additional emissions and safety requirements are imposed on vehicle
manufacturers.

Vehicle regulators globally continue to consider new and enhanced emissions requirements, including electrification, to meet environmental and economic needs as well as pursue new safety
standards to address emerging traffic risks. To control new vehicle prices, among other concerns, automotive OEMs may need to dedicate technology and cost additions to new vehicle designs to
meet these emissions and safety requirements and postpone the additional costs associated with new autonomous and ADAS features. In the past year, we have seen what we reasonably believe to be
delays in the implementation of ADAS features by OEMs that may utilize lidar technology, hence delaying sales of our products.
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Our business may be adversely affected if we fail to comply with the regulatory requirements under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act or other requirements imposed by the Food and
Drug Administration, or FDA.

As a lidar technology company, we are subject to the Electronic Product Radiation Control Provisions of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act. These requirements are enforced by the
FDA. Electronic product radiation includes laser technology. Regulations governing these products are intended to protect the public from hazardous and unnecessary exposure. Manufacturers are
required to certify by way of product labeling and reports to the FDA that their products comply with applicable performance standards as well as maintain manufacturing, testing, and distribution
records for their products. Failure to comply with these requirements could result in enforcement action by the FDA, which could require us to cease distribution of our products, recall or remediate
products already distributed to customers, or subject us to FDA enforcement actions.

Failures, or perceived failures, to comply with privacy, data protection, and information security requirements in the variety of jurisdictions in which we operate, may adversely impact our
business, and such legal requirements are evolving, uncertain, and may require improvements in, or changes to, our policies and operations.

Our current and potential future operations and sales subject us to existing and future laws and regulations addressing privacy and the collection, use, storage, disclosure, transfer, and
protection of various types of data. For example, the European Commission has adopted the General Data Protection Regulation, or GDPR, and California enacted the California Consumer Privacy
Act of 2018, both of which provide for potentially material penalties for non-compliance. These statutory regimes may, among other things, impose data security requirements, disclosure
requirements, and restrictions on data collection, uses, and sharing that may impact our operations and the development of our business. While, generally, we do not have access to, collect, store,
process, or share information collected by our solutions, unless our customers choose to proactively provide such information to us, our products may evolve both to address potential customer
requirements or to add new features and functionality. Therefore, the full impact of these privacy regimes on our business is rapidly evolving across jurisdictions and remains uncertain at this time.

We may also be affected by cyber-attacks and other means of gaining unauthorized access to our products, systems, and data. For instance, cyber criminals or insiders may target us or third
parties with which we have a business relationship in order to obtain data, or in a manner that disrupts our operations or compromises our products, or the systems into which our products are
integrated.

We are assessing the continually evolving privacy and data security regimes and measures we believe are appropriate in response. Since these privacy and data security regimes are evolving,
uncertain, and complex, especially for a global business like ours, we may need to update or enhance our compliance measures as our products, markets, and customer demands further develop, and
these updates or enhancements may require implementation costs, which may be material. In addition, we may not be able to monitor and react to all developments in a timely manner. The
compliance measures we adopt may prove ineffective. Any failure, or perceived failure, by us to comply with current and future regulatory or customer-driven privacy, data protection, and
information security requirements, or to prevent or mitigate security breaches, cyber-attacks, or improper access to, use of, or disclosure of data, or any security issues or cyber-attacks affecting us,
could result in significant liability, costs (including the costs of mitigation and recovery), and a material loss of revenue resulting from the adverse impact on our reputation and brand, loss of
proprietary information and data, disruption to our business and relationships, and diminished ability to retain or attract customers and business partners. Such events may result in governmental
enforcement actions and prosecutions, private litigation, fines and penalties or adverse publicity, and could cause our customers and business partners to lose trust in us, which could have an adverse
effect on our reputation and business.

Regulations related to conflict minerals may cause us to incur additional expenses and could limit the supply and increase the costs of certain metals used in the manufacturing of our products.

We are subject to the requirements of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, or the Dodd-Frank Act, which requires us to determine, disclose, and report
whether our products contain metals sourced from specified geographies; these metals are generally referred to as “conflict minerals.” The implementation of these requirements could adversely
affect the sourcing, availability, and pricing of the materials used in the manufacture of components used in our products. In addition, we will incur additional costs to comply with the disclosure
requirements, including costs related to conducting diligence procedures to determine the sources of conflict minerals that may be used in or necessary to the production of our products and, if
applicable, potential changes to products, processes, or sources of supply as a consequence of such verification activities. It is also possible that our reputation may be adversely affected if we
determine that certain of our products contain minerals not determined to be conflict-free or if we are unable to alter our products, processes, or sources of supply to avoid use of such materials.
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

Despite the actions we take to defend and protect our intellectual property, we may not be able to adequately protect or enforce our intellectual property rights or prevent unauthorized parties
from copying or reverse engineering our solutions. Our efforts to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights and prevent third parties from violating our rights may be costly.

The success of our products and our business depends in large part on our ability to obtain patents and other intellectual property rights and maintain adequate legal protection for our
products in the United States and other foreign jurisdictions. We rely on a combination of patent, trademark, copyright, and trade secret laws, as well as confidentiality agreements and other
contractual restrictions, to establish and protect our proprietary rights, all of which can only provide limited protection.

We cannot guarantee that any patents will be issued with respect to our currently pending patent applications or that any trademarks will be registered with respect to our currently pending
applications in a manner that gives us adequate defensive protection or competitive advantages, if at all, or that any patents issued to us or any trademarks registered by us will not be challenged,
invalidated, or circumvented. We have filed for patents and trademarks in the United States and in certain foreign jurisdictions, but such protections may not be available in all countries in which we
operate or in which we seek to enforce our intellectual property rights, or may be difficult to enforce in practice. Our currently issued patents and trademarks, and any patents and trademarks that may
be issued or registered, as applicable, in the future with respect to pending or future applications, may not provide sufficiently broad protection or may not prove to be enforceable in actions against
alleged infringers. We cannot be certain that the steps we have taken will prevent unauthorized use of our technology or the reverse engineering of our technology. Moreover, others may
independently develop technologies that are competitive to us or infringe our intellectual property.

Protecting against the unauthorized use of our intellectual property, products, and other proprietary rights is expensive and can be difficult, particularly outside of the United States.
Unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or reverse engineer our lidar technology or certain aspects of our solutions that we consider proprietary. Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce
or defend our intellectual property rights, to prevent unauthorized parties from copying or reverse engineering our solutions, to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others, or
to block the importation of infringing products into the United States.

Any such litigation, whether initiated by us or a third party, could result in substantial costs and diversion of management resources, either of which could adversely affect our business,
operating results, and financial condition. Even if we obtain favorable outcomes in litigation, we may not be able to enforce the remedies, especially in the context of unauthorized parties copying or
reverse engineering our solutions.

Further, many of our current and potential competitors may have the ability to dedicate substantially greater resources to defending intellectual property infringement claims and to enforcing
their intellectual property rights than we can. Attempts to enforce our rights against third parties could also provoke these third parties to assert their own intellectual property or other rights against us
or result in a decision that invalidates or narrows the scope of our rights, in whole or in part. Effective patent, trademark, copyright, and trade secret protection may not be available in every country
in which our products are available, and competitors based in other countries may sell infringing products in one or more markets. Failure to adequately protect our intellectual property rights could
result in our competitors offering similar products, potentially resulting in the loss of some of our competitive advantage and a decrease in our revenue, which would adversely affect our business,
operating results, financial condition, and prospects.

Third-party claims that we are infringing intellectual property, whether successful or not, could subject us to costly and time-consuming litigation or expensive licenses, and our business could
be adversely affected.

Although we believe we hold key patents related to our products, a number of companies, both within and outside of the lidar industry, hold other patents covering various aspects of lidar
products. In addition to these patents, participants in this industry typically also protect their technology, especially embedded software, through copyrights and trade secrets. As a result, there is
frequent litigation based on allegations of infringement, misappropriation, or other violations of intellectual property rights. We have received, and in the future may receive, inquiries from other
intellectual property holders and may become subject to claims that we infringe their intellectual property rights, particularly as we expand our presence in the market, expand to new use cases, and
face increasing competition. In addition, parties may claim that the names and branding of our products infringe their trademark rights in certain countries or territories. If such a claim were to
prevail, we may have to change the names and branding of our products in the affected territories, and we could incur other costs.

We currently have a number of agreements in effect pursuant to which we have agreed to defend,
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indemnify, and hold harmless our customers, suppliers, and channel partners and other partners from damages and costs which may arise from the infringement of our products by third-party patents
or other intellectual property rights. The scope of these indemnity obligations varies, but may, in some instances, include indemnification for damages and expenses, including attorneys’ fees. Our
insurance may not cover all intellectual property infringement claims. A claim that our products infringe a third party’s intellectual property rights, even if untrue, could adversely affect our
relationships with our customers, may deter future customers from purchasing our products, and could expose us to costly litigation and settlement expenses. Even if we are not a party to any
litigation between a customer and a third party relating to the infringement of our products, an adverse outcome in any such litigation could make it more difficult for us to defend our products against
intellectual property infringement claims in any subsequent litigation in which we are a named party. Any of these results could adversely affect our brand and operating results.

Our defense of intellectual property rights claims brought against us or our customers, suppliers, or channel partners, with or without merit, could be time-consuming, expensive to litigate or
settle, divert management resources and attention, and force us to acquire intellectual property rights and licenses, which may involve substantial royalty or other payments and may not be available
on acceptable terms, or at all. Further, a party making such a claim, if successful, could secure a judgment that requires us to pay substantial damages or obtain an injunction prohibiting us from
continuing to sell certain products. An adverse determination also could invalidate our intellectual property rights and could adversely affect our ability to offer our products to our customers and may
require that we procure or develop substitute products that do not infringe, which could require significant effort and expense. Any of these events could adversely affect our business, operating
results, financial condition, and prospects.

Any patent applications we file may not ultimately issue or be registered as we anticipated, or at all, which may have a material adverse effect on our ability to prevent others from commercially
exploiting products similar to ours.

We cannot be certain that we are the first inventor of the subject matter to which we have filed a particular patent application, or if we are the first party to file such a patent application. If
another party has filed a patent application regarding the same subject matter as we have, we may not be entitled to the protection sought by the patent application. We also cannot be certain whether
the claims included in a patent application will ultimately be allowed in the applicable issued patent. Further, the scope of protection of issued patent claims is often difficult to determine. As a result,
we cannot be certain that the patent applications that we file will ultimately issue, or that our issued patents will afford protection against competitors with similar technology. In addition, our
competitors may design around our issued patents, which may adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition, and operating results.

In addition to patented technology, we rely on our unpatented proprietary technology, trade secrets, processes, and know-how.

We rely on trade secrets, designs, manufacturing know-how, and confidential information to protect intellectual property that may not be patentable or subject to copyright, trademark, trade
dress, or service mark protection, or that we believe is best protected by means that do not require public disclosure. We generally seek to protect this information by entering into confidentiality
agreements, or consulting services or employment agreements that contain non-disclosure and non-use provisions with our employees, consultants, contractors, commercial partners, vendors, and
other third parties. However, we may fail to enter into the necessary agreements, and even if entered into, these agreements may be breached or may otherwise fail to provide adequate protection,
prevent disclosure, third-party infringement, or misappropriation of our trade secrets, may be limited as to their term, and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure
or use of proprietary information. We have limited control over the protection of trade secrets used by our current or future manufacturing partners and suppliers and could lose future trade secret
protection if any unauthorized disclosure of such information occurs. In addition, our proprietary information may otherwise become known or be independently developed by our competitors or
other third parties. To the extent that our employees, consultants, contractors, advisors, and other third parties use intellectual property owned by others in their work for us or designated in the
agreements between such parties and us to be jointly owned, disputes may arise as to the rights in related or resulting know-how and inventions. Costly and time-consuming litigation could be
necessary to enforce and determine the scope of our proprietary rights, and failure to obtain or maintain protection for our proprietary information could adversely affect our competitive business
position. Furthermore, laws regarding trade secret rights in certain markets where we operate may afford little or no protection to our trade secrets.

We also rely on physical and electronic security measures to protect our proprietary information, but we cannot provide assurance that these security measures will not be breached or will
provide adequate protection for our property. There is a risk that third parties may obtain and improperly utilize our proprietary information to our competitive disadvantage. We may not be able to
detect or prevent the unauthorized use of such information or take
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appropriate and timely steps to enforce our intellectual property rights.

We employ third-party licensed software for use in our business, and the inability to maintain these licenses, errors in the software, or the terms of open source licenses could result in increased
costs or reduced service levels, which would adversely affect our business.

Our business relies on certain third-party software obtained under licenses from other companies. We anticipate that it will continue to rely on such third-party software in the future.
Although we believe that there are commercially reasonable alternatives to the third-party software we currently license, these alternatives may not always be available, or it may be difficult or costly
to switch to an alternative. In addition, integration of new third-party software may require significant work and require substantial investment of our time and resources. Our use of additional or
alternative third-party software would require us to enter into license agreements with third parties, which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. Many of the risks
associated with the use of third-party software cannot be eliminated, and these risks could negatively affect our business.

Some of the third-party software used by us is licensed under the terms of open source software licenses. Companies that incorporate open source software into their technologies have, from
time to time, faced claims challenging the use of open source software and/or compliance with open source license terms. As a result, we could be subject to lawsuits by parties claiming ownership of
what we believe to be open source software or claiming noncompliance with open source licensing terms. Some open source software licenses require users who distribute such software to publicly
disclose all or part of the source code to such software and/or make available any derivative works of the open source code, which could include valuable proprietary code of the user, on unfavorable
terms or at no cost. While we monitor the use of open source software and attempt to ensure that open source software is not used in a manner that would require us to disclose our internally
developed source code or that would otherwise breach the terms of an open source agreement, such use could inadvertently occur. Any requirement to disclose our internally developed source code or
pay damages for breach of contract or copyright infringement could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations and could help our competitors
develop services that are similar to or better than ours.

We may be subject to damages resulting from claims that we or our employees have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of our employees’ former employers.

We may be subject to claims that we or our employees have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary information of an employee’s former employer.
Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. If we fail to adequately defend such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or
personnel. A loss of key personnel or their work product could hamper or prevent our ability to commercialize our products, which could severely harm our business. Even if we are successful in
defending against these claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and demand on management resources.

Risks Related to Being a Public Company

We will incur increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management will devote substantial time to compliance initiatives.

We expect to incur significant legal, accounting, and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company, and these expenses will likely increase more after we are no longer an
emerging growth company, as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act. As a public company, we will be subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and
the Dodd-Frank Act, as well as rules adopted, and to be adopted, by the SEC and Nasdaq. Our management and other personnel will need to devote a substantial amount of time to these compliance
initiatives. Moreover, we expect these rules and regulations to substantially increase our legal and financial compliance costs and to make some activities more time-consuming and costly. These
increased costs will increase our net loss. For example, we expect these rules and regulations to make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance and
we may be forced to accept reduced policy limits or incur substantially higher costs to maintain the same or similar coverage. We cannot predict or estimate the amount or timing of additional costs
we may incur to respond to these requirements. The impact of these requirements could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors, our
board committees, or as executive officers.

Additionally, there continues to be public interest and increased legislative pressure related to environmental, social, and governance, or ESG, activities of public companies. For example,
there is a growing number of states requiring organizations to report their board composition as well as mandating gender diversity and representation from underrepresented communities. We risk
negative stockholder reaction, including from proxy advisory services, as well as damage to our brand and reputation, if we do not act responsibly in a number of key
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areas, including diversity and inclusion, environmental stewardship, support for local communities, corporate governance and transparency, and considering ESG and human capital factors in our
operations.

Our management team has limited experience managing a public company.

Most of the members of our management team have limited experience managing a publicly traded company, interacting with public company investors, and complying with the increasingly
complex laws pertaining to public companies. Additionally, many members of our management team were recently hired, including our Chief Executive Officer, Matthew Fisch, who joined us in
February 2023; our General Counsel, Andrew Hughes, who joined us in March 2021; and our Chief Financial Officer, Conor Tierney, who joined us in January 2022. Our management team may not
successfully or efficiently manage their roles and responsibilities. Our transition to being a public company subjects us to significant regulatory oversight and reporting obligations under federal
securities laws and the continuous scrutiny of securities analysts and investors. These new obligations and constituents will require significant attention from our senior management and could divert
their attention away from the day-to-day management of our business, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and operating results.

Our business and operations could be negatively affected if we become subject to stockholder activism, which could cause us to incur significant expense, disrupt our business, result in a proxy
contest or litigation, or impact our stock price.

Stockholder activism, which can take many forms or arise in a variety of situations, including making public demands that we consider certain strategic alternatives, engaging in public
campaigns to attempt to influence our corporate governance and/or our management, and commencing proxy contests to attempt to elect the activists’ representatives or others to our Board, has been
increasing recently. Volatility in the stock price of our common stock or other reasons has caused, and may continue in the future to cause, us to become the target of securities litigation or
stockholder activism. Activist stockholders who disagree with the composition of our Board, our strategy, or the way our Company is managed may seek to effect change through various strategies
and channels, such as through commencing a proxy contest, making public statements critical of our performance or business, or engaging in other similar activities. Responding to any actions by
activist stockholders, including proxy contests, can be costly and time-consuming, has diverted the attention of management, our Board, and our employees, and may be disruptive to our operations.
We may be required to incur significant fees and other expenses related to activist stockholder matters, including for third-party advisors.

Our stock price has been and could be subject to significant fluctuation or otherwise be adversely affected by the events, risks, and uncertainties of any stockholder activism. Additionally,
perceived uncertainties as to our future direction as a result of stockholder activism, including potential changes to the composition of our Board, may lead to the perception of a change in the
strategic direction of our business; the loss of key employees, including our executive officers; a perception of instability or lack of continuity, particularly if the stockholder activism campaign results
in the appointment of one or more activist stockholders to our Board, which may cause concern to our existing or potential collaboration partners (including Tier 1 automotive suppliers), employees,
and other stockholders; may be exploited by our competitors; may result in the loss of potential business opportunities or limit our ability to develop and commercialize our products; and may make it
more difficult to attract and retain qualified personnel and business partners. In addition, activist directors may make overly burdensome demands of Company management and materially and
unnecessarily increase management’s workload. Furthermore, if customers choose to delay, defer, or reduce transactions with us or do business with our competitors instead of us, then our business,
financial condition, and operating results would be adversely affected. In addition, our share price could experience periods of increased volatility as a result of stockholder activism.

Our Charter provides, subject to limited exceptions, that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the federal district courts of the United States of America will be the sole and
exclusive forums for substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our
directors, officers, or employees.

Our Charter requires, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, that derivative actions brought in our name, actions against our directors, officers, and employees
for breach of fiduciary duty, and other similar actions may be brought only in the Court of Chancery in the State of Delaware except any action (A) as to which the Court of Chancery in the State of
Delaware determines that there is an indispensable party not subject to the jurisdiction of the Court of Chancery (and the indispensable party does not consent to the personal jurisdiction of the Court
of Chancery within ten days following such determination), (B) which is vested in the exclusive jurisdiction of a court or forum other than the Court of Chancery, or (C) for which the Court of
Chancery does not have subject matter jurisdiction. In regard to any action arising under the Exchange Act, our Charter provides that the federal district courts of the United States of America will be
the sole and exclusive forum. In regard to any action arising under the Securities Act or the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, our Charter provides
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that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States of America will, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and
exclusive forum.

Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all lawsuits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations
thereunder. As a result, the exclusive forum provision will not apply to lawsuits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal courts
have exclusive jurisdiction. Our Charter provides that the exclusive forum provision will be applicable to the Securities Act to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law. We note that there is
uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce the exclusive forum provision and that this exclusive forum provision does not purport to waive compliance with any federal securities laws and the
rules and regulations thereunder. If a court were to find such provision to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in another
jurisdiction, which could harm our business, operating results, and financial condition.

Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our common stock shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to the forum provisions in our Charter.
This choice of forum provision may limit the ability of one of our stockholders to bring a claim in a judicial forum that such stockholder might believe is more favorable for disputes with us or any of
our directors, officers, other employees, or stockholders, which may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims, although our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance
with federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our Charter to be inapplicable or unenforceable in
an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in another jurisdiction, which could harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

The provision of our Charter that authorizes our board of directors to issue preferred stock from time to time based on terms approved by our board of directors may delay, defer, or prevent a
tender offer or takeover attempt that stockholders might consider in their best interest.

The provision of our Charter that authorizes our board of directors to issue preferred stock from time to time based on terms approved by our board of directors may delay, defer, or prevent a
tender offer or takeover attempt that stockholders might consider to be in their best interest.

If securities or industry analysts cease publishing research or reports about us, our business, our competitors, or our market, or if they change their recommendations regarding our common
stock adversely, then the price and trading volume of our common stock could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts may publish about us, our business, our competitors, or our
market. If any of the analysts who may cover us change their recommendation regarding our stock adversely, or provide more favorable relative recommendations about our competitors, the price of
our common stock would likely decline. In the past, analysts that previously covered us, stopped their coverage of us. If no analysts cover us or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose
visibility in the financial markets, which could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.

Interest in our common stock from retail and other individual investors could result in increased volatility in the market price of our common stock, which could have a material adverse impact
on the market price of our common stock and your investment.

Retail and other individual investors, which we believe make up a significant segment of our overall stockholder base, may have played a significant role in the market dynamics that have
resulted in substantial volatility in the trading volume and market price of our stock, similar to what has been experienced by, for example, the common stock of GameStop Corp., AMC
Entertainment Holdings, Inc. and certain other so-called “meme” stocks. At such times, the rapid and substantial increases or decreases in the trading volume or market price of our stock may be
unrelated to our operating performance, macroeconomic trends, or industry fundamentals, and substantial increases in the trading volume or value of our stock at such times may obscure the
significant risks and uncertainties that we face. This volatility has been attributed, in part, to strong and atypical retail investor interest, which may be expressed on financial trading and other social
media sites and online forums.

We have in the past and may in the future experience significant interest in our common stock from such investors, and as a result the trading volume and market price of our common stock
has been and may continue to be volatile. There is no guarantee that we will continue to benefit from such retail and individual investor interest, even if our business or financial performance is
strong. If investor sentiment changes, this could have a material adverse impact on the market price of our common stock and your investment.
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Retail and individual investor sentiment (including as may be expressed on financial trading and other social media sites and online forums) may also influence the amount and status of short
interest in our common stock. This could increase the likelihood of our common stock being the target of a “short squeeze,” particularly because a proportion of our common stock has been in the
past and may in the future be traded by short sellers. A short squeeze and/or focused investor trading in anticipation of a short squeeze could lead to volatile price movements in shares of our common
stock that may be unrelated or disproportionate to our operating performance or prospects. Or, if investors no longer believe a short squeeze is viable, the market price of our common stock may
rapidly decline. Accordingly, investors that purchase shares of our common stock during what may be considered a short squeeze may lose a significant portion of their investment.

We do not expect to declare any dividends in the foreseeable future.

We do not anticipate declaring any cash dividends to holders of our common stock in the foreseeable future. Consequently, our stockholders may need to rely on sales of their shares after
price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their investment.

Actions that we have taken related to implement our automotive-first strategic initiative may not be successful.

Although we believe that our revised automotive-first strategic plan will allow us to realign our resources and significantly reduce operating expense, we cannot guarantee that the
implementation of the revised automotive-first strategic plan will achieve or sustain the anticipated benefits, or that the benefits, even if achieved, will be adequate to meet long-term expectations. As
a result of the revised automotive-first strategic plan, we have incurred additional costs in the near term, including cash expenditures for separation payments, employee benefits, and related costs.
Additional risks associated with the continuing impact of the revised strategic plan include employee attrition beyond our intended reduction-in-force and adverse effects on employee morale,
diversion of management attention, adverse effects to our reputation as an employer (which could make it more difficult for us to hire employees in the future), and potential failure or delays to meet
our shift in focus from research and development to commercialization of our automotive products. If we do not realize the expected benefits of our revised strategic plan on a timely basis or at all,
our business, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy

Information technology is important to our business operations and we are committed to protecting the privacy, security, and integrity of our data, as well as our employee, customer, and
vendor data. Accordingly, we have established processes, procedures, and controls to identify, manage, assess, and mitigate material risks from cybersecurity threats, as well as identify, contain, and
respond to cybersecurity incidents. These processes include, but are not limited to, monitoring and updating of our information technology and infrastructure to prevent, detect, address, and mitigate
risks associated with unauthorized access, misuse, computer viruses, and other events that could have a security impact. Additionally, to protect and secure sensitive data, we employ multi-factor
authentication, a suite of security tools, systems monitoring and alerting, audit logs, and controls across our major systems, devices, and business processes. We engage with external experts to
evaluate and test our cybersecurity risk preparedness. Regular exams and threat and security assessments with these third parties ensure that our cybersecurity strategies align with industry best
practices. To manage cybersecurity risks associated with third-party service providers, we impose security requirements upon our suppliers, including maintaining an effective security management
program and notifying us in the event of any known or suspected cyber incident. We also conduct company-wide security awareness training periodically to provide employees the opportunity to gain
an understanding of the various forms of cybersecurity incidents and enable our employees to handle and report the majority of suspicious activities or threats. We currently maintain a cyber
insurance policy that provides coverage for security breaches; however, such insurance may not be sufficient in type or amount to cover us against claims related to security breaches, cyber-attacks, or
other related breaches.

As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we are not aware of any cybersecurity threats that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect us, including our
business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition. However, despite our efforts, we cannot eliminate all risks from cybersecurity
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threats, or provide assurances that we have not experienced an undetected cybersecurity incident. For more information about these risks, see the risk factor within Item 1A "Risk Factors" in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, entitled "We, as well as our suppliers and partners, are subject to cybersecurity risks to operational systems, infrastructure, integrated software in our lidar solutions,
and the data processed by those solutions, and any material failure, weakness, interruption, cyber event, incident, or breach of security could adversely affect our business by causing a disruption of
our operations, a compromise or corruption of our confidential or other business-critical information, and/or damage our business relationships, all of which could negatively impact our business
financial condition, and operating results."

Cybersecurity Governance

Cybersecurity risks are among the enterprise risks that our Board of Directors oversees, primarily through delegation to the Audit Committee of the Board. The Audit Committee assists the
Board in overseeing our privacy and information policies and reviewing our cybersecurity program. The Audit Committee engages with our management team, including our Director of IT and our
Chief Financial Officer, and receives periodic reports on cybersecurity. In addition, management updates the Audit Committee, as necessary, regarding any material cybersecurity incidents, as well as
any incidents with lesser impact potential. The Board receives regular updates on the activities of the Audit Committee, including with regard to cybersecurity oversight. These cybersecurity reviews
by the Audit Committee or Board of Directors generally occur at least once annually, or more frequently as determined to be necessary.

The day to day operations of our cybersecurity risk management program are overseen by our Director of IT, who reports to our Chief Financial Officer. Our Director of IT has served in this
position for 5 years. He has over 38 years of IT experience, including over 10 years of experience in security compliance. Our Director of IT supervises efforts to prevent, detect, mitigate, and
remediate cybersecurity risks and incidents through various means, which may include briefings from internal personnel, threat intelligence, alerts, or reports produced by security tools deployed in
the IT environment.

Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters is located in Dublin, California, where we lease 56,549 square feet pursuant to a lease that initially expires on December 1, 2026, unless we choose to exercise a
five-year renewal option. The Dublin facility contains engineering, R&D, operations, customer support, marketing, and administrative functions. We believe our existing facility is in good condition
and suitable for the conduct of our business.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may become involved in actions, claims, suits, and other legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business, including assertions by third parties relating
to intellectual property infringement, breaches of contract or warranties, or employment-related matters. We are not currently a party to any actions, claims, suits or other legal proceedings the
outcome of which, if determined adversely to us, would individually or in the aggregate have a material effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information for Common Stock

Our common stock has been listed on The Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “LIDR” since we started trading on the public markets following the close of the business
combination on August 16, 2021.

Stockholders

As of March 20, 2024, we had approximately 61 holders of record of our common stock and thousands of additional beneficial holders. Because many of our shares of common stock are
held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of stockholders represented by these record holders.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain any future earnings and do not expect to pay any dividends in the foreseeable future.
Any future determination related to our dividend policy will be made at the discretion of our Board of Directors.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None, other than as previously disclosed by the Company.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

None.

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Please read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with “Note about Forward-Looking Statements,” Part I, Item 1 “Business,”
Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors,” and our consolidated financial statements and related notes included under Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

This overview provides a high-level discussion of our operating results and some of the trends that affect our business. We believe that an understanding of these trends is important to
understanding our financial results for fiscal year 2023, as well as our future prospects. This summary is not intended to be exhaustive, nor is it intended to be a substitute for the detailed discussion
and analysis provided elsewhere in this Annual Report, including our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.

All dollar amounts expressed in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations are in thousands of dollars, except for per share amounts and
unless otherwise specified.

Reverse Stock Split

On December 27, 2023, we effected a 1-for-30 reverse stock split of its issued and outstanding shares of common stock (the "Reverse Stock Split"). Pursuant to the Reverse Stock Split,
every thirty (30) shares of issued and outstanding shares of common stock were combined into one (1) share of common stock. We did not issue fractional shares in connection with the Reverse Stock
Split. Stockholders who were otherwise entitled to fractional shares of common stock were instead entitled to receive a proportional cash payment. The number of outstanding warrants were also
proportionately adjusted.

In connection with the Reverse Stock Split, there was no change to the shares authorized or in the par value per share of $0.0001. Accordingly, unless we indicate otherwise, all historical per
share data, number of shares issued and outstanding, stock awards, and other common stock equivalents for the periods presented in this Annual Report on Form 10-K have been adjusted
retroactively, where applicable, to reflect the Reverse Stock Split.

Key Factors Affecting AEye’s Operating Results

We believe that our future performance and success depends to a substantial extent on our ability to capitalize on the opportunities described herein, which in turn are subject to significant
risks and challenges, including those discussed below and the risk factors described in the section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K entitled “Risk Factors.”

We are subject to those risks common in the technology industry and also those risks common to early stage companies including, but not limited to:

• the possibility of not being able to successfully develop or commercialize our products;
• securing additional capital in a timely manner in order to meet operating cash flow needs; doing so on terms that are favorable to us, or at all, may be challenging given the current capital

markets and overall macroeconomic conditions;
• maintain and establish relationships with one or more Tier 1 automotive suppliers to facilitate "design wins" with potential end customers, which in our case are automotive OEMs;
• develop and protect our intellectual property;
• comply with existing and new or modified laws and regulations applicable to our business;
• maintain and enhance the value of our reputation and brand;
• hire, integrate, and retain talented people at all levels of our organization; and
• successfully develop new solutions to enhance the experience of, and deliver value to, our customers.

Market Trends and Uncertainties

We anticipate future demand for our 4Sight  Intelligent Sensing Platform will come from two major markets, Automotive and Industrial. In the near term, we anticipate concentrating on the
Automotive market by more effectively leveraging our business model, focusing on advanced driver-assistance systems, or ADAS, autonomous driving, and commercial trucking. In the longer term,
we will look for opportunities in the Industrial

TM
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market, such as in the railway and intelligent transportation systems, or ITS segments, when it becomes cost-effective to do so based on higher volume production in the Automotive market. This
provides us with multiple opportunities for sustained growth by enabling new applications and product features across these market segments. However, as our customers continue their R&D projects
to commercialize solutions that rely on lidar technology, it is difficult to estimate the timing of ultimate end markets and customer adoption. In the Automotive market for example, which accounted
for 70% and 52% of revenue in 2023 and 2022, respectively, our growth and financial performance will be heavily influenced by our ability to successfully integrate into OEM programs that require
years of development, testing, and validation. Because of the size and complexity of these OEM programs, having Tier 1 partnerships would provide a substantial competitive advantage over our
competitors given their large scale, mass-production capabilities, and existing OEM customer relationships. The decision by our former Tier 1 partner, Continental, to discontinue our joint lidar
development program and if we are unable to find a replacement Tier 1 automotive supplier in a timely manner, it could have a material and adverse effect on our business as our business model is
predicated on licensing our lidar designs and other intellectual property to automotive Tier 1 suppliers. Our primary focus in the Automotive market is on ADAS for passenger and commercial
vehicle autonomy, particularly highway autonomy applications. We believe that growth in that market is driven by both more stringent safety regulations and consumer demand for vehicles offering
increased safety, and advanced driver assist features. We will need to anticipate and adapt to any changes in the regulatory environment, as well as changes in consumer demand in order to take
advantage of this opportunity.

As is common in early-stage companies with limited operating histories, we are subject to risks and uncertainties such as those described in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form
10-K. Since inception, we have incurred net losses and negative cash flows from operations and expect to continue incurring losses until after we reach commercialization. We plan to improve our
liquidity position through securing additional financing and finding one or more replacement Tier 1 partners. Should we be unable to do so, we would anticipate further reducing operating expenses
and cash outlays. We believe that these plans can be successfully implemented, which would likely result in adequate cash flows to support our ongoing operations for at least one year from the date
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Partnerships and Commercialization

Our technology is designed to be a key enabler in certain Automotive and Industrial market applications. Because our technology must be integrated into a broader solution by our customers,
it is critical that we achieve design wins with these customers. The time to achieve a design wins varies based on the market and application. We consider design wins to be critical to our future
success, although the revenue that may be generated by each design win and the time necessary to achieve such a win can vary significantly, making it difficult to predict our financial performance. In
the Industrial market, our strategy has been to sell our lidar solutions to customers utilizing components that are sourced, in part, from the Tier 2 automotive supply chain and assembled by our
contract manufacturing partners. In the Automotive market, we will utilize a licensing model with Tier 1 suppliers which is intended to generate a royalty for us and, hence, can be more easily
replicated with multiple Tier 1 suppliers. As the Tier 2 automotive supply chain matures, we intend to leverage those suppliers, and the volume created for the Automotive market, to participate in the
Industrial market. With that in mind, in the fourth quarter of 2023, we made the decision to wind down our existing product line for the Industrial market and curtail support until we achieve sufficient
scale in our automotive products, which we believe represents our largest market opportunity. If we fail to achieve sufficient scale in our automotive products, we may not be in a position to reenter
the Industrial market in the time frame we expect, or at all. In addition, as discussed above, the decision by our former Tier 1 partner, Continental, to discontinue our joint lidar development program
could have a material and adverse effect on our business.

We believe our revenue and profitability will also be dependent upon our success in licensing our technology to Tier 1 automotive suppliers, such as our previous partner Continental, which
represented 70% and 51% of 2023 and 2022 revenue, respectively, that intend to use our technology in volume production of lidar sensors for OEMs. Delays of autonomy programs by OEMs that we
are currently or will be working with through our Tier 1 partners could result in us being unable to achieve our revenue and profitability targets in the timeframe we anticipate.

Restructuring

In the first quarter of 2023, we began the implementation of a revised strategic plan which outlines the steps we are taking to focus on key products and critical customer engagements that
we believe will generate the best long-term results for our Company and our stakeholders. Our revised strategic plan focuses on realignment of our resources and significant reduction of operating
expenses, a part of which included reducing our workforce by
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approximately one-third prior to the implementation of the revised strategic plan. Most of the workforce reduction went into effect in April 2023.

In October 2023, we implemented the second phase of our automotive-first strategic plan initially announced in May 2023. The second phase of the plan was intended to align our operations
with evolving business needs by focusing on our transition from research and development to the commercialization of our automotive products, while winding down our existing industrial product
and reducing fixed operating costs.

The winding down of our existing industrial product, combined with an accumulation of other triggering events such as the termination of our partnership with a large Tier 1 automotive
supplier, and a current period and history of cash flow losses, indicated that the carrying amount of our long-lived assets may not be recoverable. We performed an impairment review of our long-
lived assets as of December 31, 2023 and wrote down our property and equipment and the ROU asset and leasehold improvements related to our headquarters to fair value.

As a result of the implementation of both phases of our revised strategic plan and the impairment review, we recorded restructuring charges of $19,153 in the twelve months ended December
31, 2023 primarily relating to one-time employee termination benefits, inventory and other current asset write-downs, losses on purchase commitments, and impairment and disposal charges on our
long-lived assets.

Gross Margin

Our gross margins will depend on numerous factors, including, among others, the selling price of our products, pricing of our development contracts with customers, royalty rates on licenses
we grant to our customers, unit volumes, product mix, component costs, personnel costs, contract manufacturing costs, overhead costs, and product features. Our gross margins have in the past and
may continue to be negatively impacted by inventory write-downs, as an example. During the third and fourth quarters of 2023, we recorded inventory write-downs of $7,005 relating to the transition
to certain higher grade components in our automotive products as well as the winding down of our existing product line for the Industrial market. In the future, we expect to generate attractive gross
margins from licensing our lidar technology and software to our Tier 1 partners in the Automotive market. We also anticipate being able to leverage on our foundation in the Automotive market to
move to other markets.

To date, our revenue has been generated through development contracts with OEMs and Tier 1 suppliers, as well as unit sales of our products to Industrial customers. These development
contracts primarily focus on customization of our proprietary 4Sight  product capabilities to our customers’ applications, typically involving software implementation to assist with sensor
connection and control, customization of scan patterns, and enhancement of particular perception capabilities to meet specific customer needs. In general, development contracts that require more
complex configurations have higher prices. We expect development contracts to remain a significant part of our business in the near-term, but represent a smaller share of our total revenue over time,
as we increase our focus on technology licensing in the Automotive market and over time leverage the economies of scale we achieve to move into other markets.

Investment and Innovation

Our proprietary adaptive, intelligent lidar technology delivers industry-leading performance that helps to solve the most difficult challenges in delivering partial or full autonomy. While
traditional sensing systems passively collect data, our active 4Sight  Intelligent Sensing Platform leverages principles from automated targeting systems and biomimicry to scan the environment,
while intelligently focusing on what matters most in order to enable safer, smarter, and faster decisions in complex scenarios.

We believe our financial performance is significantly dependent on our ability to maintain a technology leadership position. This is further dependent on the investments we make in research
and development and our ability to commercialize our products. We believe price is becoming a critical differentiator in the marketplace and OEMs are favoring companies that have the infrastructure
to build lower cost products at higher volumes. It is essential that we continually identify and respond to rapidly evolving customer requirements, develop and introduce innovative new products,
enhance and service existing products, lower BOM costs, industrialize, and generate strong market demand for our products. If we fail to do this, our market position and revenue may be adversely
affected, and our investments in that area will not be recovered.

Basis of Presentation

We currently conduct our business through one operating segment.

TM

TM
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Components of Results of Operations

Total Revenues

We categorize our revenue as (1) prototype sales and (2) development contracts. In 2023 and 2022, our prototype sales revenue primarily related to unit sales of our 4Sight product. Revenue
from prototype sales is typically recognized at a point in time when the control of goods is transferred to the customer, generally upon delivery or shipment to the customer.

Development contracts represented the majority of our total revenues in 2023 and 2022. Revenue from development and/or collaboration arrangement contracts are earned from R&D
activities and collaboration with OEMs and Tier 1 suppliers. These contracts primarily focus on customization of our proprietary 4Sight capabilities to our customers’ applications, typically involving
software implementation to assist with sensor connection and control, customization of scan patterns, and enhancement of perception capabilities to meet specific customer needs. Revenue from
development contracts is recognized when we satisfy performance obligations in the contract, which can result in recognition at either a point in time or over time. This assessment is made at the
outset of the arrangement for each performance obligation.

We expect our 2024 revenues related to prototype sales and development contracts to remain flat or marginally higher than in 2023.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue includes the costs directly associated with the production of prototypes and certain costs associated with development contracts. Such costs for prototypes include direct
materials, direct labor, indirect labor, inventory write downs, losses on purchase commitments, warranty expense, and allocation of overhead. Costs associated with development contracts include the
direct costs and allocation of overhead costs involved in the execution of the contracts. We expect our 2024 costs of revenue to fluctuate in line with 2024 revenues.

Operating Expenses

Research and Development

Our research and development, or R&D, efforts are focused primarily on hardware, software, and system engineering related to the design and development of our advanced lidar solutions.
R&D expenses include:

• personnel-related expenses, including salaries, benefits, bonuses, one-time termination benefits, and stock-based compensation expense;
• third-party engineering and contractor costs;
• lab equipment;
• engineering parts and test units;
• new hardware and software expenses; and
• allocated overhead expenses.

R&D costs are expensed as they are incurred. We expect our investment in R&D to be reduced as a result of our revised strategic plan, with a reduced workforce and consolidated global
footprint. We also plan to execute more focused spending with vendors in critical areas that support our strategy and product development, in line with our revised strategic plan and manage costs
more efficiently.

Sales and Marketing

Our sales and marketing, or S&M, efforts are focused primarily on sales, business development, and marketing programs in pursuit of revenue contracts from potential and existing
customers. S&M expenses include:

• personnel-related expenses, including salaries, benefits, bonuses, one time termination benefits, and stock-based compensation expense;
• demonstration equipment;
• trade shows expenses, advertising, and promotions expenses for press releases and other public relations services; and
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• allocated overhead expenses.

We expect our S&M expenses to be significantly reduced as a result of our revised strategic plan to focus on the commercialization of our automotive products. Through our capital light
business, we are able to significantly reduce our workforce and consolidate our global footprint as we expect to leverage our Tier 1 partners to commercialize our products and manage relationships
with the OEMs.

General and Administrative

Our general and administrative, or G&A, spending supports all business functions. G&A expenses include:

• personnel-related costs, including salaries, benefits, bonuses, one-time termination benefits, and stock-based compensation expense for executive, finance, legal, operations, human
resources, technical support, and other administrative personnel;

• consulting, accounting, audit, legal, and other professional fees;
• insurance premiums, software and computer equipment costs, general office expenses; and
• allocated overhead expenses.

We expect our G&A expenses to be reduced as a result of our revised strategic plan with reduced workforce and consolidated global footprint. We also plan to manage spending with vendors
more effectively to support our revised strategic plan to manage costs.

Change in Fair Value of Convertible Note and Warrant Liabilities

Changes in fair value of the 2022 Note and warrant liabilities are the result of the change in fair value at each reporting date. The 2022 Note and warrant liabilities are recorded at fair value
for each reporting period, and the changes in fair value are reported within other income (expense), net during the period. We also elected to record interest expense on the 2022 Note as changes in
fair value.

Interest Income, Interest Expense and Other

Interest income and other consists primarily of interest earned on our cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities. These amounts will vary based on our cash and cash equivalents
balances and market rates. Interest income and other also includes gains on sale of property and equipment. Interest expense and other consists primarily of convertible note issuance costs, and
amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts on marketable securities, net.
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Results of Operations

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

The results of operations presented below should be reviewed in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes included elsewhere in this report. The following table sets
forth our consolidated results of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands, except for percentages):

 
Year ended December 31, Change Change

2023 2022 $ %
Prototype sales    $ 477 $ 1,743 $ (1,266) (73)%
Development contracts 987 1,904 (917) (48)%

Total revenue    1,464 3,647 (2,183) (60)%
Cost of revenue    15,319 8,732 6,587 75 %
Gross loss (13,855) (5,085) (8,770) 172 %
Research and development    26,171 37,644 (11,473) (30)%
Sales and marketing    12,528 19,317 (6,789) (35)%
General and administrative    25,234 36,762 (11,528) (31)%
Impairment of long-lived assets 9,988 — 9,988 100 %

Total operating expenses    73,921 93,723 (19,802) (21)%
Loss from operations (87,776) (98,808) 11,032 (11)%
Change in fair value of convertible note and warrant liabilities (858) (14) (844) 6,029 %
Interest income and other    1,317 1,545 (228) (15)%
Interest expense and other    248 (1,379) 1,627 (118)%
Total other income (expense), net    707 152 555 365 %
Provision for income tax expense 57 58 (1) (2)%
Net loss $ (87,126) $ (98,714) $ 11,588 (12)%

Revenue

Prototype Sales

Prototype sales decreased by $1,266, or 73%, to $477 for the year ended December 31, 2023 from $1,743 for the year ended December 31, 2022. This was primarily due to a decrease in
units sold of our 4Sight™-based industrial product due to bid delays from various customers and our focus on key automotive milestones.

Development Contracts

Development contracts decreased by $917, or 48%, to $987 for the year ended December 31, 2023, from $1,904 for the year ended December 31, 2022. The decrease was primarily due to
less revenue recognized in the current year from a Tier 1 automotive supplier contract as we fulfilled our obligations in the fourth quarter of 2023.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue increased by $6,587, or 75%, to $15,319 for the year ended December 31, 2023, from $8,732 for the year ended December 31, 2022. This increase was primarily due to non-
routine inventory write-downs associated with transitioning to certain higher-grade components in our automotive products in the third quarter of 2023 as well as the implementation of the second
phase of our revised strategic plan in the fourth quarter of 2023 which focuses on the commercialization of our automotive product and the winding down of our existing industrial product. This
increase was partially offset by decreased costs recognized in the current year relating to a Tier 1 automotive supplier contract as the we fulfilled our obligations in the fourth quarter of 2023.
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Operating Expenses

Research and Development

Research and development expenses decreased by $11,473, or 30%, to $26,171 for the year ended December 31, 2023, from $37,644 for the year ended December 31, 2022. This decrease
was primarily driven by the implementation of our revised strategic plan, with decreases in third party research and development work of $4,459, personnel costs of $2,974, engineering parts and lab
equipment expense of $2,419, information technology and facilities expense of $707, stock-based compensation expense of $379, and travel and entertainment expense of $292.

Sales and Marketing

Total sales and marketing expenses decreased by $6,789, or 35%, to $12,528 for the year ended December 31, 2023, from $19,317 for the year ended December 31, 2022. This decrease was
primarily driven by the implementation of our revised strategic plan, with decreases in personnel costs of $2,250, stock-based compensation of $1,703, marketing and consultant spend of $1,507,
travel and entertainment expense of $721, and information technology and facilities expense of $550.

General and Administrative

Total general and administrative expenses decreased by $11,528, or 31%, to $25,234 for the year ended December 31, 2023, from $36,762 for the year ended December 31, 2022. This
decrease was primarily driven by the implementation of our revised strategic plan, with decreases in stock-based compensation of $3,811, accounting, legal, and consulting fees of $3,419, personnel
costs of $2,114, insurance, tax, and license expense of $1,952, travel and entertainment expense of $571, and stock-related expenses of $236.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Impairment of long-lived assets increased to $9,988 for the year ended December 31, 2023, from $0 for the year ended December 31, 2022 primarily as a result of the non-cash impairment
of property and equipment and right-of-use assets. In the fourth quarter of 2023 we determined that an accumulation of triggering events, including the winding down of our existing industrial
product as a result of the implementation of our automotive-first strategic plan to focus on commercialization of our automotive product, the termination of our partnership with a large Tier 1
automotive supplier, and a current period and history of cash flow losses, required an impairment review of our long-lived assets, resulting in our long-lived assets being written down to their fair
values.

Change in Fair Value of Convertible Note and Warrant Liabilities

Change in fair value of convertible note and warrant liabilities decreased by $844, or 6,029%, to a loss of $858 for the year ended December 31, 2023, from a loss of $14 for the year ended
December 31, 2022. This decrease was primarily due to changes in fair value of the 2022 Note between the periods partially offset by a favorable change in fair value on warrant liabilities.

Interest Income and Other

Interest income and other decreased by $228, or 15%, to $1,317 for the year ended December 31, 2023, from $1,545 for the year ended December 31, 2022. This decrease was primarily due
to less interest earned on our marketable securities in the current period.

Interest Expense and Other

Interest expense and other decreased by $1,627, or 118%, to a gain of $248 for the year ended December 31, 2023, from a loss of $1,379 for the year ended December 31, 2022. This
decrease was primarily due to a favorable increase in accretion of discounts on marketable securities, resulting in a net decrease within amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts on
marketable securities, net, of $1,252, and decreased debt issuance costs of $474.

Provision for Income Tax Expense

Provision for income tax expenses decreased to $57 for the year ended December 31, 2023, from $58 for
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the year ended December 31, 2022. This change is due to changes in pretax income (loss) in the U.S. and certain foreign entities and changes in tax rates.

Net Loss

Net loss decreased by $11,588, or 12%, to $87,126 for the year ended December 31, 2023, from $98,714 for the year ended December 31, 2022. This decrease was primarily due to decreases
in operating expenses following restructuring and cost reduction efforts as announced during 2023 partially offset by increases in cost of revenues due to write-downs of inventory and losses on
purchase commitments as well as impairment of long-lived assets.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources of Liquidity

Our capital requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not exclusively, sales volume and timing of revenue, our efforts to find a replacement Tier 1 automotive supplier and the
timing of an OEM design win, our ability to extend our cash runway based on the restructuring initiatives announced this year, the timing and extent of spending to support R&D efforts, how quickly
we can commercialize our products, and market adoption of new and enhanced products and features. As of December 31, 2023, our cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities totaled $36,523.
For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we had a net loss of $87,126 and $98,714, respectively. We anticipate that we will continue to incur losses for at least the next several years.

To date, our principal sources of liquidity have been proceeds received from the issuance of equity. In December 2021, we entered into a Common Stock Purchase Agreement, or CSPA, with
Tumim Stone Capital LLC, or Tumim Stone, pursuant to which we have the right, but not the obligation, to issue and sell to Tumim Stone over a 36-month period up to $125,000 of our common
stock. On May 6, 2022, we filed a Registration Statement on Form S-1, which related to the offer and resale of up to 1,028,847 shares of our common stock to be purchased by Tumim Stone, pursuant
to the CSPA. As of December 31, 2023, 67,754 shares have been issued under this CSPA. In September 2022, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement, or SPA, with an investor allowing for
the sale and issuance of two convertible notes, each with cash proceeds of $10,000, for a total of $20,000 in proceeds between the two issuances (each, a "Note Closing"). On September 15, 2022, we
closed the first Note Closing with the investor and received cash proceeds of $9,850 (net of fees paid to the investor). On September 26, 2023, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission declared
our registration statement on Form S-3 to be effective (the "Shelf Registration"). The Shelf Registration may be used by us to raise up to $200,000 through one or more offerings of our securities over
a period of three years. Although we have not yet utilized the Shelf Registration to offer securities, we intend to do so when market conditions are appropriate and to support continued execution on
our key automotive milestones. Until we can generate sufficient revenue from the sale of our products to cover operating expenses, working capital, and capital expenditures, we expect the funds
raised in the business combination with CF Finance Acquisition Corp. III and PIPE financing, as well as any future funds from the CSPA, SPA, the Shelf Registration, and other potential sources of
capital, to fund our near-term cash needs.

If we are required to raise additional funds by issuing equity securities, dilution of stockholders will result. Any debt securities issued may also have rights, preferences, and privileges senior
to those of holders of our common stock. The terms of debt securities or borrowings could impose significant restrictions on our operations. We may also be unable to raise additional capital through
the sale of securities and debt financing, or to do so on terms that are favorable to us, particularly given current capital market and overall macroeconomic conditions.

Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC, Subtopic 205-40, Presentation of Financial Statements - Going Concern, requires us to assess our ability to meet our future financial obligations
as they become due within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued. Despite the recent restructuring initiatives, we expect that our expenses will continue to exceed our operating
income and, as a result, we may need additional capital resources to fund our operations. We believe that the net proceeds from the business combination with CF Finance Acquisition Corp. III and
PIPE financing,, CSPA, SPA, and Shelf Registration, together with our existing cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities and implementation of our plans should we not be able to secure
additional financing in 2024 will sufficiently alleviate the risk of substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern and will enable us to fund our operating expenses, working capital,
and capital expenditure requirements for a period of at least twelve months from the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. For additional discussion of our plans, see Note 1 in the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. If our cash needs are greater than we anticipate, we may be required to reduce our operating expenses
even further or raise additional capital sooner. Reducing our operating expenses could be very challenging
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for us, since we have already undertaken significant operating expense reductions; further reductions could adversely impact our business operations. Given the current macroeconomic environment,
OEMs appear to be more cautious about their capital spending and investments into new technologies and as a result we have seen the timelines delayed for certain opportunities which may
negatively impact the time for us to reach positive cash flows from operations. Our plans for the use of cash in the long-term (beyond twelve months from this Annual Report) are primarily related to
funding operating expenses to support the commercialization of our products. For additional information regarding our cash requirements from lease obligations and contractual obligations, see Notes
6 and 20 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

On March 10, 2023, Silicon Valley Bank, or SVB, was closed by the California Department of Financial Protection and Innovation, and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or FDIC,
was appointed as receiver. On March 27, 2023, First Citizens Bank entered into a whole bank purchase of SVB. We had and continue to have deposit accounts at SVB. The standard deposit insurance
amount is up to $250 per depositor, per insured bank, for each account ownership category. We do not maintain any other material accounts or lines of credit with SVB. Although we continue to
maintain an operating account at SVB, we subsequently established operating accounts at other financial institutions to mitigate the risks associated with any one financial institution's potential risk of
insolvency or receivership.

Cash Flow Summary
 

Twelve months ended December 31,
2023 2022

(in thousands)
Net cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities $ (50,725) $ (71,649)
Investing activities $ 55,351 $ 68,463 
Financing activities $ (6,758) $ 8,067 

Operating Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash used in operating activities was $50,725. Factors affecting our operating cash flows during this period were net loss of $87,126, offset by
stock-based compensation of $18,071,impairment of long-lived assets of $9,988, inventory write-downs of $7,712, depreciation and amortization of $1,547, noncash lease expense of $1,406, loss on
advances to suppliers of $1,385, and change in fair value of convertible note and warrant liabilities of $858. Within operating activities, the net changes in operating assets and liabilities were cash
used of $4,460, primarily driven by increases in inventories of $2,459, and decreases in accrued expenses and other current liabilities, and operating lease liabilities of $3,135 and $1,528, respectively.
Cash used was offset by cash provided by decreases in prepaid and other current assets, accounts receivable, and other noncurrent assets of $2,279, $451 and $284, respectively, and an increase in
accounts payable of $252.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, net cash used in operating activities was $71,649. Factors affecting our operating cash flows during this period were net loss of $98,714, offset by
stock-based compensation of $23,959, depreciation and amortization of $1,422, noncash lease expense of $1,338, amortization of premiums on marketable securities, net of change in accrued
interest, of $1,086, inventory write-downs of $675, and issuance costs of $474. Within operating activities, the net changes in operating assets and liabilities were cash used of $1,980, primarily
driven by increases in inventories and prepaid and other current assets of $2,634 and $1,130, respectively, and decreases in operating lease liabilities and contract liabilities of $1,341 and $1,931,
respectively. Cash used was offset by cash provided by decreases in accounts receivable and other noncurrent assets of $3,605 and $527, respectively, and increases in accounts payable of $839.

 
Investing Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash provided by investing activities was $55,351. The primary factors affecting net cash provided by investing activities during this period were
proceeds from redemptions and maturities of marketable securities of $76,350, partially offset by the purchases of marketable securities of $19,331 and purchases of property and equipment of
$1,951.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, net cash provided by investing activities was $68,463. The primary factors affecting net cash provided by investing activities during this period were
proceeds from redemptions and maturities of marketable securities of $96,592, offset by the purchases of available-for-sale debt securities of $23,929 and property and equipment purchases of
$4,200.
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Financing Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash used in financing activities was $6,758. The primary factors affecting our financing cash flows during this period were payments for
convertible note redemptions of $6,235 and payments for taxes related to net settlement of equity awards of $1,445, partially offset by proceeds from the exercise of stock options and from issuance
of common stock through the Employee Stock Purchase Plan of $455 and $334, respectively.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, net cash provided by financing activities was $8,067. The primary factors affecting our financing cash flows during this period were the net proceeds
from the issuance of convertible notes of $9,850, proceeds from issuance of common stock under the CSPA of $2,891, and proceeds from the exercise of stock options of $1,174, offset by taxes paid
related to the net share settlement of equity awards of $4,621 and payments for convertible note redemptions of $874.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are in accordance with GAAP. We are required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the
date of the consolidated financial statements, the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods, fair value measures, and the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our actual results may differ significantly from these estimates due to changes in judgments, assumptions and conditions as a result of unforeseen events or otherwise, which could have a
material impact on our financial position and results of operations. We believe our critical accounting policies involve the greatest degree of judgement and complexity and have the greatest potential
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue

We recognize revenues from R&D and development arrangements with OEMs and suppliers to the OEMs and from the sale of prototype products. Revenue represents the amount of
expected consideration we are entitled to receive upon the transfer of promised goods or services in the ordinary course of our activities and is recorded net of sales taxes. We recognize revenue when
performance obligations are satisfied by transferring control of a promised good or service to a customer. For performance obligations that are satisfied at a point in time, we also consider the
following indicators to assess whether control of a promised good or service is transferred to the customer: (i) right to payment; (ii) transfer of legal title; (iii) physical possession; (iv) significant risks
and rewards of ownership; and (v) acceptance of the goods or service. For performance obligations satisfied over time, we recognize revenue over time by measuring the progress toward complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation.

The application of various accounting principles related to the measurement and recognition of revenue requires us to make judgments and estimates. Specifically, complex development
arrangements with nonstandard terms and conditions may require relevant contract interpretation to determine the appropriate accounting treatment, including whether the promised goods and
services specified in a multiple element arrangement are capable of being distinct and accounted for as separate performance obligations. Determining whether products or services are considered
distinct performance obligations that should be accounted for separately versus together may sometimes require significant judgment. When a contract involves multiple performance obligations, we
account for individual products and services separately if the customer can benefit from the product or service on its own or with other resources that are readily available to the customer and the
product or service is separately identifiable from other promises in the arrangement. For multiple element arrangements, the transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation using the
relative stand-alone selling price, or SSP. Judgment is required to determine SSP for each distinct performance obligation. We use a range of amounts to estimate SSP when products and services are
sold separately. In instances where SSP is not directly observable, we determine SSP using information that may include other observable inputs, or use a residual approach to estimate the SSP for
performance obligations where SSP is highly variable or uncertain. Changes in judgments with respect to these assumptions and estimates could impact the timing or amount of revenue recognition.

Impairment of long-lived assets

We evaluate the recoverability of our long-lived assets with finite useful lives for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset group
may not be recoverable. Such triggering events or changes in circumstances may include: a significant decrease in the market price of a long-lived asset, a significant adverse change in the extent or
manner in which a long-lived asset is being used, a significant
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adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate, the impact of competition or other factors that could affect the value of a long-lived asset, a significant adverse deterioration in the amount
of revenue or cash flows we expect to generate from an asset group, an accumulation of costs significantly in excess of the amount originally expected for the acquisition or development of a long-
lived asset, current or future operating or cash flow losses that demonstrate continuing losses associated with the use of a long-lived asset, or a current expectation that, more likely than not, a long-
lived asset will be sold or otherwise disposed of significantly before the end of its previously estimated useful life. When a triggering event occurs, a test for recoverability is performed, comparing
projected undiscounted cash flows to the carrying value of the asset group. We perform testing at the asset group level that represents the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely
independent of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities. If the test for recoverability identifies a possible impairment, the asset group's fair value is measured and impairment expense is
recognized equal to the excess of the asset group's carrying value over its fair value. When an impairment loss is recognized for assets to be held and used, the adjusted carrying amounts are
depreciated over their remaining useful life.

We determined that an accumulation of triggering events that occurred in the fourth quarter of 2023, including the winding down of our existing industrial product as a result of the
implementation of our automotive-first strategic plan to focus on commercialization of our automotive product, the termination of our partnership with a large Tier 1 automotive supplier, and a
current period and history of cash flow losses, required an impairment review of our long-lived assets. A test of recoverability was performed which identified a possible impairment as the asset
group's carrying value exceeded projected undiscounted cash flows. These assets were written down to their fair values based on an independent third-party valuation of these long-lived assets based
on each asset's highest and best use. The fair value of our proprietary property and equipment was based upon estimated salvage value, which was determined to be zero. The fair value of our non-
proprietary property and equipment was based upon estimated orderly liquidation value. The fair value of our leased headquarters and associated leasehold improvements were based on a value-in-
use approach.

Emerging Growth Company Status

Section 102(b)(1) of the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act, exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or revised financial
accounting standards until private companies are required to comply with the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that a company can choose not to take advantage
of the extended transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies, and any such election to not take advantage of the extended transition period is
irrevocable.

We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act, and we have elected to take advantage of the benefits of the extended transition period for new or
revised financial accounting standards. We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of (i) the last day of the fiscal year in which the market value of common stock that is held by
non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the end of that year’s second fiscal quarter, (ii) the last day of the fiscal year in which we have total annual gross revenue of $1.07 billion or more during such
fiscal year (as indexed for inflation), (iii) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt in the prior three-year period, or (iv) December 31, 2025. We expect to
continue to take advantage of the benefits of the extended transition period, although we may decide to adopt such new or revised accounting standards early to the extent permitted by such standards.
This may make it difficult or impossible to compare our financial results with the financial results of another public company that is either not an emerging growth company or is an emerging growth
company that has chosen not to take advantage of the extended transition period exemptions because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for recently adopted accounting pronouncements and recently issued accounting
pronouncements not yet adopted as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position due to adverse changes in financial market
prices and rates.
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We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, results of operations, or financial condition. Nonetheless, if our costs were to become subject to significant
inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset such higher costs. Our inability or failure to do so could harm our business, results of operations or financial condition.

Interest Rate Risk

As of December 31, 2023, we had cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities of $36,523, which consisted primarily of deposits in our bank accounts, money market funds, and
marketable securities. Such interest-earning instruments carry a degree of interest rate risk. Our 2022 Convertible Note bore a fixed interest rate, and therefore was not subject to interest rate risk.
Our investment policy is focused on the preservation of capital and supporting our liquidity needs. We invest in highly rated securities, while limiting the amount of credit exposure to any one
issuer other than the U.S. government. A hypothetical 10% change in interest rates would not have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations due to the short-term nature
of our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities.

Credit Risk

Our concentration of credit risk is determined by evaluating each customer and each vendor that accounts for more than 10% of our accounts receivable and accounts payable, respectively.
As of December 31, 2023, there were four customers each accounting for 10% or more of our accounts receivable and one vendor accounting for 10% or more of our accounts payable.

We perform credit evaluations as needed and generally do not require collateral for our customers. We analyze accounts receivable, historical percentages of uncollectible accounts, and
changes in payment history when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts for potential credit losses on customers’ accounts. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2023
and 2022, we did not have any write-offs and recorded a $35 and $0 provision for expected credit losses, respectively.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Our foreign currency exchange gains and losses have been generated primarily from fluctuations in the euro versus the US dollar, and the Japanese yen versus the US dollar. The functional
currency of all our entities is the US dollar. Monetary assets and liabilities and transactions denominated in currencies other than an entity’s functional currency are remeasured into its functional
currency using current exchange rates, whereas non-monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured using historical exchange rates. We recognize gains and losses from such remeasurements within
interest income and other, or interest expense and other, as applicable on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss in the period of occurrence. We have in the past
experienced, and in the future expect to experience, foreign currency exchange gains and losses on our non-functional currency-denominated balances. Foreign currency exchange gains and losses
could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition. To date, we have not engaged in exchange rate hedging activities, and we do not expect to do so in the
foreseeable future.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the stockholders and Board of Directors of AEye, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of AEye, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2023, and 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations
and comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial
statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023, and 2022, and the results of its operations
and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public
accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the
U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial
reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those
risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Francisco, California

March 26, 2024

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2018.
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AEYE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and par value)
As of December 31,

2023 2022
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 16,932 $ 19,064 
Marketable securities 19,591 75,135 
Accounts receivable, net 131 617 
Inventories, net 583 4,553 
Prepaid and other current assets 2,517 6,181 

Total current assets 39,754 105,550 
Right-of-use assets 11,226 15,502 
Property and equipment, net 281 7,665 
Restricted cash 2,150 2,150 
Other noncurrent assets 906 2,473 

Total assets $ 54,317 $ 133,340 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Accounts payable $ 3,442 $ 3,218 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 6,585 9,764 
Contract liabilities — 987 
Convertible notes — 8,594 

Total current liabilities 10,027 22,563 
Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent 14,858 16,681 
Other noncurrent liabilities 409 126 

Total liabilities 25,294 39,370 
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 20)
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Preferred stock—$0.0001 par value: 1,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding — — 
Common stock—$0.0001 par value: 600,000,000 shares authorized; 6,310,090 and 5,436,637 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2023 and 2022 1 1 
Additional paid-in capital 366,647 345,757 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 10 (1,279)
Accumulated deficit (337,635) (250,509)

Total stockholders’ equity 29,023 93,970 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 54,317 $ 133,340 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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AEYE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)
Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2023 2022
REVENUE:

Prototype sales $ 477 $ 1,743 
Development contracts 987 1,904 

Total revenue 1,464 3,647 
Cost of revenue 15,319 8,732 

Gross loss (13,855) (5,085)
OPERATING EXPENSES:

Research and development 26,171 37,644 
Sales and marketing 12,528 19,317 
General and administrative 25,234 36,762 
Impairment of long-lived assets 9,988 — 

Total operating expenses 73,921 93,723 
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS (87,776) (98,808)
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):

Change in fair value of convertible note and warrant liabilities (858) (14)
Interest income and other 1,317 1,545 
Interest expense and other 248 (1,379)

Total other income (expense), net 707 152 
Provision for income tax expense 57 58 
Net loss $ (87,126) $ (98,714)

Change in net unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities, net of tax 1,264 (940)
Change in fair value due to instrument-specific credit risk, net of tax (21) (25)
Net losses reclassified into income during the period, net of tax 46 77 

Comprehensive loss $ (85,837) $ (99,602)
PER SHARE DATA
Net loss per common share (basic and diluted) $ (14.95) $ (18.82)
Weighted average common shares outstanding (basic and diluted) 5,827,721 5,245,624 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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AEYE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

(In thousands, except share data)

Preferred Stock Common Stock
Additional

Paid-in Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholders’

Equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount

BALANCE—December 31, 2022 — $ — 5,436,637 $ 1 $ 345,757 $ (1,279) $ (250,509) $ 93,970 
Stock-based compensation — — — — 18,071 — — 18,071 
Issuance of common stock upon exercise
of stock options — — 81,814 — 455 — — 455 
Issuance of common stock upon vesting
of restricted stock units — — 330,661 — — — — — 
Taxes related to net share settlement of
equity awards — — (125,825) — (1,441) — — (1,441)
Issuance of common stock under the
Common Stock Purchase Agreement — — 19,500 — 136 — — 136 
Stock issuance costs related to the
Common Stock Purchase Agreement — — — — (3) — — (3)
Issuance of common stock through the
Employee Stock Purchase Plan — — 64,773 — 334 — — 334 
Conversions of convertible note into
common stock — — 502,530 — 3,338 — — 3,338 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax — — — — — 1,289 — 1,289 
Net loss — — — — — — (87,126) (87,126)
BALANCE—December 31, 2023 — $ — 6,310,090 $ 1 $ 366,647 $ 10 $ (337,635) $ 29,023 

Preferred Stock Common Stock
Additional

Paid-in Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholders’

Equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount

BALANCE—December 31, 2021 — $ — 5,171,241 $ 1 $ 320,952 $ (391) $ (151,795) $ 168,767 
Stock based compensation — — — — 23,959 — — 23,959 
Issuance of common stock upon exercise
of stock options — — 107,332 — 1,174 — — 1,174 
Issuance of common stock upon vesting
of restricted stock units — — 130,268 — — — — — 
Taxes related to net share settlement of
equity awards — — (44,694) — (3,790) — — (3,790)
Issuance of common stock under the
Common Stock Purchase Agreement — — 38,167 — 2,891 — — 2,891 
Transaction costs related to the Common
Stock Purchase Agreement — — — — (29) — — (29)
Issuance of common stock upon exercise
of public warrants — — — — — — — — 
Conversions of convertible note into
common stock — — 34,323 — 600 — — 600 
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax — — — — — (888) — (888)
Net loss — — — — — — (98,714) (98,714)
BALANCE—December 31, 2022 — $ — 5,436,637 $ 1 $ 345,757 $ (1,279) $ (250,509) $ 93,970 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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AEYE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)
Twelve months ended December 31,
2023 2022

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss $ (87,126) $ (98,714)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 1,547 1,422 
Loss on sale of property and equipment, net 59 — 
Noncash lease expense relating to operating lease right-of-use assets 1,406 1,338 
Impairment of long-lived assets 9,988 — 
Gain from early termination of right-of-use assets (35) — 
Inventory write-downs, net of scrapped inventory 7,712 675 
Loss on advances to suppliers 1,385 — 
Change in fair value of convertible note and warrant liabilities 858 14 
Realized loss on instrument-specific credit risk 46 — 
Stock-based compensation 18,071 23,959 
Convertible note issuance costs — 474 
Realized loss on redemption of marketable securities — 77 
Amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts on marketable securities, net of change in accrued interest (211) 1,086 
Expected credit losses 35 — 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net 451 3,605 
Inventories, current and noncurrent, net (2,459) (2,634)
Prepaid and other current assets 2,279 (1,130)
Other noncurrent assets 284 527 
Accounts payable 252 839 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (3,135) 85 
Operating lease liabilities (1,528) (1,341)
Contract liabilities (987) (1,931)
Other noncurrent liabilities 383 — 

Net cash used in operating activities (50,725) (71,649)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchases of property and equipment (1,951) (4,200)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 283 — 
Proceeds from redemptions and maturities of marketable securities 76,350 96,592 
Purchases of marketable securities (19,331) (23,929)

Net cash provided by investing activities 55,351 68,463 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from exercise of stock options 455 1,174 
Proceeds from the issuance of convertible notes — 9,850 
Payments for convertible note redemptions (6,235) (874)
Payment of 2022 convertible note issuance costs — (324)
Taxes paid related to the net share settlement of equity awards (1,445) (4,621)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under the Common Stock Purchase Agreement 136 2,891 
Stock issuance costs related to the Common Stock Purchase Agreement (3) (29)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock through the Employee Stock Purchase Plan 334 — 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (6,758) 8,067 
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH (2,132) 4,881 
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH—Beginning of period 21,214 16,333 

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH—End of period $ 19,082 $ 21,214 

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid for interest $ 115 $ 133 
Cash paid for income taxes 16 20 
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities — 28 
Operating lease right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations upon adoption of ASC 842 — 16,284 
Operating lease liabilities extinguished upon early lease termination 335 — 
Operating lease right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligation — 556 
Conversion of convertible notes and accrued interest into Class A common stock 3,338 600 
Taxes related to net share settlement of equity awards included in accrued liabilities — 4 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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AEYE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in thousands, except share and per share data or otherwise stated)
 

1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AEye, Inc. (the “Company” or “AEye”) is a provider of high-performance, active lidar systems for vehicle autonomy, advanced driver-assistance systems (ADAS), and smart industrial
applications. AEye’s software-definable 4Sight  Intelligent Sensing Platform combines solid-state active lidar and integrated deterministic artificial intelligence to capture more intelligent
information with less data, enabling faster, more accurate, and more reliable perception of the surroundings.

AEye, Inc., formerly known as CF Finance Acquisition Corp. III, (“CF III”) was originally incorporated in Delaware on March 15, 2016 under the name CF SPAC Re Inc. On February 17,
2021, AEye Technologies, Inc., then known as AEye, Inc., entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger with CF III. Based on CF III’s business activities, it was a “shell company” as defined under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. On August 16, 2021, the business combination contemplated by the Agreement and Plan of Merger was closed and CF III changed its name to
AEye, Inc.

The Company’s common stock and public warrants are listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (“Nasdaq”) under the symbols “LIDR” and “LIDRW”, respectively. Unless otherwise
specified, “we,” “us,” “our,” “AEye,” and the “Company” refers to AEye, Inc.

 
Principle of Consolidation and Liquidity

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.

The Company has funded its operations primarily through the business combination and issuances of stock. As of December 31, 2023, the Company’s existing sources of liquidity included
cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of $36,523.

ASC 205-40, Presentation of Financial Statements - Going Concern, requires management to assess an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year of the date the financial
statements are issued. In each reporting period, including interim periods, an entity is required to assess conditions known and reasonably knowable as of the financial statement issuance date to
determine whether it is probable an entity will not meet its financial obligations within one year from the financial statement issuance date.

As is common in early-stage companies with limited operating histories, the Company is subject to risks and uncertainties such as its ability to develop and commercialize its products;
produce and deliver lidar and software products meeting acceptable performance metrics; attract new and retain existing customers; develop, obtain, or progress strategic partnerships; secure an
automotive OEM design win; secure additional capital to support the business plan; and other risks and uncertainties such as those described in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Since its inception, the Company has incurred net losses and negative cash flows from operations. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had an accumulated deficit of $337,635. For the
twelve months ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company incurred a net loss of $87,126 and $98,714, respectively, and the Company had net cash outflows from operating activities of
$50,725 and $71,649, respectively. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had $36,523 of cash and marketable securities. As the Company is still in its early stages, it is expected to incur additional
operating losses and negative cash flows as it continues to focus on achieving commercialization of its lidar solutions.

When conditions and events, in the aggregate, impact an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, management evaluates the mitigating effect of its plans to determine if it is probable
that the plans will be effectively implemented, and, when implemented, the plans will mitigate the relevant conditions or events.

The decision by the Company's Tier 1 partner, Continental, to discontinue its joint lidar development program, may have a material and adverse effect on the Company's business, which is
predicated on licensing its lidar designs and other intellectual property to Tier 1 partners. The Company has a plan to improve its results and

TM
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liquidity through securing additional financing and finding a replacement Tier 1 partner. Should the Company not be able to do so, the Company has plans which would further reduce operating
expenses and cash outlays. The Company believes that these plans alleviate substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern, which will result in adequate cash flows to
support its ongoing operations for at least one year following the date these financial statements are issued.

Based upon the results of Management’s assessment, which has been performed as of March 26, 2024, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Reverse Stock Split

On December 27, 2023, the Company effected a 1-for-30 reverse stock split of its issued and outstanding shares of common stock (the "Reverse Stock Split"). Pursuant to the Reverse Stock
Split, every thirty (30) shares of issued and outstanding shares of common stock were combined into one (1) share of common stock. The Company did not issue fractional shares in connection with
the Reverse Stock Split. Stockholders who were otherwise entitled to fractional shares of common stock were instead entitled to receive a proportional cash payment. The number of shares of
common stock issuable under our equity incentive plans and exercisable under the outstanding warrants were also proportionately adjusted.

In connection with the Reverse Stock Split, there was no change to the shares authorized or in the par value per share of common stock of $0.0001. Accordingly, all historical per share data,
number of shares issued and outstanding, stock awards, and other common stock equivalents for the periods presented in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes thereto have
been adjusted retroactively, where applicable, to reflect the Reverse Stock Split.

 
Reclassification of Prior Year Presentation
 

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified for consistency with the current year presentation. Accrued severance has been broken out from Accrued payroll within Footnote 9,
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities.

Emerging Growth Company

The Company is an “emerging growth company,” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act, as modified by the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”), and it
may take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies including, but not limited to, not
being required to comply with the independent registered public accounting firm attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding
executive compensation in its periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder
approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved.

Further, Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or revised financial accounting standards until private companies
(that is, those that have not had a Securities Act registration statement declared effective or do not have a class of securities registered under the Exchange Act) are required to comply with the new or
revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that a company can elect to opt out of the extended transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging
growth companies but any such election to opt out is irrevocable. The Company has elected to take advantage of the benefits of the extended transition period for new or revised financial accounting
standards. This may make it difficult or impossible to compare the Company’s financial results with the financial results of another public company that is either not an emerging growth company or
is an emerging growth company that has chosen not to take advantage of the extended transition period exemptions because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.

 
Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates. Significant
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items subject to such estimates and assumptions include impairment of long-lived assets, write-downs of inventory to the lower of cost or net realizable value, investments, fair value of the 2022
convertible note, embedded derivative and warrant liabilities, and stock-based compensation.

Segment Reporting

The Company manages its business on the basis of one reportable and operating segment. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise with separate financial information,
and are evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker, which is the Company's Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”). The CEO decides how to allocate resources and assesses the Company’s
performance based upon consolidated financial information. All of the Company's sales were made to customers in USD located in the U.S., Europe, and Asia-Pacific through AEye, Inc. All of the
Company's $281 of net property and equipment as of December 31, 2023 is located in the United States.

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Marketable Securities

The Company considers all highly liquid investments, such as treasury bills, commercial paper, certificates of deposit, and money market instruments with maturities of three months or less
at the time of acquisition to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents primarily consist of amounts held in interest-bearing money market accounts that are readily convertible to cash. Cash equivalents
are stated at cost, which approximates fair market value.

Marketable securities have been classified as available-for-sale and are carried at estimated fair value as determined based upon quoted market prices or pricing models for similar securities.
Unrealized gains and losses in fair value of the available-for-sale (“AFS”) debt securities are reported in other comprehensive income (loss). When the AFS debt securities are sold, cost is based on
the specific identification method, and the realized gains and losses are included in other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company
determines the appropriate classification of its investments at the time of purchase and reevaluates such designation at each balance sheet date. The Company considers all AFS debt securities as
available for use to support current operations, including those with maturity dates beyond one year and are classified as current assets under marketable securities in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets. AFS debt securities included in marketable securities on the consolidated balance sheets consist of securities with original maturities greater than three months at the time of purchase.
Interest on marketable securities is included within interest income and other on the consolidated statements of operations. Amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts are included within
interest expense and other on the consolidated statements of operations.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash of $2,150 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, consists of funds that are contractually restricted as to usage or withdrawal due to a contractual agreement. The Company has a
letter of credit to the amount of $2,150 with Citibank N.A. as of December 31, 2023 as security for the payment of rent on its headquarters in Dublin, CA which require lease payments through 2026.
At December 31, 2022, the letter of credit was held with Silicon Valley Bank.

The Company determines current or non-current classification of restricted cash based on the expected duration of the restriction.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities, and accounts receivable.
The Company places its cash and cash equivalents with major financial institutions, which management assesses to be of high credit quality, to limit the exposure of each investment. The Company’s
marketable securities have investment grade ratings when purchased which mitigates risk.

The Company’s accounts receivables are derived from customers located in the U.S., Europe, and Asia-Pacific. The Company mitigates its credit risks by performing ongoing credit
evaluations of its customers’ financial conditions. The Company generally does not require collateral.

The Company’s concentration of risk related to accounts receivable and accounts payable was determined by evaluating the number of customers and vendors accounting for 10% or more of
accounts receivable (“AR”) and
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accounts payable (“AP”). As of December 31, 2023, AEye had four customers, each accounting for 10% or more of AR and one vendor accounting for 10% or more of AP. As of December 31, 2022,
AEye had four customers, each accounting for 10% or more of AR and two vendors, each accounting for 10% or more of AP.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, revenue from the Company’s major customers representing 10% or more of total revenue was as follows:

Twelve months ended December 31,
2023 2022

Customer A 70 % 51 %
Customer B * 13 %
Customer C * 10 %

*Customer accounted for less than 10% of total revenue in the period.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company defines fair value as an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that is determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. For
additional discussion on fair value of financial instruments, see Note 2.

Derivatives

The Company accounts for derivative instruments in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board's (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 815, Derivatives and
Hedging (“ASC 815”). The Company’s objectives and strategies for using derivative instruments, and how the derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for affect the financial
statements.

The Company does not use derivative instruments to hedge exposures to cash flow, market, or foreign currency risk. Terms of convertible debt instruments are reviewed to determine whether
they contain embedded derivative instruments that are required under ASC 815 to be accounted for separately from the host contract and recorded on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value.

An evaluation of specifically identified conditions is made to determine whether the fair value of the derivative issued is required to be classified as equity or as a derivative liability. The fair
value of derivative liabilities is required to be revalued at each reporting date, with corresponding changes in fair value recorded in current period operating results. For additional discussion of
derivatives, see Note 2.

Accounts Receivable, net

Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. Amounts collected on accounts receivable are included in net cash provided by operating activities in the
consolidated statements of cash flows.

If necessary, accounts receivable are reduced by a provision for expected credit losses, which is the Company’s best estimate of the amount of credit losses inherent in its existing accounts
receivable. The Company reviews the provision quarterly based on historical experience with each customer and the specifics of each arrangement. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and
2022, the Company did not have any write-offs, and at December 31, 2023 and 2022, recorded a $35 and $0 provision for expected credit losses, respectively.

Inventories, net

Inventories consist of raw materials, work in progress, and finished goods. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value and costs are computed under the standard cost
method. Inventories that are not expected to be consumed in the next 12 months are classified within Other noncurrent assets. Prototype inventory cost consists of the associated raw material, direct
labor, indirect labor and other overhead costs. The Company evaluates the need for inventory write-downs associated with obsolete, slow moving, and non-sellable inventory by reviewing estimated
net realizable values on a periodic basis and records a provision for excess and obsolete inventory to adjust the carrying value of inventory as needed. The Company's current and non-current
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inventory as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 was written down by $5,062 and $833, respectively, in order to record inventory at its estimated net realizable value.
 

Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
assets, which range from 2 to7 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the lease term or expected useful life of the improvements. Construction in progress is the
construction or development of property and equipment that have not yet been placed in service. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred, and improvements are capitalized. When
assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation and amortization are removed from the consolidated balance sheet and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss in the period realized.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable.
Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the test for
recoverability identifies a possible impairment, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. The fair
value is calculated based on estimated salvage value, estimated orderly liquidation value, or a value-in-use approach depending on the asset's highest and best use. When an impairment loss is
recognized for assets to be held and used, the adjusted carrying amount of the long-lived asset becomes its new cost basis which is depreciated over the asset's remaining useful life. There were
$9,988 of non-cash impairment charges recorded in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2023. No impairment charges were recorded
for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Warrant Liability

The Company accounts for warrants as either equity-classified or liability-classified instruments based on an assessment of the warrant's specific terms and applicable authoritative guidance.
The warrants assumed in connection with the 2022 convertible note are accounted for in accordance with ASC 815-40, Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity, under which the
warrants do not meet the criteria for equity treatment and must be recorded as liabilities. The Private Placement Warrants issued in connection with the business combination are classified as
liabilities. The Company adjusts the warrants to fair value at each reporting period. The warrant liabilities are subject to remeasurement at each balance sheet date until exercised, and any change in
fair value is recognized in the consolidated statements of operations.

Leases

The Company determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception. The Company evaluates the classification of leases at commencement, and, as necessary, at modification.
Operating leases, consisting of office leases, are included in Right-of-use ("ROU") assets, Accrued expenses and other current liabilities, and Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent, on the Company's
consolidated balance sheets. The Company did not have any finance leases as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022. ROU assets represent the Company's right to an underlying asset for the
lease term, and lease liabilities represent the Company's obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement date
based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. The operating lease ROU asset also includes any lease payments made prior to lease commencement and initial direct costs and
excludes lease incentives. Variable lease payments not dependent on an index or a rate are expensed as incurred and are not included within the ROU asset and lease liability calculation. Variable
lease payments primarily include reimbursements of costs incurred by lessors for common area maintenance and utilities. As most of the Company's leases do not include an implicit rate, the
Company uses the incremental borrowing rate based on the estimated rate of interest for collateralized borrowing over a similar term of the lease payments at commencement date in determining the
present value of future payments. The incremental borrowing rate is a hypothetical rate based on the Company's understanding of what its credit rating would be for a secured borrowing when the
lease was executed. The Company's lease term includes the noncancelable period, any rent-free periods provided by the lessor, and options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably
certain that it will exercise that option. At lease inception, and in subsequent periods as necessary, the Company estimates the lease term based on its assessment of extension and termination options
that are
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reasonably certain to be exercised. Operating lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is included in operating expenses on the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company elected to exclude from its balance sheets recognition of leases having a term of 12 months or less (short-term leases) and elected to
not separate lease components and non-lease components for its long-term real estate leases.

 
Convertible Notes

The Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2020-06, Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in
Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity (“ASU 2020-06”). The Company has elected to apply the fair value
measurement option to the 2022 convertible note on the date that the Company first recognized the convertible note on September 15, 2022. The Company acknowledges that its election to apply the
fair value option is irrevocable. The Company recognized costs incurred upon issuance of the 2022 convertible note as an expense in its consolidated statement of operations for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2022. The 2022 convertible note was classified and presented as a current liability on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2023, the
2022 convertible note has no outstanding principal balance as all outstanding principal and accrued interest has been fully settled. Changes in fair value were recorded in the consolidated statements
of operations and changes in fair value related to credit risk are recorded in other comprehensive loss. The Company reported interest expense, including accrued interest, related to this convertible
debt under the fair value option, within the change in fair value of convertible notes in the consolidated statement of operations.

Revenue Recognition

The Company generates revenues from the sale of prototypes and from development arrangements with automakers and suppliers to automakers. Under FASB ASC Topic 606, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”), the Company accounts for such arrangements as contracts with customers and accordingly recognizes revenue by applying the following steps:

• Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer
• Identification of the performance obligations in the contract
• Determination of the transaction price
• Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
• Recognition of revenue when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation

 
Revenue from the sale of prototypes is generally recognized at a point in time when control of the goods is transferred. Certain prototype sales contracts include services to install and

commission or customize the prototypes for customers. Revenues from these services are categorized as prototype revenue and recognized either over time as the services are being performed, or at a
point in time, depending on the nature of the services and whether the criteria for recording revenue over time are met in accordance with ASC 606.
 

Revenue from development arrangements is either recognized at a point in time or over time depending on the performance obligations in the contract. For performance obligations that are
satisfied over time, such as services which require engineering and development based on customer requirements, the Company recognizes revenue using an input method based on contract costs
incurred to date compared to total estimated contract costs.
 

See Note 16, Revenue, for additional information related to the application of ASC 606 to the Company’s primary revenue streams.

Sales taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities are accounted for on a net basis and therefore are excluded from revenues in the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss.
 
Arrangements with Multiple Performance Obligations

When a contract involves multiple performance obligations, the Company accounts for individual products and services separately if the customer can benefit from the product or service on
its own or with other resources that are readily available to the customer and the product or service is separately identifiable from other promises in the arrangement. The consideration is allocated
between separate performance obligations in proportion to their estimated standalone selling price (SSP). The SSP reflects the price the Company would charge for a specific
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product or service if it were sold separately in similar circumstances and to similar customers. If the selling price is not directly observable, the Company determines SSP using information that may
include other observable inputs, such as the cost plus margin approach, to estimate SSP. In instances where SSP is not directly observable, the Company determines SSP using information that may
include other observable inputs such as expected costs plus margin, or uses the residual approach for performance obligations whose SSP is highly variable or uncertain.

The Company provides standard product warranties for a term of typically one year to ensure that its products comply with agreed-upon specifications. Standard warranties are considered to
be assurance type warranties and are not accounted for as separate performance obligations. Estimated future warranty costs are accrued and charged to cost of sales in the period that the related
revenue is recognized. These estimates are based on historical warranty experience and any known or expected changes in warranty exposure, such as trends of product reliability and costs of
repairing and replacing defective products. The Company assesses the adequacy of its recorded warranty liabilities on a quarterly basis and adjusts the amounts as necessary. Warranty costs are
included within accrued expenses and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. Refer to Note 9 for further information on warranty reserve amounts.

Other Policies, Judgments and Practical Expedients
 

Contract assets and liabilities. Contract assets primarily represent revenues recognized for performance obligations that have been satisfied but for which amounts have not been billed. The
Company did not have any contract assets as of December 31, 2023. Contract liabilities relate to deferred revenue. Deferred revenue consists of amounts that have been invoiced and/or cash received
but for which revenue has not been earned. This generally includes unrecognized revenue balances for development arrangements. Deferred revenue that will be realized during the succeeding 12-
month period is recorded within current liabilities and the remaining deferred revenue is recorded as noncurrent liabilities.

Right of return. The Company’s general terms and conditions for its contracts do not contain a right of return that allows the customer to return products and receive a credit. Therefore, the
Company does not estimate returns and generally recognizes revenue at contract price upon product shipment or delivery.

 
Significant financing component. In certain arrangements, the Company receives payment from a customer either before or after the performance obligation has been satisfied. The expected

timing difference between the payment and satisfaction of performance obligations for all of the Company’s contracts is one year or less; therefore, the Company applies a practical expedient and
does not consider the effects of the time value of money on transaction price. The Company’s contracts with customer prepayment terms do not include a significant financing component because the
primary purpose is not to receive financing from the customers.

 
Contract modifications. The Company may modify contracts to offer customers additional products or services. Each of the additional products and services are generally considered distinct

from those products or services transferred to the customer before the modification. The Company evaluates whether the contract price for the additional products and services reflects the standalone
selling price as adjusted for facts and circumstances applicable to that contract. In these cases, the Company accounts for the additional products or services as a separate contract. In other cases
where the pricing in the modification does not reflect the standalone selling price as adjusted for facts and circumstances applicable to that contract, the Company accounts for the additional products
or services as part of the existing contract primarily on a prospective basis.

Judgments and estimates. Accounting for contracts recognized over time under ASC 606 involves the use of various techniques to estimate total contract revenue and costs. Due to
uncertainties inherent in the estimation process, it is possible that estimates of costs to complete a contract will be revised in the near-term. The Company reviews and updates its contract-related
estimates quarterly, and records adjustments as needed. For those performance obligations for which revenue is recognized using a cost-to-cost input method, changes in total estimated costs, and
related progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation, are recognized in the period in which the revisions to the estimates are made.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue primarily consists of costs directly associated with the production of those prototypes that are held for sale and certain costs associated with development arrangements. Such
costs for prototypes are direct materials, direct labor, indirect labor, inventory write-downs, losses on purchase commitments, warranty expense, and allocation of overhead. Direct and indirect labor
includes personnel-related costs and packaging and procurement respectively associated with the production of prototypes. Other costs such as indirect manufacturing costs are recognized in research
and development and general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Costs associated with development arrangements include the
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direct costs and allocation of overhead costs involved in the execution of the contract.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses include personnel costs (including salaries, benefits, bonuses, one-time termination benefits, and stock-based compensation), new hardware and software
materials to the extent no future economic benefits are expected, other related expenses such as lab equipment, third party development-related contractors, and allocated overhead expenses.
Substantially all the R&D expenses are related to the development of new products and services, including contract development expenses. They are expensed as incurred and included in the
consolidated statements of operation and comprehensive loss.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation by measuring and recognizing compensation expense for all share-based awards based on estimated grant-date fair values. The
Company uses the straight-line attribution method to allocate compensation cost to reporting periods over each awardee’s requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the award.
The Company measures nonemployee awards at the date of grant, which generally is the date at which a grantor and a grantee reach a mutual understanding of the key terms and conditions of a
share-based payment award. The Company’s policy is to recognize the effect of forfeitures in the period they occur. The grant-date fair value of the restricted stock units, or “RSUs,” is equal to the
fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the grant date. The grant-date fair value for stock options and stock purchase rights under the employee stock purchase plan ("ESPP") is
estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The grant-date fair value for RSUs with an associated market condition is estimated using the Monte-Carlo simulation model. Both the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model and the Monte-Carlo simulation model require the input of subjective assumptions, including the award’s expected term and the price volatility of the underlying
stock.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the
financial statements carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, as well as net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets to the extent that these assets are more likely than not to be realized. In making such a determination, the Company considers all available
positive and negative evidence, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax-planning strategies, and results of recent operations. If the
Company determines that it would be able to realize deferred tax assets in the future in excess of their net recorded amount, an adjustment to the deferred tax asset valuation allowance would be made
to reduce the provision for income taxes.

The Company records uncertain tax positions in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740”) on the basis of a two-step process in which determinations are made
(1) whether it is more likely than not that the tax positions will be sustained on the basis of the technical merits of the position and (2) for those tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not
recognition threshold, the Company recognizes the largest amount of tax benefit that is more than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with the related tax authority.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in the provision for income tax expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss. Accrued interest and penalties are included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. As of and for the year ended December 31, 2023
and 2022 there were no interest or penalties recorded.

Net Loss per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed using net loss available to common stockholders divided by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net
loss per share reflects the dilutive effects of stock options, restricted stock units, preferred stock, stock to be issued under the ESPP, convertible notes, and warrants outstanding during the period to
the extent such securities would not be anti-dilutive
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and is determined using the if-converted and treasury stock methods.

The Company calculates weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period using the Company’s common stock outstanding.

Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders was the same for all periods presented as the inclusion of all potentially dilutive securities outstanding was anti-
dilutive, as AEye is currently operating in a net loss position.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) includes all changes in equity (net assets) from non-owner sources during a period, changes in fair value due to instrument-specific credit risk, and net
unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale debt securities.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, ("FASB"), issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740) - Improvements to Income Tax
Disclosures to increase the transparency and usefulness of income tax information through improvements to the income tax disclosures primarily related to the rate reconciliation and income taxes
paid information. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. The Company is currently in the process of evaluating the effects of the new guidance.

Recently Adopted Accounting Guidance

In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, ("FASB"), issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, which
has subsequently been amended by ASU No. 2018-19, ASU No. 2019-04, ASU No. 2019-05, ASU No. 2019-10, and ASU No. 2019-11. The objective of the guidance in ASU 2016-13 is to allow
entities to recognize estimated credit losses in the period that the change in valuation occurs. ASU 2016-13 requires an entity to present financial assets measured on an amortized cost basis on the
balance sheet net of an allowance for credit losses. Available-for-sale and held to maturity debt securities are also required to be held net of an allowance for credit losses. For public business entities,
this standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. For smaller reporting companies, the standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including
interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. The Company adopted ASU 2016-13 on January 1, 2023 which resulted in an immaterial impact to the consolidated financial
statements.

2. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
 

The fair value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities is determined in accordance with the fair value hierarchy established in FASB ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and
Disclosures (“ASC 820”). ASC 820 defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous
market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. The fair value hierarchy of ASC 820 requires an entity to maximize the use of
observable inputs when measuring fair value and classifies those inputs into three levels:

Level 1—Observable inputs, such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2—Observable inputs, other than Level 1 inputs, which are observable either directly or indirectly or can be corroborated by observable market data using quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities.

Level 3—Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the reporting entity to develop its own assumptions.

The Company's financial instruments that are not remeasured at fair value include accounts receivable, prepaid and other current assets, accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other
current liabilities. The carrying values of these financial instruments approximate their fair values.
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The Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and the level of inputs used for such measurements were as follows (in thousands):
 

Fair Value Measured as of December 31, 2023 Using:

Adjusted Cost Unrealized gains Fair Value
Cash and Cash

Equivalent
Marketable
Securities

Assets
Level 1

Money market funds $ 16,377 $ — $ 16,377 $ 16,377 $ — 
Level 2

Corporate bonds 2,880 1 2,881 — 2,881 
Commercial paper 8,809 5 8,814 — 8,814 
U.S. Government securities 7,892 4 7,896 — 7,896 

Total financial assets $ 35,958 $ 10 $ 35,968 $ 16,377 $ 19,591 

Liabilities
Level 2

Private placement warrant liability $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — 
Level 3

Convertible notes — — — — — 
Derivative warrant liability — — 26 — — 

Total financial liabilities $ — $ — $ 26 $ — $ — 

Fair Value Measured as of December 31, 2022 Using:

Adjusted Cost Unrealized losses Fair Value
Cash and Cash

Equivalent
Marketable
Securities

Assets
Level 1

Money market funds $ 14,253 $ — $ 14,253 $ 14,253 $ — 
Level 2

Asset-backed securities 3,507 (119) 3,388 — 3,388 
Corporate bonds 22,139 (240) 21,899 — 21,899 
Commercial paper 20,760 — 20,760 — 20,760 
U.S. Government securities 29,983 (895) 29,088 — 29,088 

Total financial assets $ 90,642 $ (1,254) $ 89,388 $ 14,253 $ 75,135 

Liabilities
Level 2

Private placement warrant liability $ — $ — $ 7 $ — $ — 
Level 3

Convertible notes — — 8,594 — — 
Derivative warrant liability — — 119 — — 

Total financial liabilities $ — $ — $ 8,720 $ — $ — 

The Company’s financial assets and liabilities subject to fair value procedures were comprised of the following:

Money Market Funds: The Company holds financial assets consisting of money market funds. These securities are valued using observable inputs, such as quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities.
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Marketable Securities: The Company holds financial assets consisting of fixed-income U.S. government agency securities, corporate bonds, commercial paper and asset-backed securities.
The securities are valued using prices from independent pricing services based on quoted prices of identical instruments in less active or inactive markets. Additionally, quoted prices of similar
instruments in active market or industry models using data inputs such as interest rates and prices that can be directly observed or corroborated in active markets are used to value marketable
securities.

2022 Convertible Note: On September 15, 2022, the Company entered into a convertible note agreement with a face value of $10,500 (the "2022 Note"). The Company elected the fair value
option to account for the 2022 Note. The fair value estimate of the 2022 Note was based on a binomial lattice model, which represents Level 3 measurements. Significant assumptions include the
discount rate used in the model, remaining term, stock price, and volatility. The discount rate is derived from the estimated credit spread and the risk-free interest rate, which is based on interpolated
U.S. Treasury rates, commensurate with a similar term to the 2022 Note. The remaining term is calculated based on the estimated maturity date of the 2022 Note. The stock price is based on the
publicly traded price of the Company's common stock as of the measurement date. The Company estimated the volatility for the Note based on the historical and implied volatilities of the Company's
publicly traded common stock. The changes in fair value are recognized in other income (expense), net for each reporting period. Refer to Note 10 for details of the terms and conditions of the 2022
Note.

Derivative Warrant Liability: The Company’s derivative warrant liability includes the warrants that were issued by the Company as part of the 2022 Note. The warrants are recorded on the
consolidated balance sheets at fair value. The fair value is based on unobservable inputs, which represent Level 3 measurements within the fair value hierarchy. The fair value estimate of the warrants
was based on a Monte-Carlo simulation model. Inherent in a Monte-Carlo simulation model are assumptions related to price, volatility, risk-free interest rate, term to expiration, and dividend yield.
The price is based on the publicly traded price of the Company's common stock as of the measurement date. The Company estimated the volatility for the warrants based on the historical and implied
volatilities of the Company's publicly traded common stock. The risk-free interest rate is based on interpolated U.S. Treasury rates, commensurate with a similar term to the warrants. The term to
expiration was calculated as the contractual term of the warrants of 4 years. Finally, the Company does not currently anticipate paying a dividend. Any changes in these assumptions can change the
valuation significantly. Changes in fair value are recognized in other income (expense) for each reporting period. Derivative Warrant Liability is included within other noncurrent liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheets.

Private Placement Warrant Liability: The Private Placement Warrants are recorded on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. The fair value is based on observable Level 2 inputs,
specifically, the observable input of the Company's public warrants. Any changes in the fair value of the liability are reflected in other income (expense), net, on the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss. Private Placement Warrant liability is included within other noncurrent liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.

The Company measures certain nonfinancial assets at fair value on a nonrecurring basis, primarily property and equipment and ROU assets, whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable. The fair value of the Company's property and equipment was based upon estimated salvage value or estimated orderly
liquidation value, depending on the asset's highest and best use. As the fair value of property and equipment was estimated using primarily unobservable inputs, these are considered Level 3 fair value
measurements. The fair value of the Company's headquarter ROU asset and associated leasehold improvements were based on a value-in-use approach utilizing market rent comparable information,
and is considered a Level 2 fair value measurement. For more information regarding impairment charges, see Notes 1, 6, 7, and 17.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 inputs.
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The following table presents a summary of the changes in fair value of the Company’s Level 3 financial instruments for the year ended December 31, 2023 (in thousands):
2022 Convertible Note Derivative Warrant Liability Total

Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 8,594 $ 119 $ 8,713 
Additions — — — 
Payments or conversions (9,573) — (9,573)
Change in fair value included in other income (expense), net 958 (93) 865 
Change in fair value due to instrument specific credit risk included in other
comprehensive income 21 — 21 

Balance at December 31, 2023 $ — $ 26 $ 26 

The key inputs into the Monte-Carlo simulation model for the derivative warrant liability valued at December 31, 2023 are as follows:

December 31, 2023
Expected term (years) 2.7 
Expected volatility 155.7 %
Risk-free interest rate 4.1 %
Dividend yield — %
Exercise price $ 105.00 

If factors or assumptions change, the estimated fair values could be materially different. The value of the Company’s derivative warrant liability would increase if a higher risk-free interest
rate was used, and would decrease if a lower risk-free interest rate was used. Similarly, a higher volatility assumption would increase the value of the liability, and a lower volatility assumption would
decrease the value of the liability.

3. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASH

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2023 2022

Cash and cash equivalents $ 16,932 $ 19,064 
Restricted cash 2,150 2,150 

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 19,082 $ 21,214 

4. INVENTORIES

Inventory, net of write-downs, as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2023 2022

Raw materials $ 405 $ 2,022 
Work in-process 159 2,484 
Finished goods 19 47 

Total inventory, net $ 583 $ 4,553 
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The Company also had $208 and $1,491 of non-current inventory (raw materials), net of write-downs, classified within Other noncurrent assets on the consolidated balance sheet as of
December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.

5. PREPAID AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Prepaid and other current assets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2023 2022

Prepaid expenses $ 2,386 $ 4,203 
Demonstration units — 281 
Advances to suppliers 79 984 
Other 52 713 

Total prepaid and other current assets $ 2,517 $ 6,181 

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, the Company recorded a loss on advances to suppliers of $1,385 associated with the winding down of its existing industrial product as
part of its revised strategic plan. See Note 17, Restructuring, for further details.

6. LEASES

The Company primarily leases office facilities in Northern California under non-cancelable operating leases expiring at various dates through November 2026. Some of the Company's leases
include options to renew, with renewal terms that, if exercised by the Company, extend the lease term from two to five years. The exercise of these renewal options is at the Company's discretion. The
Company's lease agreements do not contain any material terms and conditions of residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants. The Company's short-term lease expense was determined
to not be material.

The Company recorded a gain of $35 on early lease termination within Interest income and other on the consolidated statements of operations for the twelve months ended December 31,
2023.

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, the Company recorded an impairment charge on right-of-use assets of $2,570, included within impairment of long-lived assets within
the Company's consolidated statements of operations. No impairment charges were recorded for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022.

On November 14, 2023, the Company assigned an operating lease resulting in the Company being relieved of its primary obligation under this lease. As a result of the lease assignment, a
new tenant assumed the primary obligation under the lease, with the Company becoming secondarily liable. If the new tenant should fail to perform under the lease, the Company could be liable to
fulfill any remaining lease obligations. The lease had a remaining term of 3.7 years as of December 31, 2023 with the Company serving as guarantor for the remaining term. The resulting maximum
exposure includes $360 of undiscounted future minimum lease payments plus potential additional payments to satisfy maintenance, taxes, and insurance requirements for the remainder of the lease
term.
 

The components of operating lease expenses for the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows (in thousands):
 

Twelve months ended December 31,
2023 2022

Operating lease cost $ 2,379 $ 2,382 
Variable lease cost 340 241 

Total operating lease cost $ 2,719 $ 2,623 
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Supplemental cash flow information for the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows (in thousands):

Twelve months ended December 31,
2023 2022

Cash paid for operating leases included in operating cash flows $ (2,500) $ (1,341)

Supplemental balance sheet information related to operating leases as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 was as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2023 2022

Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 11,226 $ 15,502 

Operating lease liabilities:
Operating lease liabilities, current $ 2,415 $ 2,455 
Operating lease liabilities, non-current 14,858 16,681 

Total operating lease liabilities $ 17,273 $ 19,136 

As of December 31,
2023 2022

Weighted average remaining lease term (in years) 7.89 9.26
Weighted average discount rate 5.32 % 5.35 %

Maturities of lease liabilities were as follows (in thousands).

Years ending - December 31:
2024 $ 2,474 
2025 2,484 
2026 2,559 
2027 2,636 
2028 2,716 
Thereafter 8,400 
Total lease payments 21,269 
Less amount to discount to present value (3,996)

Present value of lease liabilities $ 17,273 
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7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
 

Property and equipment, net as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 consists of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2023 2022

Machinery and equipment $ 171 $ 2,528 
Computers, software and related equipment 26 432 
Office furniture and equipment 24 651 
Vehicles 60 846 
Leasehold improvements — 4,830 
Construction in progress — 1,401 

Total property and equipment 281 10,688 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization — (3,023)

Property and equipment, net $ 281 $ 7,665 

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recorded impairment charges on assets classified as property and equipment of $7,418, included within impairment of long-lived assets
within the Company's consolidated statements of operations. No impairment charges were recorded for the year ended December 31, 2022.

 
Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment amounted to $1,547 and $1,422 recognized within research and development, sales and marketing, and general and

administrative expenses within the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The Company recorded disposals of
gross property and equipment of $1,041 and $604 in the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The carrying amounts of the property and equipment disposed in the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022 were $342 and $0, respectively.
 
8. OTHER NONCURRENT ASSETS

Other noncurrent assets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2023 2022

Non-current inventory $ 208 $ 1,491 
Long-term prepaid expenses 626 901 
Security deposits 72 81 

Total other noncurrent assets $ 906 $ 2,473 

77



9. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows (in thousands):
 

As of December 31,
2023 2022

Accrued purchases and other $ 681 $ 4,092 
Operating lease liabilities - current 2,415 2,455 
Accrued bonuses 2,053 1,022 
Accrued payroll 540 1,122 
Accrued severance 402 26 
Accrued payroll taxes 317 526 
Warranty reserve 102 480 
Income tax payable 75 41 

Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 6,585 $ 9,764 

10. CONVERTIBLE NOTES

2022 Convertible Note

On September 14, 2022, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement, or SPA, with an investor allowing for the sale and issue of two convertible notes, each with a principal
balance of $10,500 and gross cash proceeds of $10,000, for a total of $20,000 in proceeds between the two issuances (each, a "Note Closing"). The first Note Closing ("First Closing") occurred on
September 15, 2022, and the Company entered into a Senior Unsecured Convertible Note with the investor pursuant to which the Company issued to the investor one convertible note ("2022 Note")
with a principal balance of $10,500 for net cash proceeds of $9,850. As part of the First Closing, the Company also issued warrants to the investor - see Note 12 for further details. The second Note
Closing ("Second Closing") may occur, at the Company's option, until March 15, 2024, upon which the Company's right to effect a Second Closing shall automatically terminate. As of March 15,
2024, the Company did not effect a Second Closing.

The 2022 Note bore interest at an annual rate of 5.0%, in addition to an original issue discount of 4.76%, and had an initial a maturity date of March 15, 2024 ("Maturity Date").

Beginning December 15, 2022, and the first of each subsequent month (each a "Monthly Redemption Date" or an "Installment Date"), the Company was required to redeem the Monthly
Redemption Amount until the 2022 Note was fully redeemed. The Monthly Redemption Amount, in most instances, was 1/15  of the original principal amount, plus any amount accelerated pursuant
to the 2022 Note, accrued but unpaid interest, and late fees, if any. The principal and interest could be settled in cash or, so long as certain equity conditions were met, shares of common stock at the
option of the Company and was payable together with the monthly redemptions of the outstanding principal amount of the Note.

If the Company elected to settle such redemptions in shares of Common Stock, the number of shares to be settled was based on an Installment Conversion Price equal to the lower of (i)
$75.00 or (ii) 95% of the lowest daily volume weighted average price of the Common Stock during the five (5) trading days immediately preceding the applicable Monthly Redemption Date. If the
Company elected to settle redemptions in cash, the Monthly Redemption Amount included a 5% premium.

The investor was permitted to accelerate up to four (4) Monthly Redemption Amounts in any calendar month (each, an "Acceleration," and each such amount, an "Acceleration Amount",
and the Conversion Date of any such Acceleration, each an "Acceleration Date") at the Acceleration Conversion Price, subject to a $2,800 limit per month. The Acceleration Conversion Price was the
lower of (i) the Installment Conversion Price for such current Installment Date or (ii) the greater of $9.00 and 95% of the lowest daily volume weighted average price of the Common Stock during the
five (5) trading days immediately preceding the Acceleration Date.

As these terms are defined in the 2022 Note, if either the relevant Installment Conversion Price or Acceleration Conversion Price, as applicable, is less than $9.00 per share, then a
Conversion Floor Price Condition exists and the Company must deliver to the lender the Conversion Installment Floor Amount in cash, in addition to the required number of shares, which are valued
at $9.00 regardless of the actual trading price of the Company's shares. The Conversion Installment Floor Amount is an amount in cash equal to the product obtained by multiplying

th
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(A) the higher of (i) the highest price that the Common Stock trades at on the Trading Day immediately preceding the relevant Share Delivery Date and (ii) the applicable Installment or Acceleration
Conversion Price and (B) the difference obtained by subtracting (i) the number of shares of Common Stock delivered to the investor on the applicable Share Delivery Date with respect to such
Conversion from (ii) the quotient obtained by dividing (x) the applicable Installment or Acceleration amount subject to such Conversion, by (y) the applicable Installment Conversion Price. Interest
payments are also trued-up in cash when the value of the Company's shares is below $9.00 per share.

The Company elected to apply the fair value option to the measurement of the 2022 Note. As a result of adopting the fair value option, no embedded derivatives are bifurcated from the 2022
Note. The Company classifies the 2022 Note as a liability at fair value and remeasures the 2022 Note to fair value at each reporting period. The fair value measurement includes the assumption of
accrued interest and expense and thus a separate amount is not reflected on the consolidated statement of operations.

As of December 31, 2023, the 2022 Note has no outstanding principal balance as all outstanding principal and accrued interest has been fully settled through Monthly Redemptions and
Accelerations. As part of the debt extinguishment, the Company reclassified the accumulated change in fair value due to instrument-specific credit risk out of accumulated other comprehensive loss
on the consolidated balance sheet and into interest expense and other on the consolidated statement of operations.

The Company evaluated the Second Closing and associated warrants to be a contingently issuable financial asset with a fair value of zero at inception in accordance with ASC 815-40
Contracts in an Entity's own Equity. The contingently issuable warrants are considered issued for accounting purposes - see Note 12 for further details.

11. INTEREST EXPENSE AND OTHER

Interest expense and other for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following (in thousands):

Twelve months ended December 31,
2023 2022

Amortization of premiums (accretion of discounts) on marketable securities, net $ (474) $ 778 
Convertible note issuance costs — 474 
Loss on disposal of assets 111 — 
Realized loss on instrument-specific credit risk 46 — 
Expected credit losses 35 — 
Realized losses on redemptions of marketable securities — 77 
Common Stock Purchase Agreement costs — 29 
Other 34 21 

Interest expense and other $ (248) $ 1,379 

12. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
 

The Company is authorized to issue 600,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had 6,310,090 shares of common stock
issued and outstanding, post the reverse stock split.

Class A Common Stock — Class A common stock has the following rights:

Voting rights: Each holder of Class A common stock will be entitled to one (1) vote in person or by proxy for each share of the Class A common stock held of record by such holder. The
holders of shares of the Class A common stock will not have cumulative voting rights. Except as otherwise required in the Amended Charter or by applicable law, the holders of the Class A common
stock vote together as a single class on all matters on which stockholders are generally entitled to vote.

 
Dividend rights: Subject to any other provisions of the Amended Charter, each holder of Class A common stock will be entitled to receive, in proportion to the number of shares of the Class

A common stock held, such dividends and other distributions in cash, stock or property of the Company when, as and if declared thereon by the
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Board from time to time out of assets or funds of the Company legally available therefor.
 

Rights upon liquidation: In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up (either voluntary or involuntary) of the Company, after payments to creditors of the Company that may at
the time be outstanding, and subject to the rights of any holders of the Company preferred stock that may then be outstanding, holders of shares of the Class A common stock will be entitled to
receive ratably, in proportion to the number of shares of the Class A common stock held by them, all remaining assets of the Company available for distribution.

Preferred Stock — The Company has the authority, without stockholder approval, to issue shares of preferred stock from time to time on terms it may determine, to divide shares of
preferred stock into one or more class or series and to fix for each such class or series the designations, preferences, privileges, and restrictions of preferred stock, including dividend rights,
conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemption, liquidation preference, and the number of shares constituting any series or the designation of any series to the fullest extent permitted by the
Delaware General Corporation Law. The issuance of the Company’s preferred stock could have the effect of decreasing the trading price of the Class A common stock, restricting dividends on the
capital stock of the Company, diluting the voting power of the Class A common stock, impairing the liquidation rights of the capital stock of the Company, or delaying or preventing a change in
control of the Company. Although the Company does not currently intend to issue any shares of preferred stock, the Company may choose to do so in the future.
 

The Company is authorized to issue up to 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock, each with a par value of $0.0001 per share. As of December 31, 2023, no shares of preferred stock were issued
and outstanding.

Warrants — As of December 31, 2023, the Company had 5,555 Private Placement warrants and 255,555 Public warrants outstanding. Each warrant entitles the registered holder to purchase
one share of the Company's common stock at a price of $345.00 per share.
 

On September 15, 2022, in connection with the issuance of the 2022 Note, the Company issued warrants to the investor. The warrants are immediately exercisable and entitle the investor to
purchase up to 58,333 shares of Common Stock at a price of $105.00 per share, subject to a four (4) year term. As of December 31, 2023, no shares were exercised pursuant to the warrants.
 

Contingent Warrants - As of December 31, 2023, the Company had 58,333 contingently issuable warrants outstanding associated with the potential Second Closing under the Securities
Purchase Agreement. As the Company did not effect a Second Closing by March 15, 2024, these warrants are no longer outstanding and will not be issued to the investor.
 

Tumim Stone Common Stock Purchase Agreement — On December 8, 2021, the Company entered into a Common Stock Purchase Agreement (the “CSPA”) and a Registration Rights
Agreement with Tumim Stone Capital LLC (“Tumim Stone”). Under the terms and subject to the conditions of the CSPA, the Company has the right, but not the obligation, to sell to Tumim Stone,
and Tumim Stone is obligated to purchase up to the lesser of (i) $125,000 of the Company’s common stock, or (ii) the Exchange Cap equal to 1,028,847 shares of the Company's common stock,
unless the Company’s stockholders approve the issuance of shares in excess of the Exchange Cap, or the average price of all applicable sales of common stock to Tumim Stone under the CSPA equals
or exceeds $148.46 per share. Upon the satisfaction of various commencement conditions, such as the filing of the registration statement which provides for the resale of such shares pursuant to the
Registration Rights Agreement, the Company has sole discretion to initiate such sales of common stock over the period of 36 months commencing December 8, 2021. In all instances, the Company
may not sell shares of its common stock to Tumim Stone under the CSPA if doing so would result in Tumim Stone beneficially owning more than 9.99% of its common stock.

 
The purchase price per share to be purchased by Tumim is equal to the volume-weighted average price for common stock on the applicable purchase date multiplied by 0.9615 (to be

adjusted for any reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, or similar transaction). The maximum number of shares the Company may sell to Tumim Stone on
any single business day is the lesser of (i) $20,000 divided by the closing sale price of the common stock on the trading day immediately preceding the purchase date, and (ii) 0.15 multiplied by the
average daily trading volume in common stock for the three trading days preceding the purchase date.

 
    In connection with the CSPA, the Company issued to Tumim Stone 10,087 restricted common shares in the Company. The Company determined that the right to sell additional shares represents a
freestanding put option under ASC 815 Derivatives and Hedging, and as such, the financial instrument was classified as a derivative asset with a fair value of zero at inception of the CSPA on
December 8, 2021.
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During the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, the Company issued 19,500 shares of its common stock under the CSPA for gross proceeds of $136. During the twelve months ended

December 31, 2022, the Company issued 38,167 shares of its common stock under the CSPA for gross proceeds of $2,891. As of December 31, 2023, 961,093 shares remain available for issuance
under the CSPA.

 
13. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

The changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) by component for the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows (in thousands):
 

Unrealized gains (losses) on
available-for-sale securities

Change in fair value due to
instrument-specific credit risk Total

Balance at December 31, 2021 $ (391) $ — $ (391)
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications, net of tax (940) (25) (965)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax 77 — 77 

Net other comprehensive loss (863) (25) (888)

Balance at December 31, 2022 $ (1,254) $ (25) $ (1,279)

Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications, net of tax 1,264 (21) 1,243 
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax — 46 46 

Net other comprehensive income 1,264 25 1,289 

Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 10 $ — $ 10 

 
The amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 are included within Interest expense and other on

the consolidated statement of operations.
 
14. NET LOSS PER SHARE

 
The following table sets forth the basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders for the periods presented (in thousands, except per share data):

 
Twelve months ended December 31,

2023 2022
Numerator:
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (87,126) $ (98,714)
Denominator:
Weighted average common shares outstanding- Basic 5,827,721 5,245,624 
Dilutive effect of potential common shares — — 
Weighted average common shares outstanding- Diluted 5,827,721 5,245,624 

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders - Basic and Diluted $ (14.95) $ (18.82)
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Due to net losses for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, basic and diluted net loss per share were the same, as the effect of all potentially dilutive securities would have been anti-
dilutive. The following table sets forth the anti-dilutive common share equivalents for the periods listed:

Twelve months ended December 31,
2023 2022

Warrants 319,443 319,443 
Common stock options issued and outstanding 289,015 846,451 
Unvested restricted stock units 652,453 425,703 
Conversion of convertible notes — 543,120 
ESPP 23,816 66,666 

Total 1,284,727 2,201,383 

15. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company has five equity incentive plans, the 2014 US LADAR Inc. Equity Incentive Plan (the “2014 Plan”), the 2016 Stock Plan (the “2016 Plan”), the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the
“Incentive Plan”), the 2022 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP"), and the 2023 CEO Inducement Grant Plan (the "CEO Plan"). On August 16, 2021, the Company’s 2014 Plan and 2016 Plan
were terminated in connection with the closing of the business combination as defined in Note 1, but continue to govern the terms of outstanding equity awards that were granted prior to the
termination of the plans.

 
2014 Plan and 2016 Plan

The 2014 and 2016 Plan provide for the grant of incentive stock options to employees only and non-statutory stock options and RSUs to employees, directors, and consultants of the
Company. As of August 16, 2021, the Company no longer grants equity awards pursuant to the 2014 Plan or 2016 Plan, and as of December 31, 2023, 58,056 RSUs were granted.
 

Under the 2016 Plan, options to purchase common stock generally vest over four years with 25% vesting at the end of the first year and the rest vesting ratably over the next three years.
RSUs generally vest 25% at the end of the first year with the remaining RSUs vesting ratably over the next three years or they vest ratably over the four years. Under the 2014 Plan, the vesting period
for options to purchase common stock range from immediate to four years. Under each plan, the options expire ten years from the date of grant.
 
2021 Equity Incentive Plan

 
The Incentive Plan became effective immediately upon the closing of the business combination on August 16, 2021 and initially reserved 514,681 shares of common stock for issuance

thereunder. The Incentive Plan includes an evergreen provision that provides for an annual increase in the number of shares of common stock available for issuance thereunder beginning on January
1, 2022 and ending on January 1, 2032, equal to 5% of the shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding on December 31, 2021 for the first year and by 3% of the total number of shares of
common stock outstanding on December 31 of the preceding calendar year for each year thereafter, or a lesser number of shares as determined by the Board of Directors. Since January 1, 2022, the
Board of Directors have authorized the addition of 954,545 shares of common stock to be added to the Incentive Plan for issuance.

 
Under the Incentive plan, RSU’s vest depending on their vesting schedule. For newly hired employees, RSU’s generally vest 25% during the quarterly release date following the recipient’s

one year anniversary of their start date. The remaining amounts generally vest quarterly over the next three years. For existing employees, these RSUs generally vest quarterly over three years. The
fair value of the RSU is equal to the fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant.

 
As of December 31, 2023, 1,264,338 RSUs were granted to certain individuals under the Incentive Plan.

 
2022 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On May 10, 2022, the Company's stockholders approved the 2022 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP"), authorizing 66,666 shares of common stock to be reserved for issuance under
the ESPP. The number of
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shares reserved and available for issuance under the ESPP shall be cumulatively increased by the 1% of the number of shares issued and outstanding on December 31 of the preceding calendar year
for each year thereafter, or a lesser number of shares as determined by the Board of Directors. During 2023, the Board of Directors have authorized the addition of 54,366 shares of common stock to
be added to the ESPP for issuance.
 

The ESPP provides an offering period of 24 months, with four purchase periods that are generally six months long and end on April 30 and October 31 of each year. The first purchase period
to the Company's employees to purchase shares under the ESPP began on November 1, 2022. Each employee who is a participant in the ESPP may purchase shares by authorizing contributions at a
minimum of 1% up to a maximum of 10% of his or her compensation for each pay period, to a maximum of $15 per purchase period and $25 per year, which will then be used to purchase shares on
the last business day of the purchase period at a price equal to 85% of the fair market value of common stock on the offering date or the exercise date whichever is less.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, 64,773 shares were purchased under the ESPP. During the year ended December 31, 2022, no shares were purchased under the ESPP. As of
December 31, 2023, the Company has withheld $58 of contributions from its employees within accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.
 
2023 CEO Inducement Grant Plan

The CEO Plan became effective on February 13, 2023 with 233,332 shares of common stock initially reserved for issuance.

In connection with the appointment of the Company's CEO on February 13, 2023, the Company granted 166,666 service-based RSUs and 66,666 market-based RSUs to the CEO. The
service-based RSUs will vest over three years. The market-based RSUs would have vested quarterly over six (6) calendar quarters following the satisfaction of the market condition. The market
condition would have been satisfied if the closing price of the Company's common stock, as reported by NASDAQ, met or exceeded $36.00 per share for any ten (10) consecutive trading days prior
to March 1, 2024. As the market condition was not satisfied by March 1, 2024, the market-based RSUs were forfeited.

As of December 31, 2023, 233,332 RSUs were granted under the CEO Plan.
 

A summary of stock option activity related to the Plans as of December 31, 2023 is as follows:

Outstanding Stock
Options

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Weighted Average
Contractual Life

(Years)
Aggregate Intrinsic

Value
Balance at December 31, 2022 846,451 $ 14.94 6.45 $ 2,277 

Granted — — 
Exercised (81,814) 5.57 
Forfeited (111,937) 18.78 
Expired (363,685) 18.77 
Repurchased — — 

Balance at December 31, 2023 289,015 $ 11.29 3.07 $ — 
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2023 289,015 $ 11.29 3.07 $ — 
Vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2023 281,380 $ 11.09 2.97 $ — 

The aggregate intrinsic value is the difference between the current fair value of the underlying common stock and the exercise price for in-the-money stock options. The Company did not
grant any options during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.
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The following table summarizes the RSU award activity under the Plans:

Shares
Weighted Average Grant date Fair Value

per Share
Unvested at December 31, 2022 425,703 $ 119.85 

Granted 901,472 10.66 
Forfeited (344,061) 67.82 
Vested (330,661) 53.07 

Unvested at December 31, 2023 652,453 $ 30.29 

 
The total fair value of RSUs that vested during the year ended December 31, 2023 was $3,596.

 
Stock-Based Compensation Expense —The following table summarizes stock-based compensation expense recorded in each financial statement line item in the Company’s consolidated

statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Twelve months ended December 31,
2023 2022

Research and development $ 6,821 $ 7,201
Sales and marketing 2,993 4,696
General and administrative 8,121 11,931
Cost of revenue 136 131

Total stock-based compensation $ 18,071 $ 23,959 

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had $362 of unrecognized compensation expense for related stock option grants. This cost is expected to be recognized over an estimated weighted
average period of 0.79 years. The total unrecognized compensation expense for RSUs was $16,669 as of December 31, 2023 which is expected to be recognized over an estimated weighted average
period of 1.93 years. The total unrecognized compensation expense for the ESPP was $458 as of December 31, 2023 which is expected to be recognized over an estimated weighted average period of
1.33 years.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to estimate the grant-date fair value of ESPP purchase rights. The fair value of each of the four purchase periods is estimated
separately. The Company uses the Monte-Carlo simulation model to estimate the grant date fair value of awards with a market condition. Both models require the input of subjective assumptions such
as expected term, expected stock price volatility, risk-free interest rate and dividend yield as discussed below.

Expected Term—The expected term for ESPP is the length of time from the grant date to the date on which the stock is purchased by the employees. The expected term for awards with a
market condition is the length of time from the grant date to the date the market condition expires.

Expected Volatility—Expected volatility is estimated using a combination of the average historical volatility of the Company's own stock and those of comparable companies’ stock at the
time of the grant.

Risk-Free Interest Rate—The risk-free interest rates are based on US Treasury yields in effect at the grant date for notes with comparable terms as the awards.

Dividend Yield—The expected dividend-yield assumption is based on the Company’s current expectations about its anticipated dividend policy.
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The following table summarizes the range of valuation assumptions used in estimating the fair value of the ESPP during the period:

Twelve months ended December 31, 2023
Expected term (years) 0.50 -2.00
Expected volatility 107.3% - 136.0%
Risk-free interest rate 4.1% - 5.1%
Dividend yield — %

The following table summarizes the valuation assumptions used in estimating the fair value of awards granted during the period with a market condition:

Twelve months ended December 31, 2023
Expected term (years) 1.05
Expected volatility 104.5 %
Risk-free interest rate 4.8 %
Dividend yield — %

 
16. REVENUE

Sale of Prototypes

The Company recorded revenue for prototype sales of $477 and $1,743 in 2023 and 2022 respectively. The Company does not incur significant contract costs in fulfilling or obtaining their
contracts with customers.

Development Contracts

The Company has entered into research and development contracts with companies primarily in the automotive industry. The Company assessed the number of performance obligations
associated with the promises under each agreement, primarily the delivery of customized 4Sight  perception-related goods and services, and recognized $987 and $1,904 in revenue for performance
obligations satisfied during years ended 2023 and 2022 respectively, in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

Disaggregation of Revenue

The Company recognized the following revenues by geographic area based on the primary billing address of the customer and by the timing of the transfer of goods or services to customers
(point in time or over time), as it believes such criteria best depict how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of its revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors. Total revenue based
on the disaggregation criteria described above are as follows (in thousands):

Twelve months ended December 31,
2023 2022

Revenue by primary geographical market:
United States $ 1,223 $ 2,471 
Europe 184 920 
Asia-Pacific 57 256 
Total $ 1,464 $ 3,647 

Revenue by timing of recognition:
Recognized at a point in time $ 477 $ 1,982 
Recognized over time 987 1,665 
Total $ 1,464 $ 3,647 

TM
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Contract Liabilities

Contract liabilities consisted of the following as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2023 2022

Contract liabilities, current $ — $ 987 

Total $ — $ 987 

The following table shows the significant changes in contract liabilities balance as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

Twelve months ended December 31,
2023 2022

Beginning balance $ 987 $ 2,918 
Revenue recognized that was included in the contract liabilities beginning balance (987) (1,931)

Ending balance $ — $ 987 

Remaining Performance Obligations

Revenue allocated to remaining performance obligations represents the transaction price allocated to the performance obligations that are unsatisfied, or partially unsatisfied. It includes
unearned revenue and amounts that will be invoiced and recognized as revenue in future periods and does not include contracts where the customer is not committed. The customer is not considered
committed where they are able to terminate for convenience without payment of a substantive penalty under the contract. Additionally, as a practical expedient, the Company has not disclosed the
value of unsatisfied performance obligations for contracts with an original expected length of one year or less. The contract liabilities balance represents the remaining performance obligations for
contracts with an original duration of greater than one year.

17. RESTRUCTURING

In the first quarter of 2023, the Company began the implementation of a revised strategic plan to focus on key products and critical customer engagements it believes will generate the best
long-term results for all stakeholders. In the fourth quarter of 2023, the Company implemented the second phase of its revised strategic plan to align the Company's operations with evolving business
needs by focusing on the transition from research and development to the commercialization of its automotive products and winding down its existing industrial product, while reducing fixed
operating costs.

The winding down of the Company's existing industrial product, in combination with an accumulation of other triggering events, indicated that the carrying amount of the Company's long-
lived assets may not be recoverable. An impairment review was performed on the Company's long-lived assets as of December 31, 2023, resulting in a write-down of its property and equipment and
ROU asset to fair value.

As a result of the implementation of both phases of the revised strategic plan and the impairment review of long-lived assets, the Company recorded restructuring charges of $19,153 in the
twelve months ended December 31, 2023 primarily relating to one-time employee termination benefits, inventory and other current asset write-downs, losses on purchase commitments, and
impairment and disposal charges on its long-lived assets. The Company did not have any restructuring charges during fiscal year 2022. Restructuring-related liabilities are included in accrued
expenses and other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.
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Restructuring charges were included in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss during the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 as follows (in thousands):

Twelve months ended December 31, 2023

One-time employee
termination benefits

Inventory and other
current asset write-

downs
Losses on purchase

commitments

Long-lived asset
disposals and

impairment charges Other Total
Cost of revenue $ 130 $ 5,231 $ 360 $ — $ — $ 5,721 
Research and development 789 — — 152 — 941 
Sales and marketing 2,011 30 — 38 — 2,079 
General and administrative 294 — — 55 123 472 
Impairment of long-lived assets — — — 9,940 — 9,940 

Total restructuring charges $ 3,224 $ 5,261 $ 360 $ 10,185 $ 123 $ 19,153 

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balance of cash restructuring charges, including one-time employee termination benefits, losses on purchase commitments, and other
restructuring charges, which are included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets, is as follows (in thousands):

One-time employee
termination benefits

Losses on purchase
commitments Other Total

Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ — $ — $ — $ — 
Charges 3,224 360 123 3,707 
Cash payments (2,822) (127) (67) (3,016)

Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 402 $ 233 $ 56 $ 691 

18. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

Employees of the Company may participate in the AEye, Inc. 401(k) Plan (the "401(k) Plan"), a defined contribution plan, which qualifies under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue
Code. Participating employees may contribute into a traditional plan with pretax salary or into a Roth plan with after tax salary up to statutory limits. In 2023 and 2022, the 401(k) Plan provides for
Company safe harbor matching contributions of 100% of the employee contribution, up to 5% of each employee's earnings, which vest upon the first day of employment. The Company made
contributions of $899 and $1,177 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

19. INCOME TAXES
 

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized $57 and $58 provision for income taxes, respectively. The provision for the year ended December 31, 2023 was
comprised of $3 and $54 in state and foreign taxes, respectively. The provision for the year ended December 31, 2022 was comprised of $9 and $49 in state and foreign taxes, respectively.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of the federal statutory rate of 21.0% to the Company's effective tax rate for the periods presented:
 

Twelve months ended December 31,
2023 2022

U.S. federal tax benefit at statutory rate 21.0 % 21.0 %
State income taxes, net of federal benefit — % — %
Non-deductible expenses and other (0.4)% (1.0)%
Stock-based compensation (4.6)% (2.3)%
Research and development credits 2.3 % 3.5 %
Foreign rate differential — % (4.1)%
Change in valuation allowance, net (18.4)% (17.2)%

Effective tax rate (0.1)% (0.1)%

 
For 2023 and 2022, the Company's effective tax rate differs from the amount computed by applying the statutory federal and state income tax rates to net loss before income tax, primarily as

the result of state income taxes, R&D credits and changes in the Company's valuation allowance.
 

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 are presented below (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2023 2022

Deferred tax assets:
  Net operating loss carryforwards $ 69,612 $ 49,669 
  Research and development credit carryforward 9,941 7,967 
  Stock-based compensation 301 1,048 

Property and equipment 2,364 234 
Operating lease liabilities 4,967 4,435 
Section 174 R&D capitalization 14,194 9,053 

  Other accruals 689 630 
           Gross deferred tax assets 102,068 73,036 
  Valuation allowance (98,840) (68,868)
Deferred tax assets net of valuation allowance 3,228 4,168 
Deferred tax liabilities:

Right-of-use assets (3,228) (4,168)
Gross deferred tax liabilities (3,228) (4,168)

Total deferred tax assets (liabilities)—net $ — $ — 

 
The Company reports income taxes in accordance with ASC 740, which requires an asset and liability approach in accounting for income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are

recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, as well as net
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax amounts are determined by using the enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when the temporary differences are expected to be recovered
or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance reduces the deferred
tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized.

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent on future earnings, if any, the timing and amount of which are uncertain. The Company has a history of operating losses and has incurred
cumulative book losses since its formation. Based upon the history of losses, the Company has determined that it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets will not be realized, and
accordingly, a full valuation allowance has been recorded. The valuation allowance as of December 31, 2023 was $98,840 which increased from $68,868 at December 31, 2022. The increase in the
valuation allowance is primarily due to additional reserve required against net operating losses and research
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credits generated during the year ended December 31, 2023.
 

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had $247,802 and $202,887 of federal and state net operating losses available to reduce future taxable income, respectively, of which $12,256 will
begin to expire in 2033 for federal tax purposes and $202,887 will begin to expire in 2029 for state tax purposes. Approximately $235,546 of federal net operating loss included above can be carried
forward indefinitely.

 
As of December 31, 2022, the Company had $184,007 and $127,624 of federal and state net operating losses available to reduce future taxable income, which will begin to expire on 2033

for federal and 2029 for state tax purposes.
 

The Company also has federal and state research and development tax credit carryforwards of $7,591 and $5,829 as of December 31, 2023 and $6,193 and $4,597 as of December 31, 2022.
The federal credits begin to expire in 2034 and the state credits have no expiration date.

 
Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, the Company’s ability to utilize NOL or other tax attributes, such as research tax credits, in any taxable year, may be

limited if the Company has experienced an “ownership change.” Generally, a Section 382 ownership change occurs if there is a cumulative increase of more than 50 percentage points in the stock
ownership of one or more stockholders or groups of stockholders who owns at least 5% of a corporation’s stock within a specific testing period. Similar rules may apply under state tax laws. Based on
the Section 382 analysis performed through December 31, 2021, the Company concluded all of its NOLs and credits would be available to use as of December 31, 2021, however, future changes in
ownership may limit the ability to use tax attributes under Section 382.

 
The following is a tabular reconciliation of the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits (in thousands):

Twelve months ended December 31,
2023 2022

Unrecognized tax benefits as of the beginning of the year $ 2,822 $ 1,681 
Increases related to prior year tax provisions 161 182 
Increase related to current year tax provisions 497 959 

Unrecognized tax benefits as of the end of the year $ 3,480 $ 2,822 

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to income tax matters as a component of income tax expense. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 there was no accrued
interest nor penalties related to uncertain tax positions.

 
The Company files income tax returns in the U.S., various state jurisdictions, and foreign jurisdictions. The U.S., state and foreign jurisdictions have statutes of limitations that generally

range from three to five years. Due to the Company’s net losses, substantially all of its federal, state and local income tax returns are subject to examination for federal and state purposes since
inception. The Company is not currently under examination for federal or state income tax purposes.

Effective for tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2022, pursuant to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, companies are required to capitalize Internal Revenue Code ("IRC") Section 174
research and experimental expenses paid or incurred during the year. These expenses are amortized over 5 years for research and development performed in the United States and over 15 years for
expenses related to research and development performed outside of the United States. As a result of the IRC Section 174 research and development capitalization, the Company recognized a deferred
tax asset for the future tax benefit of the amortization deductions.

 
20. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Legal Matters—The Company may be subject to legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business. Management is not currently aware of any matters that will have
a material effect on the financial position, results of operations, or cash flows of the Company.
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21. RELATED PARTIES

From November 2016 to December 2023, the Company had employed a sibling of Mr. Dussan, a director and the Company’s former Chief Technology Officer, who held the position of
Director, Human Resources and Sr. Manager of Human Resources during 2023 and 2022, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, Mr. Dussan’s sibling received total cash
compensation of $149 and $162, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, Mr. Dussan’s sibling was granted 2,000 and 750 RSUs, respectively. In addition, he participated in all
other benefits that the Company generally offers to all of its employees.

22. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
 

Management has evaluated subsequent events through March 26, 2024 and determined that there were no such events requiring recognition or disclosure in the financial statements.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have established disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange
Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including
our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we have evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as required under Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act as of December 31, 2023. Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer have concluded that these disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of December 31, 2023.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Under
the supervision of and with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2023 based on the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013). Based on this
assessment, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2023.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm on our internal control over financial reporting. Management’s
report was not subject to attestation by the Company’s registered public accounting firm pursuant to the rules of the SEC that permit emerging growth companies such as our company to provide only
management’s report in the Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, has determined that our internal controls are reasonably designed and implemented to assure
reliable financial reporting and preparation of our financial statements. However, because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance
that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. The design of any system of controls is based in part on certain
assumptions about the likelihood of future events and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Projections of any
evaluation of the effectiveness of controls to future periods are subject to risks. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of
compliance with policies or procedures.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Other than described above, there was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during
the annual period ended December 31, 2023 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans. During the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, no director or officer of the Company adopted or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement”
or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K.
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Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference our Proxy Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the
year ended December 31, 2023.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference our Proxy Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the
year ended December 31, 2023.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference our Proxy Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the
year ended December 31, 2023.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference our Proxy Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the
year ended December 31, 2023.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference our Proxy Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the
year ended December 31, 2023.
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Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of this report:

1.Financial Statements. The financial statements included in “Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements” in Part II, Item 8 are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

2.Financial Statement Schedules. None.

3.Exhibits. Exhibits listed in the accompanying index to exhibits are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Exhibit Number Description Form File Number Exhibit/Appendix
Reference

Filing Date Filed Herewith

2.1† Merger Agreement, dated
as of February 17, 2021, by
and among CF Finance
Acquisition Corp. III,
Merger Sub and AEye

S-4 333-256058 2.1 5/13/2021

2.2 Amendment to the Merger
Agreement, dated as of
April 30, 2021, by and
among CF Finance
Acquisition Corp. III,
merger Sub and AEye
Technologies.

S-4 333-256058 2.2 5/13/2021

3.1 Second Amended and
Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of AEye, Inc.

8-K 001-39699 3.1 08/23/2021

3.2 Certificate of Amendment
of the Second Amended
and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of AEye, Inc.

10-Q 001-39699 3.2 05/11/2023

3.3 Certificate of Amendment
to the Company’s Second
Amended and Restated
Certificate of
Incorporation, as amended,
filed on December 26,
2023.

8-K 001-39699 3.1 12/29/2023

3.4 Amended and Restated
Bylaws of AEye, Inc.

8-K 001-39699 3.2 08/23/2021

4.1 Registration Rights
Agreement by and between
AEye, Inc. and Tumim
Stone Capital LLC, dated
December 8, 2021.

8-K/A 001-39699 4.1 12/15/2021

4.2 Warrant Agreement dated
November 12, 2020,
between Continental Stock
Transfer & Trust Company
and CF Finance
Acquisition Corp. III.

S-4 333-256058 4.1 05/13/2021

4.3 Specimen Warrant
Certificate

S-4 333-256058 4.2 05/13/2021

4.5 Description of Securities
Registered under Section
12 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934

10-K 001-39699 4.5 03/28/2022

10.1 Form of PIPE Subscription
Agreement

S-4 333-256058 10.1 05/13/2021

10.2 Form of Stockholder
Support Agreement, by and
among CF Finance
Acquisition Corp. III and
certain stockholders of
AEye, Inc.

8-K 001-39699 10.2 02/17/2021

10.3 Form of Amended and
Restated Stockholder
Support Agreement, by and
among CF Finance
Acquisition Corp. III and
certain stockholders of
AEye, Inc.

S-4 333-256058 10.2 05/13/2021

10.4 Form of Sponsor Support
Agreement, by and among
CF Finance Acquisition
Corp. III, CF Finance
Holdings III, LLC and
AEye, Inc.

S-4 333-256058 10.3 05/13/2021

10.5 Form of Amendment to
Sponsor Support
Agreement, by and among
CF Finance Acquisition
Corp. III, CF Finance
Holdings III, LLC and
AEye, Inc.

S-4 333-256058 10.4 05/13/2021

10.6 Form of Lock-Up
Agreement, by and among
CF Finance Acquisition
Corp. III, AEye, Inc. and
the holder signatory
thereto.

S-4 333-256058 10.5 05/13/2021

10.7 Promissory Note dated 8-K 001-39699 10.3 05/03/2021

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000121390021025902/fs42021_cffinanceacq3.htm#T801
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000121390021025902/fs42021_cffinanceacq3.htm#T802
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001818644/000119312521253301/d188241dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001818644/000181864423000006/exhibit32amendmentofcertif.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000094787123001187/ss2860285_ex0301.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001818644/000119312521253301/d188241dex32.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000094787121001285/ss682453_ex0401.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000121390020038048/ea130122ex4-1_cffinanceacq3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000121390020032611/ea128663ex4-3_cffinanceacq.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000181864422000008/exhibit45descriptionofsecu.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000121390021025902/fs42021_cffinanceacq3.htm#T809
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000121390021009943/ea135852ex10-2_cffinance3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000121390021025902/fs42021_cffinanceacq3.htm#T810
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000121390021025902/fs42021_cffinanceacq3.htm#T807
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000121390021025902/fs42021_cffinanceacq3.htm#T812
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000121390021025902/fs42021_cffinanceacq3.htm#T812
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000121390021024117/ea140228ex10-3_cffinance3.htm


April 30, 2021.
10.8+ Amended and Restated

AEye, Inc. 2021 Equity
Incentive Plan

AEye, Inc. Definitive
Proxy Statement on
Schedule 14A

001-39699 Annex B 03/20/2023

10.9+ Form of Indemnification
Agreement

8-K 001-39699 10.2 08/23/2021

10.10 Office Lease by and
between TRT NOIP
DUBLIN LP and the
company, dated April 26,
2019.

S-4 333-256058 10.8 05/13/2021

10.11+ Form of Change in Control
Severance Agreement

8-K 001-39699 10.1 03/18/2022

10.12 Common Stock Purchase
Agreement by and between
AEye, Inc. and Tumim
Stone Capital LLC, dated
December 8, 2021.

8-K/A 001-39699 10.1 12/15/2021

10.13 Registration Rights
Agreement, by and among
CF Finance Acquisition
Corp. III and the investors
listed thereto.

S-4 333-256058 10.6 05/13/2021

10.14 Form of Senior Unsecured
Convertible Note, dated
September 15, 2022

8-K 001-39699 4.1 09/16/2022

10.15 Form of Common Stock
Purchase Warrant, dated
September 15, 2022

8-K 001-39699 4.2 09/16/2022

10.16 Securities Purchase
Agreement by and among
AEye, Inc. and 3i, LP,
dated September 15, 2022

8-K 001-39699 10.1 09/16/2022

10.17 Registration Rights
Agreement by and among
AEye, Inc. and 3i, LP,
dated September 15, 2022

8-K 001-39699 10.2 09/16/2022

10.18+ Offer Letter by and
between the Company and
Matthew Fisch, dated
January 20, 2023.

8-K 001-39699 10.1 02/01/2023

10.19+ Form Retention Agreement 8-K 001-39699 10.1 11/07/2023
10.20+ AEye, Inc. 2022 Employee

Stock Purchase Plan
AEye, Inc. Definitive
Proxy Statement on
Schedule 14A

001-39699 Annex A 03/31/2022

10.21+ AEye, Inc. 2023 CEO
Inducement Grant Plan

S-8 333-270731 10.3 03/22/2023

19.1 Insider Trading Policy
effective as of August 3,
2023

X

21.1 List of Significant
Subsidiaries

X

23.1 Consent of Deloitte &
Touche LLP

X

31.1 Certification of Principal
Executive Officer pursuant
to Rules 13a-14(a) and
15(d)-14(a) under the
Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

X

31.2 Certification of Principal
Financial Officer pursuant
to Rules 13a-14(a) and
15(d)-14(a) under the
Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as adopted Pursuant
to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

X

32.1* Certification of Principal
Executive Officer and
Principal Financial Officer
pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

X

97.1 AEye, Inc. Dodd-Frank
Clawback Policy

X

101.INS XBRL Instance Document X
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy

Extension Schema
Document

X

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy
Extension Calculation
Linkbase Document

X

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy
Extension Definition
Linkbase Document

X

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy
Extension Label Linkbase
Document

X

101 PRE XBRL T X

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000121390021024117/ea140228ex10-3_cffinance3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000114036123012553/ny20007497x2_def14a.htm#tANNB
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000114036123012553/ny20007497x2_def14a.htm#tANNB
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000114036123012553/ny20007497x2_def14a.htm#tANNB
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000114036123012553/ny20007497x2_def14a.htm#tANNB
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000114036123012553/ny20007497x2_def14a.htm#tANNB
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000114036123012553/ny20007497x2_def14a.htm#tANNB
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000114036123012553/ny20007497x2_def14a.htm#tANNB
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000114036123012553/ny20007497x2_def14a.htm#tANNB
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000114036123012553/ny20007497x2_def14a.htm#tANNB
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000114036123012553/ny20007497x2_def14a.htm#tANNB
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000114036123012553/ny20007497x2_def14a.htm#tANNB
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000114036123012553/ny20007497x2_def14a.htm#tANNB
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000119312521253301/d188241dex102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000121390021025902/fs42021ex10-8_cffinance.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000094787122000382/ss874208_ex1001.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000094787121001285/ss682453_ex1001.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000121390021025902/fs42021_cffinanceacq3.htm#T811
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000094787122000970/ss1339800_ex0401.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000094787122000970/ss1339800_ex0402.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000094787122000970/ss1339800_ex1001.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000094787122000970/ss1339800_ex1002.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000094787123000112/ss1717887_ex1001.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000094787123000112/ss1717887_ex1001.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000094787123000112/ss1717887_ex1001.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000094787123000112/ss1717887_ex1001.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001818644/000094787123001046/ss2682739_ex1001.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001818644/000094787123001046/ss2682739_ex1001.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001818644/000094787123001046/ss2682739_ex1001.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000114036122012245/ny20002623x1_def14a.htm#tANNA
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000094787123000348/ss1888179_ex1003.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1818644/000094787123000348/ss1888179_ex1003.htm


101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy
Extension Presentation
Linkbase Document

X

104 Cover Page Interactive
Data File (formatted as
Inline XBRL)

X

† Certain of the exhibits and schedules to this Exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601(a)(5). The Registrant agrees to furnish a copy of all omitted exhibits and
schedules to the SEC upon its request.

* The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 that accompanies this Annual Report on Form 10-K is deemed furnished and not filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of AEye, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, irrespective of any general
incorporation language contained in such filing.

+ Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: March 26, 2024

AEye, Inc.

By: /s/ Matthew Fisch
Matthew Fisch
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
(Principal Executive Officer)

By: /s/ Conor Tierney
Conor Tierney
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

By signing this Annual Report on Form 10-K below, I hereby appoint each of Matthew Fisch and Conor Tierney as my attorney-in-fact to sign all amendments to this Form 10-K on my
behalf, and to file this Form 10-K (including all exhibits and other documents related to the Form 10-K) with the Securities and Exchange Commission. I authorize each of my attorneys-in-fact to (1)
appoint a substitute attorney-in-fact for himself and (2) perform any actions that he believes are necessary or appropriate to carry out the intention and purpose of this Power of Attorney. I ratify and
confirm all lawful actions taken directly or indirectly by my attorneys-in-fact and by any properly appointed substitute attorneys-in-fact.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacity
and on the dates indicated.

By: /s/ Matthew Fisch
Matthew Fisch
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
(Principal Executive Officer)
March 26, 2024

By: /s/ Conor Tierney
Conor Tierney
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer)
March 26, 2024

By: /s/ Timothy J. Dunn
Timothy J. Dunn
Director
March 26, 2024

By: /s/ Luis C. Dussan
Luis C. Dussan
Director
March 26, 2024

By: /s/ Prof. Dr. Bernd Gottschalk
Prof. Dr. Bernd Gottschalk
Director
March 26, 2024

By: /s/ Jonathon B. Husby
Jonathon B. Husby
Director
March 26, 2024

By: /s/ Sue E. Zeifman
Sue E. Zeifman
Director
March 26, 2024
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INSIDER TRADING POLICY 1. Introduction The purpose of this Insider Trading Policy (the “Policy”) is to promote compliance with applicable securities laws by the Company and its subsidiaries and all directors, officers, employees, and other agents (and members of the forgoing persons’ immediate families and households), in order to preserve the reputation and integrity of the Company, as well as that of all persons affiliated with the Company. Questions regarding this policy should be directed to the Company’s General Counsel (the “General Counsel”), who, along with such designees as the General Counsel may designate in his or her absence (including the Company’s outside securities counsel), shall have the authority to oversee and apply the Policy pursuant to the terms set forth herein. 2. Policy It is the Company’s policy to comply with all applicable securities laws, including those relating to buying or selling securities in the Company, e.g., the Company’s stock (“Company Securities”). In the course of conducting the Company’s business, directors, officers, employees, and others may become aware of material, non-public information (as defined in Section 4, below) regarding the Company, its subsidiaries and affiliates, or other companies with which we do business. Directors, officers, employees, and agents of the Company and members of their immediate families may not buy or sell Company Securities, or securities of any other publicly- held company, while in possession of material, non-public information concerning or related to such company that was obtained during the course of employment or other involvement with Company business, even if those persons believe the decision to buy or sell is not based upon such material, non-public information. In addition, entities such as trusts or foundations over which a Company director, officer, employee, or agent has control may not buy or sell securities while the employee is in possession
of such material, non-public information concerning or related to such company. If you are in possession of material, non-public information, you may not disclose that information to others, even to family members or other Company employees, except for Company employees whose job responsibilities require knowledge of such information. This Policy will continue to apply to any Company director, officer, employee, or agent whose relationship with the Company terminates as long as the individual possesses material, non-public information that he or she obtained in the course of their employment or relationship with the Company. Transactions that may be necessary or justifiable for independent reasons (such as the need to raise money for an emergency expenditure) are not exceptions to this Policy. The securities laws do not recognize such mitigating circumstances, and, in any event, even the appearance of an improper transaction must be avoided to preserve AEye’s reputation for adhering to the highest standards of conduct.



 

2 Effective August 3, 2023 3. Applicability The general policy stated above applies to all directors, officers, employees, and other agents of the Company and its subsidiaries. In order to ensure compliance with this Policy, the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) has adopted the following rules, which apply to directors and officers and certain employees and agents of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries identified by the General Counsel and listed (or identified by position) in Part 1 of Annex D to this Policy (“Covered Persons”), and their Related Persons (as defined in Section 4.D., below). The Company has determined that these Covered Persons are likely to have access to material, non-public information by virtue of their position with the Company. These rules apply regardless of the dollar amount of the trade or the source of the material, non-public information. Covered Persons (listed in Part 2 of Annex D) and their Related Persons (“Restricted Persons”) will be subject to additional procedures in advance of trading as provided in Section 5.C., below. Any questions regarding the applicability of this Policy to a specific situation should be directed to the General Counsel. 4. Definition/Explanations A. Who is an “Insider?” The definition of “insider” is broad. Any person who possesses material, non-public information is considered an insider as to that information. Insiders include Company directors, officers, employees, independent contractors, and those persons in a special relationship with the Company (e.g., its auditors, consultants, or attorneys). The definition of an insider is transaction- specific; that is, an individual is an insider with respect to each material, non-public item of which he or she is aware. B. What is “Material” Information? The materiality of a fact depends upon the circumstances. A fact is considered “material” if there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider it important in
making a decision to buy, sell, or hold a security or where the fact is likely to have a significant effect on the market price of the security. Material information can be positive or negative and can relate to virtually any aspect of a company’s business or to any type of security, debt, or equity. Some examples of material information include: • earnings and other financial results (or material changes to such earnings or other financial results); • guidance on earnings estimates or other financial information; • significant expansion or curtailment of operations, such as the purchase or sale of property or assets; • a significant increase or decline in revenues; • changes in dividend policies or the declaration of a stock split or the offering of additional securities;



 

3 Effective August 3, 2023 • significant merger or acquisition proposals or agreements, including tender offers; • significant new products or plans to enter significant new businesses; • extraordinary borrowing; • gain or loss of a substantial customer; • the institution of significant litigation or regulatory proceedings or investigations; • significant management developments; and • impending bankruptcy or financial liquidity problems. The above list is not exhaustive, and many other types of information may be considered “material” depending on the circumstances. The materiality of certain information is subject to reassessment on a regular basis. When in doubt, please contact the General Counsel. C. What is “Non-Public” Information? Information is “non-public” if it is not available to the general public. In order for information to be considered public, it must be widely disseminated in a manner that makes it generally available to investors through a report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) or through media including Dow Jones, Reuters Economic Services, The Wall Street Journal, or the Associated Press. The circulation of rumors, even if accurate and reported in the media, does not constitute effective public dissemination. In addition, even after a public announcement of material information, a reasonable period of time must elapse in order for the market to react to the information. Generally, approximately two full trading days following publication is a reasonable waiting period before information is deemed to be public. Therefore, if an announcement is made before the commencement of trading on a Monday, an employee who had prior knowledge of that information (before it was made public) may trade in Company Securities starting on Wednesday of that week, because two full trading days would have elapsed (all of Monday and Tuesday). If the announcement is made on Monday after trading begins, the employe
may not trade in Company Securities until Thursday. If the announcement is made on Friday after trading begins, the employee may not trade in Company Securities until Wednesday of the following week. Note that this restriction is in addition to any other restrictions that apply under this Policy, including the requirement that certain trades be pre-cleared (see Section 5.C., below) and that they occur during specified trading windows (see Section 5.G., below). D. Who is a “Related Person?” For purposes of this Policy, a “Related Person” includes (1) your spouse, minor children, and anyone else living in your household, (2) partnerships in which you are a general partner, (3) corporations in which you either singly or together with other “Related Persons” own a controlling interest, (4) trusts of which you are a trustee, settlor, or beneficiary, (5) estates of which you are an executor or beneficiary, or (6) any other group or entity where you have or



 

4 Effective August 3, 2023 share with others the power to decide whether to buy or sell Company Securities. Although a person’s parent, adult child, or sibling may not be considered a Related Person (unless living in the same household), a parent, adult child, or sibling may be a “tippee” for securities laws purposes. See Section 5.D., below for the Company’s policy on “tipping.” 5. Guidelines A. Non-Disclosure of Material, Non-Public Information Material, non-public information is strictly confidential and must not be disclosed to anyone, other than persons within the Company or third party agents of the Company (such as investment banking advisors or outside legal counsel) whose positions require them to know such information and who have professional or contractual obligations of confidentiality, until such information has been publicly released by the Company. B. Prohibited Trading in Company Securities No Covered Persons or their Related Persons may place a purchase or sell order, or recommend that another person place a purchase or sell order in Company Securities (including initial elections, changes in elections, or reallocation of funds relating to 401(k) plan accounts, but excluding the exercise of options, other than as described in Section 5.G., below) outside of a trading window (see Section 5.G., below) or when he or she has knowledge of material, non- public information concerning or related to the Company. C. Pre-Clearance If securities transactions ever become the subject of scrutiny, they are likely to be viewed after-the-fact and with the benefit of hindsight. Therefore, Restricted Persons, who are the persons in the Company most likely to have material non-public information in their possession, must obtain prior clearance from the Company’s General Counsel before they or any of their Related Persons make any purchases or sales of Company Securities. In the event the Company’s General Counsel seeks pre-clearance for a
trade, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company shall review and provide clearance prior to any purchase or sale of Company Securities. Pre-clearance does not relieve anyone of their responsibility under SEC rules. Accordingly, pre-clearance requests must be made during an open trading window and outside of any blackout period and may not be made while the Restricted Person is in possession of any material non-public information. Pre-clearance requests should be made at least two (2) business days in advance of the proposed transaction and may only be obtained by submitting a request substantially in the form attached hereto as Annex A. Each proposed transaction will be evaluated to determine if it raises insider trading concerns or other concerns under the applicable securities laws and regulations. Any advice will relate solely to the restraints imposed by law and will not constitute advice regarding the investment aspects of any transaction. Pre-clearance of a transaction is valid until the earlier to occur of (a) the end of the 4th trading day following the date of the clearance, (b) the Restricted Person becomes aware of material, non-public information, or (c) the Restricted Person becomes subject to a blackout period. If the transaction order is not placed within the four (4) trading day period, pre-clearance of the transaction must be re-requested. If pre-



 

5 Effective August 3, 2023 clearance is denied, the fact of such denial must be kept confidential by the person requesting such pre-clearance. An exercise of a stock option need not be pre-cleared if such exercise does not involve the market sale of any Company Securities (for example, the surrender of Company Securities to the Company in payment of the exercise price or in satisfaction of any tax withholding obligations in a manner permitted by the applicable equity award agreement, or vesting of equity-based awards; provided, that the “cashless exercise” of a Company stock option through a broker-assisted sale to cover any tax withholding obligations incurred in connection with the exercise of stock options or vesting of an equity-based award does involve a market sale of Company Securities, and, therefore, would not qualify under this exception). D. “Tipping” Information to Others Insiders may be liable for communicating or tipping material, non-public information to any third party (“tippee”), not limited to just Related Persons. Further, insider trading violations are not limited to trading or tipping by insiders. Persons other than insiders also can be liable for insider trading, including tippees who trade on material, non-public information tipped to them and individuals who trade on material, non-public information which has been misappropriated. Tippees inherit an insider’s duties and are liable for trading on material, non-public information illegally tipped to them by an insider. Similarly, just as insiders are liable for the insider trading of their tippees, so are tippees who pass the information along to others who trade. In other words, a tippee’s liability for insider trading is no different from that of an insider. Tippees can obtain material, non-public information by receiving overt tips from others or through, among other things, conversations at social, business, or other gatherings. Therefore, it is the Company’s policy that Covered Persons are
required to keep completely and strictly confidential all non-public information relating to the Company. E. Avoid Speculation Covered Persons and their Related Persons may not trade in options, warrants, puts and calls, or similar derivative securities on Company Securities or sell Company Securities “short.” For further information, see Section 5.I., below. In addition, Covered Persons and their Related Persons may not purchase Company Securities on margin. Investing in Company Securities provides an opportunity to share in the future growth of the Company. Investment in the Company and sharing in the growth of the Company, however, does not mean short-range speculation based on fluctuations in the market. Such activities may put the personal gain of the Covered Person or Related Person in conflict with the best interests of the Company and its securityholders. F. Trading in Securities of Other Public Companies No Covered Person or Related Person may place purchase or sell orders or recommend that another person place a purchase or sell order in the securities of another company if the person learns of material, non-public information about the other company in the course of his or her service to, or employment with, the Company.



 

6 Effective August 3, 2023 G. Trading Window In addition to all of the other limitations contained in this Policy, Covered Persons and their Related Persons may only buy or sell Company Securities in the public market during the period beginning two (2) trading days after the release of the Company’s quarterly and year-end earnings announcement and continuing until the fifteenth calendar day prior to the end of the next fiscal quarter. For example, if the Company’s second fiscal quarter ends at 11:59 p.m., Pacific time, on December 31, the corresponding blackout period would begin at 11:59 p.m., Pacific time, on December 16 and continue until two (2) days after release of the Company’s quarterly earnings report, typically in early to mid-February. In addition, you should remember that, even if the trading window is open, you still cannot trade in Company Securities if you are in possession of material, non-public information, and you still must receive pre-clearance for any trade in Company Securities. From time-to-time, the Company, through the General Counsel, may close trading during a trading window in light of developments that could involve material, non-public information. In these situations, the General Counsel will notify particular individuals that they should not engage in trading of Company Securities (except as permitted under a Rule 10b5-1 plan as described below) and should not disclose to others the fact that the trading window has been closed. If the relationship of an individual with the Company should terminate while such a notice is in effect, the prohibition will continue to apply until the General Counsel gives notice that the ban has been lifted. Exercises of options for cash, as well as “cashless exercises” not involving a market sale of Company Securities, may be executed at any time. “Cashless exercises” involving an option exercise and an accompanying market sale of Company Securities as described above are subject to
the trading window. H. Pre-Arranged Trading Plans SEC Rule 10b5-1(c) provides an affirmative defense from insider trading liability if trades occur pursuant to a pre-arranged “trading plan” that meets specified conditions. Under this rule, if you enter into a binding contract, an instruction, or a written plan that specifies the amount, price, and date on which securities are to be purchased or sold, and if these arrangements are established at a time when you do not possess material, non-public information relevant to such trades, then you may claim an affirmative defense to insider trading liability if the transactions under the trading plan occur at a time when you have subsequently learned relevant material, non-public information. Arrangements under Rule 10b5-1(c) may specify the amount, price, and date through a formula or may specify trading parameters which another person has discretion to administer, but you must not exercise any subsequent discretion affecting the transactions, and if your broker or any other person exercises discretion in implementing trades, you must not influence his or her actions and he or she must not possess any relevant material, non-public information at the time of the trades. Trading plans can be established for a single trade or a series of trades. It is important that you properly document the details of a trading plan. Please note that, in addition to the trading plan requirements described above, there are a number of additional



 

7 Effective August 3, 2023 procedural conditions to Rule 10b5-1(c) that must be satisfied before you can rely on a trading plan as an affirmative defense against an insider trading charge. These requirements include: (a) that you act in good faith; (b) that you not modify your trading instructions while you possess relevant material, non-public information; and (c) that you not enter into or alter a corresponding or hedging transaction or position. Because Rule 10b5-1(c) is complex, the Company recommends that you work with a broker who is experienced in establishing such plans and be sure that you fully understand the applicable limitations and conditions before you establish a trading plan. A Covered Person may only enter into a trading plan if (a) it is precleared by the General Counsel; (b) at a time that the Covered Person is not in possession of material, non-public information; and (c) only during a trading window period outside of the blackout period that applies to the Covered Person. The Company requires a cooling-off period of the later of (i) 90 days between the establishment of a trading plan and commencement of trading under such trading plan, or (ii) two business days after the filing of the Company’s Form 10-Q or Form 10- K, for the fiscal period in which the plan is adopted (but not to exceed 120 days), as required by Rule 10b5-1 (the “Cooling-off Period”). The General Counsel will review a proposed trading plan to determine the plan is in compliance with this Policy. The General Counsel will notify the chair of the Audit Committee if any executive officer or director intends to enter into a trading plan. If the Audit Committee chair deems appropriate, a review of any trading plan may be considered by the Audit Committee prior to approval. Revocation of a trading plan should occur only in unusual circumstances. Effectiveness of any revocation or amendment of a trading plan will be subject to the prior review and approval of the Genera
Counsel. Revocation is effected upon written notice to the broker and, once a trading plan has been revoked, the participant must wait at least 60 days before trading outside of a trading plan and 180 days before establishing a new trading plan, unless otherwise approved by the General Counsel as facts and circumstances warrant. A Covered Person acting in good faith may amend a prior trading plan so long as such amendments are made at a time when the Covered Person does not possess material, non-public information and, as applicable, outside of a quarterly or other Company-imposed trading blackout period. Plan amendments are subject to the Cooling-off Period commencing on the date the plan amendments are made. Under certain circumstances, a trading plan must be revoked. This may include circumstances such as the announcement of a merger or the occurrence of an event that would cause the transaction either to violate the law or to have an adverse effect on the Company. The General Counsel and the administrator of the Company’s stock plans are authorized to notify the broker in such circumstances, thereby insulating the insider in the event of revocation. I. Hedging Hedging or monetization transactions can be accomplished in a number of ways, including through the use of financial instruments such as call or put options, prepaid variable forward contracts, equity swaps, collars, and exchange funds. These hedging transactions may permit a Company director, officer, or employee to continue to own Company common stock without the full risks and rewards of ownership. When that occurs, the Company director, officer, or employee may no longer have the same objectives as the Company’s other



 

8 Effective August 3, 2023 stockholders. In addition, directors, and certain officers subject to the obligations of Section 16 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are obligated to file reports with respect to hedging transactions with the SEC. As a result, the Board has determined that directors, officers, and employees shall be prohibited from engaging in any hedging transactions involving Company stock. J. Pledging Company Securities held in a margin account as collateral for a loan may be sold by a broker without the customer’s consent if the customer fails to meet a margin call. Similarly, securities pledged as collateral for a loan may be sold in foreclosure if the borrower defaults on the loan. Because a margin sale or foreclosure sale may occur at a time when the pledgor is aware of material, non-public information or otherwise is not permitted to trade in Company Securities, Covered Persons are prohibited from holding Company Securities in a margin account or otherwise pledging Company Securities as collateral for a loan. K. “Short-Swing” Transactions Restricted Persons and certain other persons identified by the Company from time-to-time must also comply with reporting obligations and may become subject to potential short-swing profit liability for certain transactions pursuant Section 16 of the Exchange Act. The practical effect of these provisions is that Restricted Persons and such other persons who purchase and sell (or vice versa) the Company’s securities within a six (6)-month period must disgorge all short- swing profits to the Company, unless exempted under Section 16(b), regardless of whether they had knowledge of any material nonpublic information. L. No Circumvention No circumvention of this Policy is permitted. You may not try to accomplish indirectly what is prohibited directly by this Policy. The short-term benefits to an individual do not outweigh the potential liability that may result when an employee is involved in
the illegal trading of securities. 6. Penalties for Insider Trading Penalties for trading on or communicating material, non-public information are severe, both for individuals involved in such unlawful conduct and their employers. A person can be subject to some or all of the penalties below even if he or she does not permanently benefit from the violation. Penalties include: • civil injunctions; • treble damages; • disgorgement of profits; • prison sentences of up to 20 years and criminal fines of up to $5 million per violation for natural persons and $25 million per violation



 

9 Effective August 3, 2023 for non-natural persons; • civil fines for the person who committed the violation of up to three times the profit gained or loss avoided, whether or not the person actually benefited; • fines for the employer or other controlling/supervisory person of up to the greater of $1.2 million or three times the amount of the profit gained or loss avoided plus, in the case of entities, a criminal penalty of up to $2.5 million; and • criminal penalties up to 25 years in prison for knowingly executing a “scheme or artifice to defraud any person” in connection with any registered securities. In addition, any violation of this Policy can be expected to result in serious sanctions by the Company, up to and including termination of the persons involved. 7. Acknowledgment All Covered Persons must certify in writing using the form attached hereto as Annex B that they have read and intend to comply with the procedures set forth in this Policy. Additionally, in the event a Restricted Person decides to establish a Rule 10b5-1 trading plan, their broker-dealer will need to sign a Broker Instruction and Representation Letter substantially in the form attached hereto as Annex C. 8. Interpretation This Policy should be interpreted and construed in the context of all applicable laws and the Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Company, as well as any other corporate governance documents. 9. Limitation of Liability; Amendment; Waivers None of the Company, the General Counsel, the Company’s other employees or any other person will have any liability for any delay in reviewing, or refusal of, a trading plan or a request for pre-clearance submitted pursuant to this Policy. Notwithstanding any review of a trading plan or pre-clearance of a transaction pursuant to this Policy, none of the Company, the General Counsel, the Company’s other employees or any other person assumes any liability for the legality or consequences of such trading plan or transaction to
the person engaging in or adopting such trading plan or transaction. The Board reserves the right to amend this Policy at any time. Ultimately, the responsibility for adhering to this Policy and avoiding unlawful transactions rests solely with each individual.



 

ANNEX A Pre-Trading Clearance and Certification Form I desire to make a trade in securities of the Company or another company with which the Company does business, consisting of: (describe proposed trade) I hereby certify that I have read the Company’s Insider Trading Policy, and I am not now in possession of any material, non-public information concerning the Company or any other company whose securities I intend to trade. I intend to execute this transaction prior to the end of the fourth (4th) trading day following the day of approval. I understand that I must resubmit this form if the transaction does not take place within that time. Date Signature Name (print legibly) The above transaction is: ☐ Approved if made within four trading days of the “Approval Date” set forth below ☐ Not Approved Approval Date [Authorized Officer]



 

ANNEX B ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF POLICY To the Board of Directors: I acknowledge that I have read and understand the Company Insider Trading Policy and agree to abide by its provisions. Signature: Name (Please Print):



 

ANNEX C Sample Broker Instruction/Representation Letter [Name of Employee] [Address] [Telephone/E-mail] [Date] [Name of Broker] [Name of Brokerage Firm] [Address] Dear [Name of Broker]: With regard to my holdings of securities in the Company and those of my related parties, [names of related parties], held in my account with you, I instruct you: 1. Not to enter any order (except for orders under and pursuant to pre-approved Rule 10b5-1 plans) without first: • verifying with the Company that the transaction was pre-cleared by emailing the Company at [●]; and • complying with your firm’s compliance procedures (e.g., Rule 144). 2. To report immediately to the Company in writing via e-mail to [●] the details of every transaction involving Company stock including gifts, transfers, pledges, and all Rule 10b5-1 transactions. Please execute and return a facsimile (e.g., pdf) of this representation letter to: [email address to be inserted] Sincerely, [Employee] Acknowledgement On behalf of [Name of Brokerage Firm] and for myself, I acknowledge the foregoing instructions with regard to the holdings of [Name of Insider] and [his/her] related parties’ holdings of securities of the Company and signify my agreement to comply with them. Date / / Name of Broker



 

ANNEX D COVERED PERSONS Part 1 – Covered Persons • All Section 16 reporting persons. • All Company employees at the vice president level or above, which shall include those with the title of “general manager,” “country manager,” “vice president,” “senior vice president,” “chief,” and more senior officers. • All Company employees in the Finance Department. • All Company employees in the Legal Department. • All Company employees in the Communications Department. • All administrative assistants and executive coordinators. Part 2 – Restricted Persons (subject to trade pre-clearance) • All Section 16 reporting persons.



 



Exhibit 21.1

LIST OF SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES

Legal Name Jurisdiction of Organization
AEye Technologies, Inc. Delaware
AEye Germany GmbH Germany
AEye Japan G.K. Japan
AEye Korea South Korea



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-259554, 333-264727 and 333-267937 on Form S-3 and Registration Statement Nos.
333-265064, 333-260601, 333-270731 and 333-272570 on Form S-8 of our report dated March 26, 2024, relating to the financial statements of AEye, Inc. appearing
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of AEye, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2023.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

San Francisco, California
March 26, 2024



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Matthew Fisch, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of AEye, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and



5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 26, 2024
By: /s/ Matthew Fisch            

Matthew Fisch
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Conor Tierney, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of AEye, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and



5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 26, 2024
By: /s/ Conor Tierney                

Conor Tierney
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with this Annual Report on Form 10-K of AEye, Inc. (the “Company”) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report), the undersigned, Matthew Fisch, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that (i) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a)
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and (ii) that information contained in such Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 26, 2024
By: /s/ Matthew Fisch            

Matthew Fisch
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

In connection with this Annual Report on Form 10-K of AEye, Inc. (the “Company”) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report), the undersigned, Conor Tierney, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that (i) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a)
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and (ii) that information contained in such Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 26, 2024
By: /s/ Conor Tierney            

Conor Tierney
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

This certification accompanies the Form 10-K to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated by
reference into any filing of AEye, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or
after the date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.



AEYE, INC. DODD-FRANK CLAWBACK POLICY The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of AEye, Inc. (the “Company”) has adopted this Dodd- Frank Clawback Policy (this “Policy”) in accordance with the applicable provisions of The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC Listing Rules (the “Clawback Rules”), promulgated pursuant to the final rules adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission enacting the clawback standards under Section 954 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. The Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) is designated to administer this Policy. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Policy have the meanings given to them under the Clawback Rules, which are attached to this Policy as Appendix A. Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Incentive Compensation. The Company shall comply with the Clawback Rules and reasonably promptly recover Erroneously Awarded Compensation Received by current or former Executive Officers of the Company (“Covered Individuals”) as required by the Clawback Rules. Covered Individuals. The Committee shall determine the Company’s Covered Individuals. Covered Compensation. This Policy applies to the Incentive-based Compensation Received by a Covered Individual: (1) after such Covered Individual began service as an Executive Officer; (2) who served as an Executive Officer at any time during the performance period for that Incentive-based Compensation; (3) while the Company has a class of securities listed on a national securities exchange or a national securities association; and (4) during the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the date that the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement as described above (or during any transition period, that results from a change in the Company’s fiscal year, within or immediately following those three completed fiscal years, as determined in accordance with the
Clawback Rules). The amount of Incentive-based Compensation subject to this Policy is the Erroneously Awarded Compensation, which is be the amount of Incentive-based Compensation Received by a Covered Individual that exceeds the amount of Incentive-based Compensation that otherwise would have been Received by the Covered Individual had it been determined based on the restated amount (or otherwise determined in accordance with the Clawback Rules), and will be computed without regard to any taxes paid by the Covered Individual (or withheld from the Incentive-based Compensation). The Committee shall make all determinations regarding the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation. Method of Recovery. The Committee shall determine, in its sole discretion, the manner in which any Erroneously Awarded Compensation shall be recovered. Methods of recovery may include, but are not limited to: (1) seeking direct repayment from the Covered Individual; (2) reducing (subject to applicable law and the terms and conditions of the applicable plan, program, or arrangement pursuant to which the incentive-based compensation was paid) the amount that would otherwise be payable to the Covered Individual under any compensation, bonus, incentive, equity, and other benefit plan, agreement, policy, or arrangement maintained by the Company or any of its affiliates; (3) cancelling any award (whether cash- or equity-based) or portion thereof previously granted to the Covered Individual; or (4) any combination of the foregoing. No-Fault Basis. This Policy applies on a no-fault basis, and Covered Individuals will be subject to recovery under this Policy without regard to their personal culpability.



 

2 Other Company Arrangements. This Policy shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other clawback, recovery, or recoupment policy maintained by the Company from time to time, as well as any clawback, recovery, or recoupment provision in any of the Company’s plans, awards, or individual agreements (including the clawback, recovery, and recoupment provisions in the Company’s equity award agreements) (collectively, “Other Company Arrangement”) and any other rights or remedies available to the Company, including termination of employment; provided, however, that there is no intention to, nor shall there be, any duplicative recoupment of the same compensation under more than one policy, plan, award, or agreement. In addition, no Other Company Arrangement shall serve to restrict the scope or the recoverability of Erroneously Awarded Compensation under this Policy or in any way limit recovery in compliance with the Clawback Rules. No Indemnification. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in any policy, arrangement, bylaws, charter, certificate of incorporation, or plan of the Company or any individual agreement between a Covered Individual and the Company or any of its affiliates, no Covered Individual shall be entitled to indemnification from the Company or any of its affiliates for the amount that is or may be recovered by the Company pursuant to this Policy; provided, however, that to the extent expense advancement or reimbursement is available to a Covered Individual, this Policy shall not serve to prohibit such advancement or reimbursement. Administration; Interpretation. The Committee shall interpret and construe this Policy consistent with the Clawback Rules and applicable laws and regulations and shall make all determinations necessary, appropriate, or advisable for the administration of this Policy. Any determinations made by the Committee shall be final, binding, and conclusive on all affected
individuals. As required by the Clawback Rules, the Company shall provide public disclosures related to this Policy and any applicable recoveries of Erroneously Awarded Compensation. To the extent this Policy conflicts or is inconsistent with the Clawback Rules, the Clawback Rules shall govern. In no event is this Policy intended to be broader than, or require recoupment in addition to, that required pursuant to the Clawback Rules. Amendment or Termination of this Policy. The Board reserves the right to amend this Policy at any time and for any reason, subject to applicable law and the Clawback Rules. To the extent that the Clawback Rules cease to be in force or cease to apply to the Company, this Policy shall also cease to be in force. Approved and Adopted: August 3, 2023



 

Appendix A Clawback Rules



 

The rule changes below will take effect on October 2, 2023. 1 THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET LLC RULES * * * * * 5210. Prerequisites for Applying to List on The Nasdaq Stock Market All Companies applying to list on The Nasdaq Stock Market must meet the following prerequisites: (a) – (k) No change. (l) As required by SEC Rule 10D-1, any Company listing on Nasdaq must comply with the requirements of Rule 5608 (Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation). * * * * * 5601. Preamble to the Corporate Governance Requirements In addition to meeting the quantitative requirements in the Rule 5200, 5300, 5400 and 5500 Series, Companies applying to list and listed on Nasdaq must meet the qualitative requirements outlined in this Rule 5600 Series. These requirements include rules relating to a Company's board of directors, including audit committees and Independent Director oversight of executive compensation and the director nomination process; recovery of erroneously awarded compensation; code of conduct; shareholder meetings, including proxy solicitation and quorum; review of related party transactions; and shareholder approval, including voting rights. Exemptions to these rules, including phase-in schedules, are set forth in Rule 5615. Nasdaq maintains a website that provides guidance on the applicability of the corporate governance requirements by FAQs and published summaries of anonymous versions of previously issued staff interpretative letters. Companies are encouraged to contact Listing Qualifications to discuss any complex issues or transactions. Companies can also submit a request for a written interpretation pursuant to Rule 5602. * * * * * 5608. Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation (a) Preamble. As required by SEC Rule 10D-1, this Rule 5608 requires Companies to adopt a compensation recovery policy, comply with that policy, and provide the compensation recovery policy disclosures required by
this rule and in the applicable Commission filings. (b) Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation. Each Company must: (1) Adopt and comply with a written policy providing that the Company will recover reasonably promptly the amount of erroneously awarded incentive-based compensation in the event that the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement due to



 

The rule changes below will take effect on October 2, 2023. 2 the material noncompliance of the Company with any financial reporting requirement under the securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial statements that is material to the previously issued financial statements, or that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period. (i) The Company’s recovery policy must apply to all incentive-based compensation received by a person: (A) After beginning service as an executive officer; (B) Who served as an executive officer at any time during the performance period for that incentive-based compensation; (C) While the Company has a class of securities listed on a national securities exchange or a national securities association; and (D) During the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the date that the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement as described in paragraph (b)(1) of this Rule. In addition to these last three completed fiscal years, the recovery policy must apply to any transition period (that results from a change in the Company’s fiscal year) within or immediately following those three completed fiscal years. However, a transition period between the last day of the Company’s previous fiscal year end and the first day of its new fiscal year that comprises a period of nine to 12 months would be deemed a completed fiscal year. A Company’s obligation to recover erroneously awarded compensation is not dependent on if or when the restated financial statements are filed. (ii) For purposes of determining the relevant recovery period, the date that a Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement as described in paragraph (b)(1) of this Rule is the earlier to occur of: (A) The date the Company’s board of directors, a committee of the board of directors, or the officer or
officers of the Company authorized to take such action if board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement as described in paragraph (b)(1) of this Rule; or (B) The date a court, regulator, or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare an accounting restatement as described in paragraph (b)(1) of this Rule. (iii) The amount of incentive-based compensation that must be subject to the Company’s recovery policy (“erroneously awarded compensation”) is the amount of incentive-based compensation received that exceeds the amount of incentive- based compensation that otherwise would have been received had it been determined based on the restated amounts, and must be computed without regard to any taxes paid. For incentive-based compensation based on stock price or total shareholder return, where the amount of erroneously awarded compensation is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in an accounting restatement: (A) The amount must be based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the accounting restatement on the stock price or total shareholder return upon which the incentive-based compensation was received; and



 

The rule changes below will take effect on October 2, 2023. 3 (B) The Company must maintain documentation of the determination of that reasonable estimate and provide such documentation to Nasdaq. (iv) The Company must recover erroneously awarded compensation in compliance with its recovery policy except to the extent that the conditions of paragraphs (b)(1)(iv)(A), (B), or (C) of this Rule are met, and the Company’s Compensation Committee, or in the absence of such a committee, a majority of the independent directors serving on the board, has made a determination that recovery would be impracticable. (A) The direct expense paid to a third party to assist in enforcing the policy would exceed the amount to be recovered. Before concluding that it would be impracticable to recover any amount of erroneously awarded compensation based on expense of enforcement, the Company must make a reasonable attempt to recover such erroneously awarded compensation, document such reasonable attempt(s) to recover, and provide that documentation to Nasdaq. (B) Recovery would violate home country law where that law was adopted prior to November 28, 2022. Before concluding that it would be impracticable to recover any amount of erroneously awarded compensation based on violation of home country law, the Company must obtain an opinion of home country counsel, acceptable to Nasdaq, that recovery would result in such a violation, and must provide such opinion to Nasdaq. (C) Recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly available to employees of the registrant, to fail to meet the requirements of 26 U.S.C. 401(a)(13) or 26 U.S.C. 411(a) and regulations thereunder. (v) The Company is prohibited from indemnifying any executive officer or former executive officer against the loss of erroneously awarded compensation. (2) File all disclosures with respect to such recovery policy in
accordance with the requirements of the Federal securities laws, including the disclosure required by the applicable Commission filings. (c) General Exemptions. The requirements of this Rule 5608 do not apply to the listing of: (1) Any security issued by a unit investment trust, as defined in 15 U.S.C. 80a-4(2); and (2) Any security issued by a management company, as defined in 15 U.S.C. 80a-4(3), that is registered under section 8 of the Investment Company Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. 80a- 8), if such management company has not awarded incentive-based compensation to any executive officer of the company in any of the last three fiscal years, or in the case of a company that has been listed for less than three fiscal years, since the listing of the company. (d) Definitions. Unless the context otherwise requires, the following definitions apply for purposes of this Rule 5608 (and only for purposes of this Rule 5608): Executive Officer. An executive officer is the Company’s president, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer (or if there is no such accounting officer, the



 

The rule changes below will take effect on October 2, 2023. 4 controller), any vice-president of the Company in charge of a principal business unit, division, or function (such as sales, administration, or finance), any other officer who performs a policy-making function, or any other person who performs similar policy- making functions for the Company. Executive officers of the Company’s parent(s) or subsidiaries are deemed executive officers of the Company if they perform such policy making functions for the Company. In addition, when the Company is a limited partnership, officers or employees of the general partner(s) who perform policy-making functions for the limited partnership are deemed officers of the limited partnership. When the Company is a trust, officers, or employees of the trustee(s) who perform policy- making functions for the trust are deemed officers of the trust. Policy-making function is not intended to include policy-making functions that are not significant. Identification of an executive officer for purposes of this Rule would include at a minimum executive officers identified pursuant to 17 CFR 229.401(b). Financial Reporting Measures. Financial reporting measures are measures that are determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles used in preparing the Company’s financial statements, and any measures that are derived wholly or in part from such measures. Stock price and total shareholder return are also financial reporting measures. A financial reporting measure need not be presented within the financial statements or included in a filing with the Commission. Incentive-Based Compensation. Incentive-based compensation is any compensation that is granted, earned, or vested based wholly or in part upon the attainment of a financial reporting measure. Received. Incentive-based compensation is deemed received in the Company’s fiscal period during which the financial reporting measure specified in
the incentive-based compensation award is attained, even if the payment or grant of the incentive-based compensation occurs after the end of that period. (e) Effective Date. Each Company is required to (i) adopt a policy governing the recovery of erroneously awarded compensation as required by this rule no later than 60 days following October 2, 2023, (ii) comply with its recovery policy for all incentive- based compensation received (as such term is defined in Rule 5608(d)) by executive officers on or after October 2, 2023, and (iii) provide the disclosures required by this rule and in the applicable Commission filings on or after October 2, 2023. Notwithstanding the look-back requirement in Rule 5608(b)(1)(i)(D), a Company is only required to apply the recovery policy to incentive-based compensation received on or after October 2, 2023. * * * * * 5701. Preamble to the Listing Requirements for Other Securities (a)-(d) No change.



 

The rule changes below will take effect on October 2, 2023. 5 (e) The requirements of Listing Rule 5608 (Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation) apply to any security listed under the Rule 5700 Series, except for: (1) Any security issued by a unit investment trust, as defined in 15 U.S.C. 80a- 4(2); (2) Any security issued by a management company, as defined in 15 U.S.C. 80a- 4(3), that is registered under section 8 of the Investment Company Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. 80a-8), if such management company has not awarded incentive-based compensation to any executive officer of the company in any of the last three fiscal years, or in the case of a company that has been listed for less than three fiscal years, since the listing of the company 5702. Debt Securities (Other than Convertible Debt) (a) – (d) No change. (e) An issuer of non-convertible bonds listed under this Rule 5702 is subject to the requirements of Listing Rule 5608 (Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation). * * * * * 5805. Definitions (a) - (i) No change. (j) "Public Reprimand Letter" means a letter issued by Staff or a Decision of an Adjudicatory Body in cases where the Company has violated a Nasdaq corporate governance or notification listing standard (other than one required by Rule 10A-3 or Rule 10D-1 under[of] the Act) and Staff or the Adjudicatory Body determines that delisting is an inappropriate sanction. In determining whether to issue a Public Reprimand Letter, Staff or the Adjudicatory Body will consider whether the violation was inadvertent, whether the violation materially adversely affected shareholders' interests, whether the violation has been cured, whether the Company reasonably relied on an independent advisor and whether the Company has demonstrated a pattern of violations. (k) No change. 5810. Notification of Deficiency by the Listing Qualifications Department When the Listing Qualifications Department determines that a Company does not mee
a listing standard set forth in the Rule 5000 Series, it will immediately notify the Company of the deficiency. As explained in more detail below, deficiency notifications are of four types:



 

The rule changes below will take effect on October 2, 2023. 6 (1) Staff Delisting Determinations, which are notifications of deficiencies that, unless appealed, subject the Company to immediate suspension and delisting; (2) notifications of deficiencies for which a Company may submit a plan of compliance for staff review; (3) notifications of deficiencies for which a Company is entitled to an automatic cure or compliance period; and (4) Public Reprimand Letters, except such notification type is not available for unresolved deficiencies from the standards of Rules 5250(c)Obligation to File Periodic Financial Reports, 5615(a)(4)(D) Partner Meetings of Limited Partnerships and 5620(a) Meetings of Shareholders. Notifications of deficiencies that allow for submission of a compliance plan or an automatic cure or compliance period may result, after review of the compliance plan or expiration of the cure or compliance period, in issuance of a Staff Delisting Determination or a Public Reprimand Letter. (a) - (b) No change. IM-5810-1. Disclosure of Written Notice of Staff Determination No change. (c) Types of Deficiencies and Notifications The type of deficiency at issue determines whether the Company will be immediately suspended and delisted, or whether it may submit a compliance plan for review or is entitled to an automatic cure or compliance period before a Staff Delisting Determination is issued. In the case of a deficiency not specified below, Staff will issue the Company a Staff Delisting Determination or a Public Reprimand Letter. (1) No change. (2) Deficiencies for which a Company may Submit a Plan of Compliance for Staff Review (A) Unless the Company is currently under review by an Adjudicatory Body for a Staff Delisting Determination, the Listing Qualifications Department may accept and review a plan to regain compliance when a Company is deficient with respect to one of the standards listed in subsections (i) through (vi) below. In
accordance with Rule 5810(c)(2)(C), plans provided pursuant to subsections (i) through (iv) and (vi) below must be provided generally within 45 calendar days, and in accordance with Rule 5810(c)(2)(F), plans provided pursuant to subsection (v) must be provided generally within 60 calendar days. If a Company's plan consists of transferring from the Nasdaq Global or Global Select Market to the Nasdaq



 

The rule changes below will take effect on October 2, 2023. 7 Capital Market, the Company should submit its application and the applicable application fee at the same time as its plan to regain compliance. (i) - (ii) No change. (iii) deficiencies from the standards of Rules 5620(a) Meetings of Shareholders, 5620(c) Quorum, 5630 Review of Related Party Transactions, 5635 Shareholder Approval, 5250(c)(3) Auditor Registration, 5255(a) Direct Registration Program, 5608 Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation, 5610 Code of Conduct, 5615(a)(4)(D) Partner Meetings of Limited Partnerships, 5615(a)(4)(E) Quorum of Limited Partnerships, 5615(a)(4)(G) Related Party Transactions of Limited Partnerships, or 5640 Voting Rights; or (iv) - (vi) No change. IM-5810-2. Staff Review of Deficiencies No change. (B) - (G) No change. (3) No change. (4) Public Reprimand Letter Staff's notification may be in the form of a Public Reprimand Letter in cases where the Company has violated a Nasdaq corporate governance or notification listing standard (other than one required by Rule 10A-3 or Rule 10D-1 under[of] the Act) and Staff determines that delisting is an inappropriate sanction. In determining whether to issue a public reprimand letter, the Listing Qualifications Department will consider whether the violation was inadvertent, whether the violation materially adversely affected shareholders' interests, whether the violation has been cured, whether the Company reasonably relied on an independent advisor and whether the Company has demonstrated a pattern of violations. (d) No change. 5815. Review of Staff Determinations by Hearings Panel When a Company receives a Staff Delisting Determination or a Public Reprimand Letter issued by the Listing Qualifications Department, or when its application for initial listing is denied, it may request in writing that the Hearings Panel review the matter in a written or an oral hearing. This section sets forth the
procedures for requesting a hearing before a Hearings Panel, describes the Hearings Panel and the possible outcomes of a hearing, and sets forth Hearings Panel procedures. (a) - (b) No change.



 

The rule changes below will take effect on October 2, 2023. 8 (c) Scope of the Hearings Panel's Discretion (1) When the Hearings Panel review is of a deficiency related to continued listing standards, the Hearings Panel may, where it deems appropriate: (A) - (C) No change. (D) issue a Decision that serves as a Public Reprimand Letter in cases where the Company has violated a Nasdaq corporate governance or notification listing standard (other than one required by Rule 10A-3 or Rule 10D-1 under[of] the Act) and the Hearings Panel determines that delisting is an inappropriate sanction. In determining whether to issue a Public Reprimand Letter, the Hearings Panel will consider whether the violation was inadvertent, whether the violation materially adversely affected shareholders' interests, whether the violation has been cured, whether the Company reasonably relied on an independent advisor and whether the Company has demonstrated a pattern of violations; (E) - (G) No change. (2) - (4) No change. (d) No change. 5820. Appeal to the Nasdaq Listing and Hearing Review Council A Company may appeal a Panel Decision to the Listing Council. The Listing Council may also call for review a Panel Decision on its own initiative. This Rule 5820 describes the procedures applicable to appeals and calls for review. (a) - (c) No change. (d) Scope of Listing Council's Discretion (1) The Listing Council may, where it deems appropriate, affirm, modify, or reverse the Panel Decision, or remand the matter to the Listing Qualifications Department or to the Hearings Panel for further consideration. The Listing Council may grant an exception for a period not longer than 360 calendar days from the date of the Staff Delisting Determination with respect to the deficiency for which the exception is granted. The Listing Council also may issue a Decision that serves as a Public Reprimand Letter in cases where the Company has violated a Nasdaq corporate governance or
notification listing standard (other than one required by Rule 10A-3 or Rule 10D-1 under[of] the Act) and the Listing Council determines that delisting is an inappropriate sanction. In determining whether to issue a Public Reprimand Letter, the Listing Council will consider whether the



 

The rule changes below will take effect on October 2, 2023. 9 violation was inadvertent, whether the violation materially adversely affected shareholders' interests, whether the violation has been cured, whether the Company reasonably relied on an independent advisor and whether the Company has demonstrated a pattern of violations. (2) - (6) No change. (e) No change. 5825. Discretionary Review by Nasdaq Board (a) - (c) No change. (d) Board Decision If the Nasdaq Board conducts a discretionary review, the Company will be provided a written Decision that meets the requirements of Rule 5840(c). The Nasdaq Board may affirm, modify or reverse the Panel or Listing Council Decision and may remand the matter to the Listing Council, Hearings Panel, or staff of the Listing Qualifications Department with appropriate instructions. The Nasdaq Board also may issue a Decision that serves as a Public Reprimand Letter in cases where the Company has violated a Nasdaq corporate governance or notification listing standard (other than one required by Rule 10A-3 or Rule 10D-1 under[of] the Act) and the Nasdaq Board determines that delisting is an inappropriate sanction. In determining whether to issue a Public Reprimand Letter, the Nasdaq Board will consider whether the violation was inadvertent, whether the violation materially adversely affected shareholders' interests, whether the violation has been cured, whether the Company reasonably relied on an independent advisor and whether the Company has demonstrated a pattern of violations. The Decision of the Nasdaq Board will take immediate effect, unless it specifies to the contrary, and represents the final action of Nasdaq. If the Nasdaq Board determines to delist the Company, the securities of the Company will be immediately suspended, unless the Nasdaq Board specifies to the contrary, and Nasdaq will follow the procedures contained in Rule 5830 and submit an application on Form 25 to the
Commission to strike the security from listing. * * * * *



 


